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Corporate Information
NEER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing (Chairman)

Mr. Chan Wing Kwan (Managing Director)
Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan

Mr. Chang Wing Yiu

Mr. Ho Yin Sang

Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie

Mr. Mok Cham Hung, Chadwick

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Cheng Ming Fun, Paul (resigned on 27 February 2009)
Mr. Cheng Wai Chee, Christopher

Mr. Henry Tan

Mr. Lai Chung Wing, Robert (appointed on 27 February 2009)
Mr. Tse Kam Hung

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Lo Ka Leong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Bank of America, N.A.

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd., Hong Kong Branch
China Construction Bank Corporation

Citibank, N.A.

DBS Bank Ltd., Hong Kong Branch

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

AUDITOR
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Certified Public Accountants
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Corporate Information A & & ¥

HONG KONG LEGAL ADVISORS

Mallesons Stephen Jaques

REGISTERED OFFICE

Ground Floor, Caledonian House
Mary Street, P.O. Box 1043
George Town

Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

British West Indies

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE
OF BUSINESS

2nd Floor, Harbour View 1

No. 12 Science Park East Avenue
Phase 2 Hong Kong Science Park
Shatin

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
The Harbour Trust Co. Ltd.

3rd Floor

One Regis Place

P.O. Box 1787
George Town

Grand Cayman Islands
British West Indies

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR IN HONG KONG

Tricor Secretaries Limited
26/F, Tesbury Centre

28 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai, Hong Kong
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Financial Highlights
B REE

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2008 31 December 2007
BE-Z2)N\F BE-ZT2LH
+TZHA=t—HLEE T-A=T—HLEFE
HKS$ Million BE& T HK$ Million B & T
Revenue =2 23,681.4 20,025.1
Underlying profit before tax* BB ATER 2,723.3 3,557.5
Net profit attributable to shareholders R FE{L & A
— Underlying net profit* — B ARG F* 2,103.6 2618.7
— Reported net profit —BREAER 1,705.9 2,778.3
Basic earnings per share EXGREF
— Based on underlying net profit* — ARG B HK249.9 cents &4l HK313.9 cents /1l
— Based on reported net profit —LABRE AR E HK202.6 cents &4l HK333.0 cents /&l
Full-year dividend per share BEREZERE HK70.0 cents j&1l HK100.0 cents /&1l
~ Interim dividend per share — G ERR S HK40.0 cents &1l HK30.0 cents 7l
~ Proposed final dividend per share —EH TS HK30.0 cents &l HK70.0 cents 7l
Dividend payout ratio RE =R 35% 30%
Net asset value per share BREEZRE HK$23.1& 7T HK$21.8/8 7T
Net gearing FABLE 23% 17%
* Excluding: TR -
2008 — (1) loss on disposal of convertible bond and interest in an “EEN\F - (1) HETRRESFR-MEEEARER
associate of HK$189.7 million ZEE—EBNATLAEE+EST
(2)  impairment loss on available-for-sale investments of @ AHHERE 2R EBEFIE
HK$253.2 million —ERFSE-TEET
@)  discount on acquisition of HK$45.1 million @ WEENTRE - +EET
2007 — (1)  gain on fair value change of conversion and redemption —ETEF - (1) UHRREERERZETETIRAZAF
option derivative of HK$182.4 million EEHRGE—E/\T_aNt+EST
(2)  loss on disposal and deemed disposal of interest in an (2) HERREHE-MBERATERZ
associate of HK$23.7 million BER-FT=Et+&81
() WEIE—AEAT

©)) discount on acquisition of HK$1.0 million
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Financial Highlights B1 & &

Revenue Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of the Company
o« ey iy N
EERE RARERFE ARERF
HKS Million HKS Million
BEBT BEBT
24,000 2,700
22,500
21,000 2,400
19,500
18,000 2,100
16,500 1,800
15,000
13,500 1,500
12,000
10,500 1,200
9,000
7,500 ] 900 |- oo -t N -
6000 M N-
’ 600 | N H_N-
4500 -~ - - - N- w2
3000} - - - - 75&2.41&2,4547 - - - 30 [ o59¢ 7338 I R B N
1500 |5 om0 3 %07 F IRERE e | J
o annl olntssdad
1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 X2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001 2002 Kzooa 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
—EZT 5+ A" April-Dec 2002” —TT=4Fm A%+ 5" April-Dec 2002°
Note: Changed financial year end to December from March 2002 onwards et BT _F =R WBEEFEESAET A

Excluding the gain from the spin off of copper foil business of HK$178.4 million * DERESFIRAEIFTS .2 178,400,000/ T2 s

** Annualized o RFEREENE

A Excluding the gain from the spin off of laminate business of HK$4.8 billion and A ABEDIFEINERERFTS24,800,000,0007% 7T 2 W &
discount on acquisition of HK$49.7 million BB H3%49,700,0007 7T

#  Excluding the gain on fair value change of conversion and redemption option # TRETRREEEEEETETAEZ AFEZEHKE
derivative of HK$182.4 million; loss on disposal and deemed disposal of —EBAFTZEN+EAT - HERRIEDE —HE Qa2
interest in an associate of HK$23.7 million and discount on acquisition of HZEE-T=at+E8ETREETE—a8AT
HK$1.0 million

¥ Excluding: Yoo REE:
(1) loss on disposal of convertible bond and interest in an associate of ) HEATRRBESF R —HBELAARZZ BB

HK$189.7 million —EBAFLELTEHET

(2) impairment loss on available-for-sale investments of HK$253.2 million (2 AHHEREZHESE_EAT=8=-T8%T
(3) discount on acquisition of HK$45.1 million @) WEENTRE — T8
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Chairman’s Statement
FERSE

BUSINESS REVIEW

| am pleased to report that Kingboard Chemical Holdings Limited
(the “Group”) concluded the financial year ended 31 December
2008 with resilient results despite adverse business environment
in the second half of 2008. The Group experienced a fall in both
revenue and profitability in the fourth quarter of 2008 (“Q4 2008”)
due to widespread market turbulence. Bolstered by robust
operational performance in the first half of 2008, we delivered a
revenue growth of 18% to HK$23.7 billion while underlying net
profit declined 20% to HK$2,103.6 million (excluding one-off
non-cash exceptional items) for the full year. The strength of our
three core businesses and proficient management team have
enabled the Group to respond promptly to rapid market changes
with decisive action in spite of this extremely tough operating
landscape.

Underscoring the synergies created by our franchise, laminate
and PCB divisions continued to be profitable and made positive
contribution to earnings of the Group notwithstanding significant
demand drop from customers in Q4 2008. During the year, we
acquired a Taiwanese PCB shop in Suzhou which added about
5% to overall PCB production capacity. Our strategic investments
in chemical projects in the last few years continued to bear fruit.
After accounting for the share of profits from our Hainan methanol
joint venture, our chemical business delivered an impressive
19% year-on-year earnings growth and contributed about 36%
of total Group earnings before interests and tax (“EBIT”) in 2008.
This clearly demonstrates that our persistent focus on building a
balanced business portfolio with diversified income stream has
created a concrete foothold against economic downturn.

Revenue Breakdown by Product %585

KO

RARARM - BE THFEARRREEZE
BEECIRE(REDREE_ZTN\F+ A
=+ HIEFMBEER - KABISRIZNEE - H
RS RIERE  SEE-_TTN\FENFZE
XBENBMNGEMTR - XER X FRYE
BRE  FER TR NF2LERDEF18%
MERE_A=TEEERT  EXEN(IEE—
RIEEZERSRHRIAR ) B TBR20%E = +—&F
ZHANTEET - BELERFERERIE - £EA
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2 MREEB R E TS 2 SUR B /L REND
JEEE o
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SEEBZ U EEBEISOHRME - EEFmR
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Chairman’s Statement EEHE

PERFORMANCE

The electronics industry was impacted badly in Q4 2008 by
the snowball effect of the global credit crunch which affected
all business sectors. In anticipation of shrinking demand,
manufacturers in the electronic supply chain reacted by scaling
down production and slashing inventories aggressively towards
the year end. As a result, revenue (including inter-segment sales)
for the laminate division declined 6% to HK$9,638.2 million.
Lower average selling prices coupled with reduced shipments in
Q4 2008 posed pressure on our margin. EBIT was down 35% to
HK$1,391.0 million over the previous year. Volume sales reduced
by 6% with the average monthly shipment reaching 7.8 million
sq. meters. However, the resilient performance of the laminate
division clearly indicated that we have outperformed our peers
during this down cycle.

Similar to the laminate division, PCB order bookings saw a
decline in Q4 2008. Cushioned by strong performance in the
first three quarters of 2008 and positive contribution from the
newly acquired PCB shop in Suzhou, revenue for PCB division
was up 4% to HK$7,869.8 million with EBIT improved by 1%
to HK$586.9 million from the previous financial year. Both
new high density interconnect (“HDI”) PCB plants in Kunshan,
Jiangsu province and Kaiping, Guangdong province commenced
production successfully in December 2008. The Group expects
sales of HDI to show significant growth in the current year.

Driven by new production capacity mainly from the natural gas
based methanol plant in Chongaging, phenol/acetone plant in
Huizhou and coke/methanol plant in Hebei, chemical division
recorded remarkable year-on-year revenue growth of 74% to
HK$9,464.3 million with EBIT increased 16% to HK$763.8 million
in 2008 despite fall in demand and selling prices in Q4 2008.
Apart from the above, share of associates results was up 25% to
HK$369.8 million with bulk of which coming from our natural gas
based methanol joint venture with China Blue Chemical Limited.

RBERB
EREREHMEENSHBEEESTEE &
FIER _ZT\FEOFXINITELHRE -
RREHFE R IRERE  ETEMIER EMEE
BORE - YNFENEREEST - Bt - &5
BINERAMBANEER(BEOBEZHE) R
BRENTARE=TN\A_+EET - HENXR_ZEFT
NEZOFFHEBE TR - MEPESRD - B2
BRI - RIABRFE RBIR 2 B A8 L4
ERAIBRET=BNAT—AEET - HEETK
#6%  BAMTHNEERLANTEFIK -
BE AL - EREAREPIEB A IS RIR LA ENE
ERPIR ISR P M RIIK A BN R -

EERERARPIHBERNARE - EIRIAREEAR BOPT .2 3T
BER-_FTN\FENFHRATK - BHR_FTZEN
FEFEBRARY - MERFMNFEED S
& ENRIARBEAR R AT SR B B8R - ER AR B5 AR R P
ZEERNFFI%EREL T NERTAANT
BAET  KMEMNEERRBEZENAE M %E
EENTARBATEET - REDSINTHER
W R ERE YTz % E L EHRIRER BT
—ETN\F+ - ARNKRE - KEEF S FREE
BEERIGREER 2 SHE B GREE R -

XEREEMHRARFER - BMWHERES,
73 TR R Ko oz B AT AE & B R kR B IR 2 6 4
8% L TEPFPI 2 G E RS AIBIL R @ RFrE
T4%ENTHESNRTFHE=+ES L -BE=-Z
ENFENECITEMITRMEBGHEE -
ZEPIRIBRFERREBEZ BFDAER16%E
HERNTZENTEET - 1tHh - KEEEHER
AIMAFER5%ZE=BATLENTES T &
PR R EEP AR EERNERARESE

FEgEE -
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Chairman’s Statement EEHE

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our financial and liquidity position continued to be strong. As at
31 December 2008, net current assets and current ratio of the
Group were approximately HK$5,264.4 million (31 December
2007 - HK$6,377.6 million) and 1.72 (31 December 2007 — 1.89)
respectively.

The net working capital cycle shortened from 84 days as at 31
December 2007 to 65 days as at 31 December 2008 on the
following key metrics:

- Inventories, in terms of stock turnover days, reduced
substantially to 48 days (31 December 2007 — 64 days) as
a result of reduction in raw material purchase in Q4 2008.

- Trade receivables, in terms of debtors turnover days,
decreased significantly to 61 days (31 December 2007 —
90 days) as a result of decrease in sales revenue in Q4
2008.

- Trade and bills payables, in terms of creditors turnover
days, decreased to 44 days (31 December 2007 — 70
days), in line with reduction in purchase volume.

In 2008, the Group invested HK$3.8 billion in new production
capacity and made deposits of HK$1.4 billion for properties,
plant and equipment. The Group’s net gearing ratio (ratio of
interest bearing borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents to
total equity) was approximately 23% (31 December 2007: 17%).
The proportion of bank borrowings between short term and
long term stood at 27%: 73% (31 December 2007: 24%: 76%).
As at 31 December 2008, cash on hand and other committed
and undrawn bank loan facilities were about HK$4.2 billion and
HK$2.5 billion respectively. Hence, the Group is in a strong
financial position to capitalize on any opportunities arising from
the current downturn. Only 2% of the bank borrowings was
denominated in Renminbi and the rest in Hong Kong or US
dollars.
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Chairman’s Statement EEHE

The Group continued to adopt a prudent financial management
policy including the use of interest rate swap contract to minimize
exposure to fluctuation in interest rates movement. At the end
of 2008, we had entered into interest rate swap agreements
of notional amount of HK$5.5 billion with reputable financial
institutions for a weighed average duration and interest rate of 1.73
years and 3.02% respectively. We also entered into commodity
and foreign currency forward contracts to manage the Group’s
exposure to fluctuation in exchange rates and commaodity prices.
The fair value of these contracts amounted to HK$2.9 million as
at 31 December 2008. Other than derivative financial instruments
in connection with our daily operations as mentioned above
and the convertible bond in connection with G-Prop (Holdings)
Limited which was disposed during the year, the Group had not
entered into any other type of derivative financial instruments
throughout 2008. There was no material foreign exchange
exposure to the Group during the year under review. The Group’s
revenue, mostly denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi
and US dollars, was fairly matched with the currency requirement
of operating expenses.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2008, the Group had a global workforce
of over 40,800 (31 December 2007: 47,200). The decrease in
headcount was in line with lower manufacturing output in Q4
2008. In addition to offering competitive salary package, the
Group grants share options and discretionary bonuses to eligible
employees based on our overall financial achievement and their
individual performance.

SEESFMBENOVBEE - 2ENRN XS
BH - DORERM KB PIAREER - R=—FF/N\
FFE SEEARMEEZERBBRFIEER
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ZEZN\F+ A=t —HNRATFER-_BATERE
T BT L REEAREERFNITESRTA
ERFEAREHEZHEECEFRARETH AR
fefEHIN - SRR FANL BT LEMEMOTES R
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BB R B R B HIRBURTT o
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Chairman’s Statement EEHE

PROSPECTS

Whilst the global economy faces significant challenges in
2009, our business outlook remains positive in the long term.
As a major manufacturer for a wide range of key materials in
China, we shall benefit from the enormous growth potential of
this emerging market due to China’s continuous urbanization
and industrialization. A series of economic stimulus measures
introduced by the Chinese government, in particular, subsidies
for electronic products purchase in the rural area is likely to have
a positive effect on the growth prospects for the Group. Coupled
with our robust balance sheet, we believe that the Group will
surmount current challenges and emerge from this downturn as
an even stronger player.

The laminate division experienced an uptrend in demand in
February 2009. As a result, all of our laminate plants operated
at higher utilization rates in February 2009 as compared to
January 2009. In addition, raw material costs reduction in Q1
2009 is expected to ease margin pressure as compared to that
experienced in Q4 2008. The Group will allocate more resources
to expand our customer base. We believe that the current
operating environment is a good opportunity to increase market
share as weaker competitors may exit the market.

PCB division also experienced improved capacity utilization and
better inflow of orders after the Chinese Lunar New Year. Order
bookings from the communication sector have shown the best
performance as a result of investments in 3G infrastructure in
China. HDI orders, most of which relate to mobile handsets, also
saw strong growth. Moreover, with our successful acquisition
of a PCB shop in Suzhou last year, the Group acquired 51%
interests in its sister PCB shop in Dongguan, Guangdong
province in March 2009. This immediately increases PCB
production capacity by about 5% and further reinforces our
leading position as the largest PCB manufacturer in China. To
capture the opportunities arising from the downturn, the Group
is actively in discussions with a few PCB manufacturers on the
prospects of possible co-operation.
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Chairman’s Statement EEHE

Our commodity and specialty chemical plants are seeing the
benefits from the economic stimulus initiatives in China as coke
price has shown an uptrend and methanol price has stabilized
since end of last year. Construction of the new acetic acid plant
adjacent to the existing coke/methanol plant in Hebei province
remains on track for trial production by the end of 2009. Using
methanol and coke granules as feedstock, this acetic acid project
with a monthly capacity of about 42,000 metric tonnes will further
enhance our vertically integrated business model and is expected
to bring in attractive returns.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity
to express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders, customers,
banks, the management and employees for their unreserved
support to the Group in the past year.

Cheung Kwok Wing
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 March 2009
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies

EENGREEAEZER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Kwok Wing, aged 53, is the chairman and a co-
founder of the Group, the chairman of Kingboard Copper Foil
Holdings Limited (“KCFH”) as well as Elec & Eltek International
Company Limited (“EEIC”), both of which are subsidiaries of the
Company listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading
Limited (“SGX”). Mr. Cheung is the brother of Ms. Cheung Wai
Lin, Stephanie, the cousin of Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan and the
brother-in-law of Mr. Chang Wing Yiu and Mr. Ho Yin Sang.
Mr. Cheung had over 13 years’ experience in the sales and
distribution of electronic components including laminates prior
to the establishment of the Group. Mr. Cheung is responsible for
the overall strategic planning of the Group and sets the general
direction and goals for the Group. Mr. Cheung won the Young
Industrialist Award of Hong Kong 1993, which was organized by
the Federation of Hong Kong Industries and was described as
“far-sighted, enterprising, and having insight in the business”. Mr.
Cheung was the winner of the DHL/SCMP Hong Kong Business
Award, accredited with the Owner-Operator Award in 2006.

Mr. CHAN Wing Kwan, aged 63, is the managing director and
a co-founder of the Group, the managing director of KCFH and
a non-executive director of EEIC. Mr. Chan acquired a degree
of Doctor of Business Science from Pacific Western University
L.A.. Prior to the establishment of the Group, Mr. Chan had over
22 years’ experience in the sales and distribution of electronic
components, industrial chemicals and printed circuit boards. Mr.
Chan is responsible for the overall implementation of the strategic
plans and goals of the Group.

Mr. CHEUNG Kwong Kwan, aged 44, is the cousin of Mr.
Cheung Kwok Wing and Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie. He
joined the Group in 1988 and has been working in the PCB
industry since 1984 with particularly extensive experience
in marketing components and materials required for PCB
production. Mr. Cheung is responsible for the Group’s chemical
business operations in the southern region of China.

Mr. CHANG Wing Yiu, aged 42, is the brother-in-law of Mr.
Cheung Kwok Wing and Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie. He
joined the Group in 1989 and has over 19 years’ experience in
laminates production. Mr. Chang graduated from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University with a higher diploma in marine electronics.
He is responsible for the Group’s methanol plant in Chongging
and phenol/acetone plant in Huizhou, Guangdong province. He is
also a non-executive director of EEIC.
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Mr. MOK Cham Hung, Chadwick, aged 44, joined the Group in
2000 and is responsible for the Group’s financial management.
Prior to this he worked in the financial services industry for
over 11 years. Mr. Mok is an associate member of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales and a fellow
member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
He holds an MA in Electrical and Information Engineering from
the University of Cambridge and an MBA with distinction from
Imperial College, the University of London. He is also an executive
director of EEIC and responsible for the strategic planning of
EEIC.

Mr. HO Yin Sang, aged 54, is the brother-in-law of Mr. Cheung
Kwok Wing and Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie. He joined
the Group in 1989 and is responsible for the Group’s chemical
business operations in Hebei and Shanxi province. He is also a
non-executive director of KCFH.

Ms. CHEUNG Wai Lin, Stephanie, aged 38, is the sister of
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing. She joined the Group in 2002 and
is responsible for the Group’s logistic, procurement and
purchasing function. Prior to joining the Group, she worked as an
administration assistant manager in a listed company for about 5
years.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. CHENG Wai Chee, Christopher, aged 60, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director in 2007. He holds
directorships in various listed companies in the last three years.
He is currently the chairman of two listed companies in Hong
Kong, namely USI Holdings Limited and Winsor Properties
Holdings Limited, and also an independent non-executive
director of a number of listed companies in Hong Kong, including
New World China Land Limited, NWS Holdings Limited and
PICC Property and Casualty Company Limited. Mr. Cheng is also
an independent director of DBS Group Holdings Limited which
is listed in Singapore. Mr. Cheng was appointed a Justice of the
Peace in 1985, and awarded an OBE and a Gold Bauhinia Star
in 1992 and 2004 respectively. He is a member of the Exchange
Fund Advisory Committee of the HKSAR Government, a Steward
of the Hong Kong Jockey Club and a member of the Council of
the University of Hong Kong. He is also a non-executive director
of Temasek Foundation CLG Limited and the Securities and
Futures Commission.
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Mr. TSE Kam Hung, aged 57, has over 30 years of experience
in the field of electronic industry. He was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company in 2004.

Mr. Henry TAN, aged 55, is the chief executive officer of Luen
Thai Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Tan has over 24 years of experience in apparel and logistics
industries. Mr. Tan is an active leader and contributor to charity
and community programmes. He is the chairman of the Hong
Kong General Chamber of Textiles Limited and is the former
chairman of the board of directors of Po Leung Kuk of the year
2004-2005, an authorised charitable organization in Hong Kong.
He also acts as a committee member of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference in Fujian province, the PRC,
the member of Standing Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference in Qingyuan City of Guangdong
province and is a member of Election Committee (Textiles and
Garment Subsector). Mr. Tan obtained his Master’s Degree
in Business Administration in 1980 and Bachelor’s Degree in
Business Administration in 1975 from the University of Guam,
the United States of America. Mr. Tan was also an independent
non-executive director of China Resources Peoples Telephone
Company Limited, a company formerly listed on the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Tan was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company in 2005.

Mr. LAl Chung Wing, Robert, aged 61, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company in February
2009. He has more than 25 years of experience in trading
and investment and was previously the managing director of
Seaunion Holdings Ltd (now known as South Sea Petroleum
Holdings Limited), a company listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). He holds a Bachelor-
of-Laws (Honours) degree from the University of London and is
currently involved in business consultancy work in the Asia-Pacific
region. He is also an independent non-executive director of Kee
Shing (Holdings) Limited, a company whose shares are listed on
the Stock Exchange. Mr. Lai was an independent non-executive
director of KCFH, from 29 November 1999 to 27 February 2009.
He is a brother of Mr. Larry Lai Chong Tuck, an independent
non-executive director of EEIC.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LO Ka Leong, aged 35, the Company Secretary, joined
the Group in May 1999. Prior to that, he was an accountant at
an international accounting firm. Mr. Lo is a fellow member of
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He holds
a Bachelor’s Degree in Professional Accountancy from The
Chinese University of Hong Kong. He is in charge of the company
secretarial work and financial management of the Group. He is a
non-executive director of Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited
(“KLHL"), a 74.77%-owned subsidiary listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange.

BREEAR
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Directors’ Report
EEEHRE

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2008.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of associates, jointly controlled entities and principal
subsidiaries of the Company are set out in notes 22, 25 and 42
respectively to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 51.

An interim dividend of HK40 cents per ordinary share was paid to
the shareholders of the Company during the year. The directors
of the Company now recommend the payment of a final dividend
of HK30 cents per ordinary share to the Company’s shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company on 21 May 2009, and the retention of the remaining
profit in the Company.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements during the year in the issued share
capital of the Company are set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SHARES

During the year, the Company repurchased certain of its own
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each through The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), details of which are
set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements. The
directors of the Company considered that, as the Company’s
shares were trading at a discount to the net asset value per
share, the repurchases would increase the net asset value per
share of the Company.

Saved as disclosed herein, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the
Company'’s listed securities during the year.
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RESERVES

Details of the movements during the year in the reserves of the
Group are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 54 and 55.

In addition to the retained profits of the Company, the share
premium and the special surplus account of the Company are
also available for distribution to shareholders provided that the
Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business immediately following the date on
which any such distribution is proposed to be paid.

At 31 December 2008, the sum of the retained profits, the
share premium and the special surplus account of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$5,167 million.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

The Group’s investment properties were revalued as at
31 December 2008, resulting in an increase in fair value of
approximately HK$5,992,000 which has been credited to the
consolidated income statement.

PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Expenditure of approximately HK$3,766 million was incurred
during the year primarily to expand the production capacity of the
Group. Details of all the changes during the year are set out in
note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December
2008 are set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
totalling HK$28,742,000.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company (“Directors”) during the year and
up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing (Chairman)

Mr. Chan Wing Kwan (Managing Director)
Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan

Mr. Chang Wing Yiu

Mr. Ho Yin Sang

Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie

Mr. Mok Cham Hung, Chadwick

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Cheng Ming Fun, Paul
(resigned on 27 February 2009)
Mr. Cheng Wai Chee, Christopher
Mr. Henry Tan
Mr. Lai Chung Wing, Robert
(appointed on 27 February 2009)
Mr. Tse Kam Hung

Mr. Lai Chung Wing, Robert was appointed by the board of
Directors as a new independent non-executive Director with
effect from 27 February 2009. In accordance with Article 84 of
the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr. Lai Chung Wing,
Robert will hold directorship only until the annual general meeting
of the Company following his appointment and will be eligible for
re-election. Accordingly, Mr. Lai Chung Wing, Robert will retire
at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and
will be eligible for re-election as an independent non-executive
Director.

In accordance with Article 92 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Messrs. Chan Wing Kwan and Cheung Wai Lin,
Stephanie, being executive Directors, and Messrs. Henry Tan
and Lai Chung Wing, Robert, being independent non-executive
Directors, will retire from directorship by rotation and will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

Biographical details of the above Directors are set out in the
section “Directors’ and Senior Management’s Biographies” on
pages 12 to 15.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company has a service contract which is
not terminable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

At 31 December 2008, the interests of the Directors and their
associates in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFQO”), as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers were as
follows:

EFZRfER

R-ZEN\F+-A=+—B EEREEZH
ATRAD R RAAAREE (E 5 R %&Hfh
P % R BRG] SXVER) Z B 1D - AR
SEHFR - EENDAREE S RS G £352

{17 B 2 B oM ATaieR < #E xS ‘MEH’?J:m?‘ﬁ/\
ERETEFXINRETACNEARA R

Pzt

Long position EE
@) Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each of the Company  (a) ARG EFREIEO10E T2 ZHEK (R
(“Shares”) 7))
Approximate
percentage of
the issued
Number share capital
of issued of the Company
Shares held [P NN
Name of Director Capacity e 21T ERTREAZ
EEpnE EEME RHEE BOBRDL
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing Beneficial owner 2,451,725 0.29
SREIER S EmEAA
Mr. Chan Wing Kwan (Note 1) Beneficial owner 1,005,250 0.11
PR 8 55 A (B 3E1) BmEAA
Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan Beneficial owner 188,200 0.02
REESLE BmEAA
Mr. Chang Wing Yiu (Note 2) Beneficial owner 2,980,274 0.35
ELR ST A (P FE2) BmEAA
Mr. Ho Yin Sang (Note 3) Beneficial owner 2,179,129 0.25
fa] A S A (BTEEQ) BmEAA
Mr. Mok Cham Hung, Chadwick Beneficial owner 1,510,000 0.17
REERE BmEAA
Mr. Cheng Ming Fun, Paul Beneficial owner 250,000 0.02
ELERFISE BB A
Notes: B
) Out of the 1,005,250 Shares, 945,250 Shares were held by Mr. (1) F#%1,005,250 B % R+ H F 945 2508 ik 7

Chan Wing Kwan and 60,000 Shares were held by his spouse.

) Out of the 2,980,274 Shares, 2,302,074 Shares were held by Mr.
Chang Wing Yiu and 678,200 Shares were held by his spouse.

Q) Out of the 2,179,129 Shares, 1,051,629 Shares were held by
Mr. Ho Yin Sang and 1,127,500 Shares were held by his spouse.

TyRBROKEREEARARA - 60,000 10 R e
HEEBHE -

2 H#2,980,274R M D E R - HA2,302,074 8% A%
DI EK B EARARE - M678,2000% A% 1
Al HEBREAE -

@) REZ2179, 129k EH - HH 1,051,629 %
BIERMAFALERARITR - 1,127,500 8%
HRIREREES -
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continued)
Long position (continued)
(b) Share options of the Company (“Share Options”)

EEZEROES 2
RAE)

®)

AR EIESTIEIR IR (BB

Interest in
underlying Shares
pursuant to the

Share Options

under the 2002 Scheme

—BECF

Name of Director Capacity FrEE B ERE

EEpE EEME HER D ER

Mr. Chan Wing Kwan Beneficial owner 1,341,600
BRAKER S BREAA

Mr. Chang Wing Yiu Beneficial owner 1,234,800
LIPS BEHEERA

Mr. Ho Yin Sang (Note) Beneficial owner 3,259,600
fa e A e A (L) EmEAA

Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan Beneficial owner 1,734,600
REESLE BREAA

Note:  Out of the 3,259,600 Share Options, 1,903,600 Share Options
were held by Mr. Ho Yin Sang and 1,356,000 Share Options
were held by his spouse.

The Company adopted its first share option scheme
on 11 May 1998, and such share option scheme was
terminated upon the adoption of its second share
option scheme (“2002 Scheme”) on 2 July 2002 for
the duration of 10 years. In view of the recent changes
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), a new share option
scheme was approved by shareholders of the Company
at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held
on 23 March 2009. The 2002 Scheme was accordingly
terminated on the same day without affecting the rights of
holders of any options granted and outstanding under the
2002 Scheme.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continued)

Long position (continued)

(c) Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each (“KLHL Shares”) in
Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited (“KLHL”), a non

wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

BEEZROER o

RR#E)

©  ARAAIDEEENE R AL EEERE
RER LA ([ERER ) EREE0.10
BT BER ([ ERERRG )

Approximate
percentage

Number of of the issued

issued KLHL share capital

Shares held of KLHL

Frfse 81T HEEERER

Name of Director Capacity BEEER BETRA

EERE EmtE R EE ZBHBEDL

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing Beneficial owner 1,141,500 0.03
SREIER S BHEERA

Mr. Chan Wing Kwan (Note 1) Beneficial owner 100,000 0.003
PRk 88 55 A (B 3E1) BEREAA

Mr. Chang Wing Yiu (Note 2) Beneficial owner 100,000 0.003
EP R ST A (P EE2) BmEEA

Mr. Ho Yin Sang (Note 3) Beneficial owner 540,000 0.01
fa 3R A S A (BiHEE3) BHEEAA

Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie Beneficial owner 804,000 0.02
REELL BEREAA

Notes: B & -

(1)

The 100,000 KLHL Shares were held by the spouse of Mr. Chan
Wing Kwan.

The 100,000 KLHL Shares were held by the spouse of Mr.
Chang Wing Yiu.

The 540,000 KLHL Shares were held by the spouse of Mr. Ho
Yin Sang.

(1) BRAKBEEZEIBHH%100,000 2 EEER
Bedn o

(2)  EBKBSTHE Z PR FEE R%100,000 8% 2 IEE E R
f&15 ©

(8)  {AIFEA A 2 FRAB 5 5%540,000 % BB A E iR
B&Ap o
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continued)

Long position (continued)

(d) Non-voting deferred shares of HK$1 each in the share
capital of Kingboard Laminates Limited, a non wholly-

BEEZROER o

RR#E)

@ KRR EEENEARAEEEERE
RAFIRIE R EE 15 T2 R B

owned subsidiary of the Company LR 7
Number of
non-voting deferred
shares held
(Note)
Name of Director Capacity FisEsER
EEpE EEME EZERGBEE
(B&E)
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing Beneficial owner 1,904,400
REIK S EmEAA
Mr. Chan Wing Kwan Beneficial owner 1,481,200
BRAER S EnEAA
Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan Beneficial owner 846,400
REESLLE BEHEERA
Mr. Ho Yin Sang Beneficial owner 529,000
(et EmEAA
Mr. Chang Wing Yiu Beneficial owner 423,200
okt EmEAA

Note:  None of the non-voting deferred shares of Kingboard Laminates
Limited are held by the Group. Such deferred shares carry no
rights to receive notice of or to attend or vote at any general
meeting of Kingboard Laminates Limited and have practically no
rights to dividends or to participate in any distribution on winding
up.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continued) EREZROER 2

Long position (continued) RE(E)

(e) Ordinary shares (“EEIC Shares”) in the share capital of (g KR GIHEE BB N E L Gl F L EE E
Elec & Eltek International Company Limited (“EEIC”), a non BRARE]([EEIC)) A2 &ZiER([EEIC

Note:

The interests are held by virtue of an aggregate of 3,244,000

share options of EEIC accepted by the Directors on 24 June
2005. The number of share options were subsequently adjusted
pursuant to the 1 for 5 bonus issue effected on 13 October
2005. The relevant Directors are entitled to subscribe for EEIC
Shares at an adjusted subscription price of US$2.033 per EEIC
Share. The share options are exercisable in whole or in part at
the staggered manner within 5 option periods, commencing on
26 November 2006, 26 November 2007, 26 November 2008, 26
November 2009 and 26 March 2010 respectively and all ending

on 24 May 2010.

B

wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company B’ /)

Approximate

percentage

Number of of the issued

issued EEIC share capital

Shares held of EEIC

Name of Director Capacity FiEE31TEEIC {REEICE BT

EEnR REME RAZEE ZBHNED

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing Beneficial owner 60,000 0.03
SREIER S BmEAA

Mr. Mok Cham Hung, Chadwick Beneficial owner 74,000 0.04
LY BmEAA

® Share options of EEIC ® EEICZ (B EIR1E

Interest in

underlying EEIC

Shares pursuant

to share options

of EEIC

(Note)

Name of Director Capacity EEICEXEREET

EEnR ERME FEHBAEEICAR 17 fE 2%

(B&E)

Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing Beneficial owner 973,200
SREIER S BmEAA

Mr. Chan Wing Kwan Beneficial owner 973,200
BRAER S BEREAA

Mr. Chang Wing Yiu Beneficial owner 973,200
kL BEREAA

Mr. Mok Cham Hung, Chadwick Beneficial owner 973,200
LB BEHEAA

REERENEERN _TTRAFENA=-+T
H B & $£3,244,00017 EEICHE 5t f Ak i #E
o BEBRESRE  HEE_ZTRFT
A+=BR— R EERIT ZARREITM A
- FEESIREAEREETREEICHK
172,083 L RIBEEICA D - ERBEIIED B
BE_ZEEXFE+—AZ+XE  ZBT+F
+—A=+XB  ZZEZENF+—A=+K
A —EThF+—A-+BR-T—F
R+ RAEZZ—ZFRA-FTWNAILR
(BB S AR AE T AR A D B AT R 2 Ef s HL AP

BBy e
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES (continued) EEZRIER )

Long position (continued) RE(E)

(9) Ordinary shares (“KCFH Shares”) of US$0.10 each in the  (g) K] I 2 LA N E X A Kingboard
share capital of Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Limited Copper Foil Holdings Limited ([ KCFH./) %
(“KCFH”), a non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company KRR ETEO. 105 7,2 2% ([ KCFHER

%))
Approximate
percentage
Number of of the issued
issued KCFH share capital
Shares held of KCFH
Name of Director Capacity FriEE %47 {HKCFHE 2{TIR A
MR EmME KCFHER 12 & B ZHABED
Mr. Ho Yin Sang (Note) Beneficial owner 2,000 0.0003
AT A (FHFD) EnlEA
Note:  The 2,000 KCFH Shares were held by the spouse of Mr. Ho Yin B - e HRAE S A 2 BR B 5 A 722,000 B KCFH A%
Sang. e
Other than as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor BREMBEEEN RZZETZNEFE+ZA
their associates had any interests or short positions in any =1+—H BMESFEARFIHBBEALR
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company AR R REATEEEE (F&RRES K
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning BRBIEXVED) 2 EfI ik - HHRERDE
of Part XV of the SFO) as at 31 December 2008. FHREAEEREIEE -
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SHARE OPTIONS

Particulars of the share option schemes of the Company, EEIC
and KLHL are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The following table discloses movements in the Share Options

ZchRRziE
ARF -
PR A B A5 TR AT RE36 -

EEICKEBIEER 2 B LB s 8l5F

TRERE_ZT_FHEAEMEEBRENFAZ

under the 2002 Scheme during the year: b

Outstanding Outstanding
as at as at
1.1.2008 Exercised 31.12.2008
R=ZZNEF during R-ZENF
—HA—H the year Sr=JE =5r=2]
5 ARITE EREFEITHE i RATE

Category 1: Directors 1 E=Z
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing KRB A 210,600 (210,600) -
Mr. Chan Wing Kwan PR SR S A& 2,558,800 (1,217,200) 1,341,600
Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan REFERE 2,951,800 (1,217,200) 1,734,600
Mr. Chang Wing Yiu xR 3,175,800 (1,941,000) 1,234,800
Mr. Ho Yin Sang AR e A 3,120,800 (1,217,200) 1,903,600
12,017,800 (5,803,200) 6,214,600
Category 2: Employees F288 BB 13,904,200 (5,496,800) 8,407,400
Total all categories FrEfERl&5T 25,922,000 (11,300,000) 14,622,000

The weighted average closing price of the Shares on the five
trading days immediately before the dates on which the Share

Options were exercised was HK$20.66.
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

The following table discloses movements in EEIC’s share options

B =)
T & BBEEEICE B ARIER 2 &

during the year:

Outstanding Outstanding
as at as at
1.1.2008 Lapsed 31.12.2008
R-ZEENF during R-ZEENE
—HB—H the year +=—HA=+—H
i RATHE ERFARK el RATHE

Category 1: Directors F1fE:EE
Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing SREUER ST A 973,200 - 973,200
Mr. Chan Wing Kwan PRoKER ST A 973,200 - 973,200
Mr. Chang Wing Yiu BB S A 973,200 - 973,200
Mr. Mok Cham Hung, Chadwick 5 S5 i 55 4= 973,200 - 973,200
3,892,800 - 3,892,800
Category 2: Employees Fo¥ BB 6,794,200 (1,353,200) 5,441,000
Total all categories FrB%aRIEET 10,687,000 (1,353,200) 9,333,800

During the year ended 31 December 2008, no share option was
granted pursuant to the employees’ share option scheme of
KLHL.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the option holdings disclosed above, at no time during
the year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2008, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO
shows that, other than the interests disclosed above in respect
of certain Directors, the following shareholders had notified the
Company of relevant interests in the issued share capital of the
Company.

Long position
Ordinary shares of HK$0. 10 each of the Company

FERR

IR D RIS R DI S 36 AR E 2 =
EREBEMAEE  R-TENFH-A=+—
A THBR(EXFEBETEEZRERINE
MGAR TG EHAR AR BTRAD A 2 A
i o

=)
KL G EZREIEO. 1078 7T, ZiBk

Approximate

percentage

of the issued

Number of share capital

issued of the Company

Shares held [N

Name of shareholder Nature of interest e 31T BETRA

RERAME ERME RHEE ZBHBE DL

Hallgain Management Limited Beneficial owner 261,131,929 30.97
(‘Hallgain”) (Note) (Ffi &) EmEAA

Capital Research and Investment manager 102,715,040 12.18

Management Company & e

Note:  As at 31 December 2008: (i) no shareholder of Hallgain is entitled to
exercise, or control the exercise of, directly or indirectly, one-third or more
of the voting power at general meetings of Hallgain, and Hallgain and its
directors are not accustomed to act in accordance with any shareholder’s
direction; and (i) Messrs. Cheung Kwok Wing and Chan Wing Kwan,
being Directors, are also directors of Hallgain.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company has not been
notified of any other relevant interests or short positions in the
issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2008.

M RZTTN\E+=A=+—8 : (/i EHallgainlX R G 1E
HHallgainf& A& 1718 sk B s HIITE =5 — 5%
DA Z FRKE - MHallgain R H 2 E I AMEFRIF T
REIERITE + M(i)EBREL KL RFEKEL LA
HallgainZ &% -

B LA WEESN  AARMEBEENER _TT/\F
T A=+—BZARBEHTRAZEMEMA
EaEFaE ]
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has complied with
the Code on Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) as
set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange throughout
the year ended 31 December 2008, save for the deviation that
all independent non-executive Directors were not appointed
for specific terms pursuant to the code provision A.4.1 of the
Code. Notwithstanding the aforesaid deviation, all the Directors
(including the independent non-executive Directors) are subject
to retirement by rotation and will be eligible for re-election at
the Company’s annual general meeting in accordance with
the Company’s Articles of Association. As such, the Company
considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure
that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less
exacting than those in the Code.

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by directors on terms no less exacting
than the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the
“Model Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard set out in the Model Code and the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by directors adopted by the
Company throughout the year ended 31 December 2008.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive Directors are
independent for the purposes of Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales or purchases attributable
to the Group’s five largest customers combined or suppliers
combined were less than 30% of the Group’s sales or purchases
respectively.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, Techwise Circuits Company Limited (“Techwise”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Techwise
Group”) sold printed circuit boards (“PCBs”) to and purchased
laminates from Shirai Electronics Industrial Co., Ltd. (“Shirai”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Shirai
Group”) amounting to approximately HK$477,381,000 and
HK$81,958,000 respectively. The Techwise Group also sub-
contracted the services of the Shirai Group, namely the drilling of
laminates by the Shirai Group on the Techwise Group’s behalf,
amounting to approximately HK$18,148,000 during the year.
Techwise is a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company,
while Shirai is a substantial shareholder of Techwise Shirai
Circuits Limited (a 70% owned subsidiary of Techwise). As
such, Shirai and its subsidiaries are connected persons of the
Company pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The sale of PCBs to the Shirai Group and the subcontracting
transactions with the Shirai Group did not exceed the revised
corresponding annual caps for the financial year ended
31 December 2008 amounting to HK$711,373,000 and
HK$40,964,000, respectively, which was approved by the
shareholders of the Company at an extraordinary general meeting
held on 10 December 2007. The purchase of laminates from the
Shirai Group during the year did not exceed the corresponding
annual cap for the financial year ended 31 December 2008 as
announced by the Company on 27 October 2006, namely an
amount of HK$225,400,000.

REZ 5

FN - BESKBAERAF(RE]D REWB AR
(%78 RIZ%E ) AIShirai Electronics Industrial
Co., Ltd.([Shirai]) R EK B2 7 (5[ Shiraisk
B ) H & A E4477,381,000/8 7T 2 BNl 45 B& iR
(MENRIAREEIR |) B8 B A 204)81,958,0004 T 2 &
HER - BEEESNEAMShiraik BINAE
#118,148,0007% 7T 2 AR 7% + BDEaShiraits EREHE
SEABINERETL - RHEAKRQREREEA N
BAR] - mShiraiBlARIEREA70%Em 2 ME D
AREAHERER AR ZEERE - At - BIF
FHRBIFE14AE - Shirai R EH B AR AKAF
BB AL o

M Shiraife B $4 & EN R 4R B AR & B Shiraifs BT T
HRZ SR BBARRNTRER-_EZTLF+ A
THRITZBREFIASHHAEBEZ-_SZN\F
ToA=+— AU RFELETHEFE LR
711 ,373,000;‘%ﬁ&4o,964,oooi9.§7‘z o G N [AIShirai
SEBEBNERTBBARARR ST F 1A
ZTtREMEMEEETSNAF+-A=1+—H1t
WU 2 2 ABRE S E - FR225,400,0008 7T °
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

The Directors have engaged the auditor of the Company to
perform certain agreed upon procedures in respect of the
continuing connected transactions of the Group. The auditor
of the Company has reported its factual findings on these
procedures to the board of Directors. The independent non-
executive Directors, for the purpose of Rule 14A.37 of the Listing
Rules, have reviewed the continuing connected transactions
and the report of the auditor and have confirmed that the
aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been entered
into by the Group in the ordinary course of its business, on
normal commercial terms, and in accordance with the terms
of the agreements governing such transactions that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company has also provided
guarantees to financial institutions to secure general credit
facilities for a non wholly-owned subsidiary, namely Techwise, in
the amounts of approximately HK$376 million during the year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY
The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to Directors and eligible employees. Details of the
scheme are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Articles of Association although there are no
restrictions against such rights under company laws in the
Cayman Islands.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
The Company has maintained a sufficient public float throughout
the year ended 31 December 2008.

AUDITOR

A resolution to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
as auditor of the Company will be proposed for approval by
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Cheung Kwok Wing
CHAIRMAN

27 March 2009
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The Board of Kingboard Chemical Holdings Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”)
recognises the importance of corporate governance practice
of a listed company. It is in the interest of the stakeholders and
shareholders for a listed company to operate in a transparent
manner with the adoptions of various self-regulatory policies,
procedures and monitoring mechanisms and a clear definition of
accountability of directors and management.

During the year under review, the Board has complied with the
provisions of the Code on Corporate Governance Practices
(the “Code”) contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) except with a deviation from code
provision A.4.1 of the Code. Under code provision A.4.1 of
the Code, non-executive directors should be appointed for a
specific term, subject to re-election. Currently, the Company
does not have any non-executive director and the independent
non-executive directors of the Company were not appointed for
specific terms but are subject to retirement by rotation and are
eligible for re-election.

In addition to the Code, which is mandatory in nature, the
Board also observes certain recommended best practices
(“Recommended Best Practices”) contained in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules and has adopted certain Recommended Best
Practices which are suitable to the Company’s current situation.
The Board will continuously enhance the corporate governance
standard of the Company by reference to the Recommended
Best Practices whenever suitable and appropriate.

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model
Code”). Having made specific enquiry of all directors, all directors
confirmed that they have complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code and the code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions adopted by the Company.
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DIRECTORS

The Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control
of the Group and is entrusted with the responsibility
to supervise the management of the business and the
affairs of the Group. The Group has adopted internal
guidelines in setting forth matters that require the Board’s
approval. Apart from its statutory responsibilities, the
Board approves the Group’s strategic plan, annual
budget, key operational initiatives, major investments and
funding decisions. It also reviews the Group’s financial
performance, identifies principal risks of the Group’s
business and ensures implementation of appropriate
systems to manage these risks. Daily business operations
and administrative functions of the Group are delegated
to the management.

The Board meets regularly and as warranted by particular
circumstances. Notices and agendas are prepared by
the Company Secretary as delegated by the Chairman
of the Board and distributed to the Board members
within reasonable time before the meetings. Relevant
meeting papers are also sent to directors well before
the meetings, informing them of the background and
giving explanation on matters to be brought before the
Board. All directors are given the opportunity to include
matters in the agendas for Board meetings. To ensure the
directors make decisions objectively and in the interests
of the Company, the Company’s articles of association
provide that any director shall abstain from voting on any
resolutions in which he or his associates is/are materially
interested nor be counted in the quorum of the meeting.
Draft and final versions of the minutes of Board meetings
are sent to all directors for their comment and records
respectively within a reasonable time after the Board
meetings and are kept by the Company Secretary.
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A. DIRECTORS (continued) A. EE®
The Board (continued) BEES(E)
During the year under review, the Board had held four REBFEN  EFRTTUASH -
meetings and the directors’ attendance at Board meetings EEREFEERNEFEERRR2H
and Board committees’ meetings were as follows: JEECERINT ¢
Audit Nomination Remuneration
Board Committee Committee Committee
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
- ENZEE REZEE yHzEg
] S EE EE
Number of Meeting =g 4 3 2 2
Executive directors HITES
Cheung Kwok Wing (Chairman) REAR(LE) 4 - - -
Chan Wing Kwan (Managing Director) ~ Wiski3( & Z 484072 4 1 - -
Cheung Kwong Kwan REE 4 - - -
Chang Wing Yiu iz 4 - - -
Mok Cham Hung, Chadwick R 4 1 - -
Ho Yin Sang s 4 - - -
Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie REE 4 - - -

<t

Independent non-executive directors ~ BYFHTES

Cheng Ming Fun, Paul (resigned on BHI (RN -ZTNE 3 2 - -
27 February 2009) ZAZTLHEEE)
Cheng Wai Chee, Christopher Ll 3 -
Tse Kam Hung Filfiape 4 3 2 2
Henry Tan &2 4 3 2 2
Lai Chung Wing, Robert BHE (R-ZENE 1 1 1 1
(appointed on 27 February 2009) ZRZTHREZM)
The directors have observed the importance of directing EEAREATEHEEREE A NG
and supervising the Company’s affairs at a more regular EREEMN  c KEHLEESR  BF
interval. After consulting all directors, Board mestings SNTHERFEZTGRBETERITRE
have been preliminarily scheduled to be held at quarterly FERITRDRINREE ©

interval and no less than four times in the coming year.
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A. DIRECTORS (continued)
Division and responsibilities
The Board of the Company is headed by the Chairman
whose role differs from that of the Managing Director of
the Company. The roles of the Chairman and Managing
Director are segregated and are not exercised by the
same individual.

The duties of the Chairman include (but not limited to) the
following:

schedule meetings that enable the Board to
perform its duties and responsibilities and
to ensure all key and appropriate issues are
discussed by the Board in a timely manner without
interfering the Company’s operations;

o prepare meeting agenda after consultation with
the Managing Director;

o exercise control over quality, quantity and
timeliness of the flow of information between
Management and the Board and to ensure
decisions are made on a fully informed basis by
the directors; and

° assist in ensuring compliance with the Listing
Rules and the Company’s guidelines on corporate
governance.

The Managing Director is mainly responsible for the
overall strategic planning and day-to-day management of
the Group.

BEFE®)

APIRBE

RARESGHERFEE  HEBBEHEIRN
RNAFESHICIE - TFERESHLIES
BRI - BIERR—BALEE-

TEBREERERETER

. LHEHEANRESTGETRE I
BREFERENWAMAEER E
EEE MAETEARRAZE
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i
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36

DIRECTORS (continued)

Board composition

The Board currently comprises eleven members, four of
whom are independent non-executive directors who are
expressly identified in all corporate commmunications that
disclose the names of directors of the Company. One
of the independent non-executive directors possesses
appropriate professional qualifications (or accounting or
related financial management expertise) as required by
the Listing Rules. The composition of the Board is as
follows:

Executive Directors

Cheung Kwok Wing (Chairman)

Chan Wing Kwan (Managing Director)
Cheung Kwong Kwan

Chang Wing Yiu

Mok Cham Hung, Chadwick

Ho Yin Sang

Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie

Independent non-executive Directors
Cheng Ming Fun, Paul

(resigned on 27 February 2009)
Cheng Wai Chee, Christopher
Tse Kam Hung
Henry Tan
Lai Chung Wing, Robert

(appointed on 27 February 2009)

Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie is the sister of Mr.
Cheung Kwok Wing. Mr. Cheung Kwong Kwan is a
cousin of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing and Ms. Cheung Wai
Lin, Stephanie. Mr. Chang Wing Yiu and Mr. Ho Yin Sang
are brothers-in-law of Mr. Cheung Kwok Wing and Ms.
Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie.

Currently, the Company does not have any non-executive
director and the independent non-executive directors
of the Company were not appointed for specific terms
but are subject to retirement by rotation and are eligible
for re-election. The Board considers that although such
arrangement deviates from code provision A.4.1 of the
Code, sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that
the Company’s corporate governance practices are no
less exacting than those in the Code.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Board composition (continued)

The Company has received from each of the independent
non-executive directors an annual confirmation of his
independence as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

The Board comprises directors who collectively provide
core competencies, sales and marketing experience and
technical knowledge in laminates, printed circuit boards
and chemical products, administration and management
experience in the PRC factories, financial and accounting
skills, as well as in-house advices to comply with
international laws and regulations. The current Board size
of eleven directors with a balance of skills and experience
is appropriate for effective decision making, taking into
account the nature and scope of the operations of the
Company.

Appointment, re-election and removal

The Company’s Articles of Association set out a
formal, considered and transparent procedure for the
appointment of new directors to the Board. Any director
appointed by the Board either to fill a casual vacancy
or as addition to the Board, shall retire and be eligible
for re-appointment at the next following annual general
meeting after appointment. The appointment of directors
are not fixed for a specified term, but at every annual
general meeting one-third of the directors, including
the Chairman, shall be subject to retirement by rotation
and re-appointment by shareholders. The directors
appointed by the Board who are subject to retirement
and re-appointment as mentioned above shall be taken
into account in calculating the total number of directors
for the time being but shall not be taken into account
in calculating the number of directors who are to retire
by rotation. All directors eligible for re-appointment
shall have their biographical details made available to
the shareholders to enable them to make an informed
decision on their re-appointment. Any appointment,
resignation, removal or re-designation of director shall be
timely disclosed to the shareholders by announcement
and shall include in such announcement, the reasons
given by the director for his resignation.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Responsibilities of Directors

The Company and the Board require each director to
keep abreast of his responsibilities as a director of the
Company and of the conduct, business activities and
development of the Company. Every director is required
to devote sufficient time and involvement in the affairs
of the Board and the material matters of the Company
and to serve the Board with such degree of care and
due diligence given his own expertise, qualification and
professionalism.

Every newly appointed director shall receive a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the
first occasion of his appointment. All directors shall
be updated and briefed on continuing professional
development as is necessary to ensure that they have a
proper understanding of the operations and the business
of the Company and that they are fully aware of their
responsibilities under the applicable laws and regulations.
The Board has a procedure for directors, either individually
or as a group, in the furtherance of their duties, to take
independent professional advice, if necessary, at the
Company’s expenses to enable and facilitate the directors
to make well considered decisions. Appropriate insurance
coverage for directors’ and officers’ liability has been
arranged against possibility of legal action to be taken
against the directors and the management.

Supply of and access to information

The management of the Company has an obligation
to furnish the Board with complete, adequate and
appropriate information in such form and such quality in a
timely manner so as to enable them to make an informed
decision and to discharge their duties and responsibilities
as directors of the Company. All the directors are given
separate and independent access to the Company’s
senior management.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

Supply of and access to information (continued)

All the directors are given separate and independent
access to the Company Secretary, whose role includes
ensuring that Board procedures are observed and
followed, and that applicable rules and regulations are
complied with. The Company Secretary attends all the
meetings of the Board and Board committees and is
responsible for drafting minutes and keeping minutes
records which can be accessed by any director for
inspection.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure
The Board has set up a remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) which comprises three
independent non-executive directors, namely Mr. Tse
Kam Hung (Chairman), Mr. Lai Chung Wing, Robert and
Mr. Henry Tan, to formulate policies and procedures for
determining the remuneration of directors and senior
management and other remuneration related matters.
The Remuneration Committee is set up with written
terms of reference which set out clearly its duties and
authorities delegated by the Board of directors, including
the following specific duties:

° formulate the framework or Board policy for
determining the remuneration of the Company’s
Board and senior management. The objective
of such policy should ensure that members of
the senior management of the Company are
provided with appropriate incentives to encourage
enhanced performance and are, in a fair and
reasonable manner, rewarded for their individual
contributions to the success of the Company;
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

The level and make-up of remuneration and disclosure

(continued)

o recommend specific remuneration packages
including, where appropriate, allowances,
bonuses, benefits in kind, incentive payments,
and share options, if any, for each executive
director and the Managing Director and such
other members of senior management as it is
designated to consider;

o recommend targets for any performance-linked
pay schemes operated by the Company, taking
into account remuneration and employment
conditions within the industry and in comparable
companies; and

o recommend to the Board the remuneration of
independent non-executive directors (including
non-executive directors, if any), taking into
account factors such as effort, time spent and
responsibilities.

When recommending the remuneration package for each
individual director, the Remuneration Committee will
consider his qualification and experience, specific duties
and responsibilities assigned to him by the Board and the
prevailing market packages available for similar position.
The emoluments of the Directors on a named basis for the
year under review is set out on page 115 and 116 in note
15 to the financial statements. Review and comparison in
terms of Directors’ emoluments package and net profits
of the Group are made from time to time with comparable
listed industrial companies with similar capitalisation to the
Group. Considering all such factors, the Remuneration
Committee would make recommendation on the
remuneration package for each Director after consultation
with the Chairman.

During the year under review, the Remuneration
Committee had convened two meetings during which,
among other things, the remuneration packages for all
Directors, including Mr. Lai Chung Wing, Robert, who
was appointed to the Board on 27 February 2009, were
considered.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial reporting

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for
preparing the Company’s account which gives a true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group. The
Company deploys appropriate and sufficient resources to
prepare unaudited half-yearly account and audited yearly
account. Senior management is required to present and
explain the financial reporting and matters that materially
affect or may have material impact on the financial
performance and operations of the Company to the Audit
Committee and the Board and respond to the queries
and concerns raised by the Audit Committee and the
Board to their satisfaction. The statement of the auditor of
the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out in Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 49 and 50 of this annual report.

Internal controls
The Group has in place a system of internal controls, the
key elements of which are as follows:

° formal policies and procedures are in place,
including the documentation of key processes,
procedures and rules relating to the delegation of
authorities. These allow the monitoring of controls
and restrict the unauthorised use of the Group
assets;

° experienced and suitably qualified staff take
responsibility for important business functions.
Annual appraisal procedures have been
established to maintain standards of performance;

° monthly business and financial reports are
prepared, providing relevant, timely, reliable and
up-to-date financial and other information; budget
variances are investigated as appropriate; and

° an internal audit function, which reports directly
to the Audit Committee, is in place to determine
whether the above procedures are properly carried
out.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)
Internal controls (continued)

The Board has conducted a review on the effectiveness of
the above internal control system of the Group including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management and will conduct such review at least once
a year, so as to ensure the shareholders’ investment and
the Group’s assets are properly safeguarded. The Board is
satisfied that, based on the information supplied, coupled
with its own observations and with the assistance of the
Audit Committee, the present internal controls and risk
management processes are satisfactory for the nature
and size of the Group’s operations and business.

In addition to the internal control system, the Board has
established an internal audit team that reports directly
to the Audit Committee. The internal audit team will
independently audit various functions, operations and
systems existed in the Company according to their
weight of significance to the Company as well as the
priority list recommended by the Audit Committee. The
internal audit team will prepare an internal audit report
highlighting the deficiencies and weaknesses in existing
audit functions, operations and systems for discussion by
the Audit Committee and the Board, and based on these
findings the Board will instruct senior management to take
appropriate corrective and improvement actions.

Audit Committee

The Board has established the Audit Committee with
specific written terms of reference setting out duties,
responsibilities and authorities delegated to them by the
Board of directors. The major duties and responsibilities
of the Audit Committee include the following:

° review with the external auditor, the audit plan;

o review with the external auditor, their evaluation of
the system of internal accounting controls;

° review the scope and results of the internal audit
procedures;
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C. ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

Audit Committee (continued)

review the balance sheet and profit and loss
account of the Company and the consolidated
balance sheet and profit and loss account of the
Group and submit them to the Board;

nominate persons as auditor;

review with the internal and external auditors their
findings on their evaluation of the Company’s
system of internal controls for the purpose of
assisting the Board in developing policies that
would enhance the controls and operating
systems of the Company; and

review connected transactions and examine the
adequacy of internal controls of the Group as part
of the standard procedures.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)

The duties of the Audit Committee include reviewing the
scope and results of the audit and its cost effectiveness,
and the independence and objectivity of the Company’s
auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. The Audit Committee
will review the independence of the Company’s auditor,
the resources and adequacy of the internal audit function,
at least once a year. Where the auditor also supply
non-audit services to the Company, the Committee
will keep the nature and extent of such services under
review, seeking to balance between the maintenance of
objectivity and value for money. During the year under
review, the fees paid/payable to the Company’s auditor
in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by the
Company’s auditor to the Group were as follows:
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Amount (HK$)
Nature of services RIS THEOGER)
Audit services ZERTE 9,349,000
Non-audit services IEZERTS
() Tax services () % ART% 1,702,000
(i) Other services (i) Hb R 1,103,000

The Audit Committee has undertaken a review of all the
non-audited services provided by the Company’s auditor
and concluded that in their opinion such services did
not affect the independence of the auditor. The Board
has appointed an accountant to be responsible for the
accounting and financial matters of the Group and the
Audit Committee has free access to the accountant and
senior management of the Group and to any financial
and relevant information which enable them to discharge
their audit committee function effectively and efficiently.
Besides internal assistance being available, the Audit
Committee may request for assistance and advice from
external auditor as and when they think necessary at
the expenses of the Company. The Audit Committee
shall meet with external auditor without the presence
of executive directors to discuss the Group’s financial
reporting and any major and financial matters arising
during the year under review at least once a year.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)
Audit Committee (continued)
In addition, the Audit Committee is authorised:

° to investigate any matter within its written terms of
reference;

° to have full access to and co-operation by the
management;

° to have full discretion to invite any director or

executive officer to attend its meetings; and

o to have reasonable resources to enable it to
discharge its functions properly.

The Board will ensure that the members of the Audit
Committee are appropriately qualified to discharge their
responsibilities and at least one member has accounting
and related financial management expertise or experience.
The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors, namely Mr. Lai Chung Wing, Robert
(Chairman), Mr. Tse Kam Hung and Mr. Henry Tan.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management
the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and discussed auditing, internal control and
financial reporting matters, including the review of the
audited annual financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2008.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

Management function

The Company'’s articles of association set out matters
which are specifically reserved to the Board for its
decision. Executive directors normally meet on an
informal basis every two weeks and participate in senior
management meetings on a regular basis to keep abreast
of the latest operations and performance of the Group
and to monitor and ensure the management carry out the
directions and strategies set by the Board of directors
correctly and appropriately. Clear instructions are given to
the management as to the matters which should bring to
the attention and be determined by the Board on behalf
of the Company.

Board committees

The Board has set up three Board committees,
namely Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee, each chaired by different
independent non-executive director, to assist the Board
in discharging functions specific to each committee. Each
Board committee has its own written terms of reference
setting out the principles, procedures and arrangements
which are substantially the same as those for the Board.

The Nomination Committee comprises three members
who are independent non-executive directors, namely
Mr. Henry Tan (Chairman), Mr. Lai Chung Wing, Robert,
and Mr. Tse Kam Hung. According to the written terms
of reference of the Nomination Committee, the major
responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include:

o regularly review the structure, size and composition
of the Board and make recommendations to the
Board with regard to any adjustments that are
deemed necessary;

° review whether or not an independent non-
executive director is independent for the purpose
of the Listing Rules on annual basis;
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D. DELEGATION BY THE BOARD (continued) D. EEg#HMER
Board committees (continued) EEZER(A)
. be responsible for identifying and nominating for o rTEEgERERHEEEME RE

the approval of the Board, candidates to fill board
vacancies as and when they arise;

o assess the effectiveness of the Board as a whole
and the contribution by each individual director to
the effectiveness of the Board; and

o be responsible for re-nomination having regard
to the director’s contribution and performance,
including, if applicable, as an independent director.

During the year under review, the Nomination Committee
had convened two meetings during which, among other
things, the nomination of Mr. Lai Chung Wing, Robert, as
additional director of the Company was considered. Mr.
Lai Chung Wing, Robert was appointed as independent
non-executive director by the Board with effect from 27
February 2009 and pursuant to the Company’s articles
of association, Mr. Lai Chung Wing, Robert, will retire,
and be eligible for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. The Nomination Committee had also
considered the directors who should retire by rotation
pursuant to the Company’s articles of association and the
Code. The Nomination Committee had resolved that Mr.
Chan Wing Kwan, Ms. Cheung Wai Lin, Stephanie and
Mr. Henry Tan and Mr. Lai Chung Wing, Robert, shall be
subject to retirement by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. All the above-named
directors were nominated by the Nomination Committee
to stand for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Board endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue
with shareholders. All directors are encouraged to attend
the general meetings to have personal communication
with shareholders. In annual general meeting, Chairman
of the Board and the chairman of each committee
are required to attend and answer questions from
shareholders in respect of the matters that they are
responsible and accountable for. The external auditor
is also required to be present to assist the directors in
addressing any relevant queries by shareholders. The
Company has also set up a public relations website
which enables the shareholders and public to post their
questions, comments and opinions in relation to the
Group to the Board.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
(continued)

The Company’s annual general meeting (“AGM”) and
extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”) provide good
opportunities for shareholders to air their views and ask
directors and management questions regarding the
Company. All shareholders of the Company receive the
annual report, circulars and notices of AGM and EGM
and other corporate communications. The notices are
also published in newspapers. Separate resolutions are
required at general meetings on each distinct issue. Each
shareholder is permitted to appoint a proxy to attend and
vote in his stead.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AR

Deloitte.
=E)

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
KINGBOARD CHEMICAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Kingboard Chemical Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 51 to 183, which comprise the consolidated balance
sheet as at 31 December 2008, and the consolidated income
statement, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as
to whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

HEECIEERR
(REIESHSTMA A EREA])

EEEENERHNESIE183HEMEE LT EE
(TERal ) REMBAR (S EEE ] REMH%
HE - WEGAMBREREENR_SZENF+A
= t+—HWGRAEERBRIEEZA LT ENLS
AEE - RAERRERRGARESRERAR
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MBRREARBEER RPN ERERELEER
MmAFIRAZFFEMBREK - ERERER
it HigREEERR R EEM QT RERE R
BRARABER A RS - AEPBERER T FEAR
WEFE AR M RMEAT R - BENERE
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31
December 2008 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 March 2009
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Consolidated Income Statement

an A LI& %

For the year ended 31 December 2008 # %= —EZE )\ F+ = H=+—HI F/F

2008 2007
—ETN\F —ETF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$'000
FaE FHET FH&T

Revenue e 7 23,681,401 20,025,112
Cost of sales SHERA (19,431,259) (15,178,498)
Gross profit E5 4,250,142 4,846,614
Other income HAA 9 374,622 423,555
Distribution costs D EHRCAR (652,752) (550,279)
Administrative costs TR A (1,285,350) (1,171,926)
Impairment loss on AMEHERE 2

available-for-sale investments VERIEN = 10 (253,158) -
Loss on disposal of convertible bond & A # i (&5 K& —

and interest in an associate RN T ot 11 (189,697) =
Loss on disposal and deemed e RGELE—ME

disposal of interest in an associate B N aliE s 2 B8 - (23,658)
Discount on acquisition of U BE BB A A1 EESN

additional interests in subsidiaries VTR YT 33,711 962
Discount on acquisition of subsidiaries Uk BT B A & 2 37 37 11,395 -
Gain on fair value change of A HA A% K i o] 358 F

conversion and redemption PTTET Az ANTE

option derivative Bz 24 - 182,367
Finance costs EhE AR 12 (329,369) (287,664)
Share of results of associates i SNEIE 5 369,807 298,283
Share of results of FEAG TR B BE 2

jointly controlled entities (3,849) (1,070)
Profit before taxation B B3 B Al 2,325,502 3,717,184
Income tax expense FriS i 13 (194,231) (245,030)
Profit for the year INEE B R F 14 2,131,271 3,472,154
Attributable to: FElEnER

Equity holders of the Company AREERFE A 1,705,850 2,778,321

Minority interests DEG R TS 425,421 693,833

2,131,271 3,472,154

Dividends B B 16 927,430 1,084,229
Earnings per share BIRAF 17

Basic EHAR HK$2.026;& T HK$3.3307% 7T

Diluted e HK$1.986;& ¢ HK$3.2328 7T
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

REBEERER

At 31 December 2008 R —ZEZENNF+-H=4+—H

2008 2007
—ETN\F —ET+F
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
MI5E FET FAIT
Non-current assets IERBNEE
Investment properties B E 18 1,327,165 1,197,952
Properties, plant and equipment M - BB NEERAE 19 16,888,278 13,752,739
Prepaid lease payments TENMEERIE 20 1,499,021 1,265,127
Goodwiill [EES 21 2,005,658 2,005,658
Investments in associates REFSNEZIRE 22 686,133 741,128
Available-for-sale investments A HERE 23 780,248 564,657
Convertible bond — loan portion Mg ESs—EES ) 24 - 86,188
Interests in jointly controlled entities NEEIEH TR 25 10,435 14,284
Non-current deposits JERBEI® 26 1,413,450 993,168
Intangible assets EmAE 27 770,142 725,884
Properties held for development FRRERYE 30 233,135 -
Deferred tax assets RIEFHIEE E 34 32,660 21,994
25,646,325 21,368,779
Current assets MENEE
Inventories FE 28 2,561,334 2,648,216
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H At FE U AR X
and prepayments INSELNE L] 29 5,765,899 7,182,019
Prepaid lease payments TENEERIE 20 32,103 28,029
Conversion and redemption ARG K% B (0] 58 f2 4
option derivative PTET A 24 - 205,461
Derivative financial instruments PTAESRTE 31 3,468 2,812
Taxation recoverable ENEY R 7,063 12,074
Bank balances and cash IRTTEERR MRS 29 4,225,273 3,494,596
12,595,140 13,573,207
Current liabilities mENBE
Trade and other payables B 5 M EMERIRE 32 3,733,140 4,191,715
Bills payable FER =& 32 615,362 880,992
Derivative financial instruments PTESRT A 31 1,940 1,184
Taxation payable e TR 1B 383,261 362,422
Bank borrowings BITEE——FR
— amount due within one year Eall o 33 2,596,995 1,759,340
7,330,698 7,195,653
Net current assets mENEEFE 5,264,442 6,377,554
Total assets less current liabilities BEABERTEAE 30,910,767 27,746,333
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Consolidated Balance Sheet 5 EEEER
At 31 December 2008 R=—ZZEZENF+_-H=+—H

2008 2007
—ET)N\F ZETF
NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000
BoaE THET FAT
Non-current liabilities SERBEE
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFIBEE 34 51,329 29,165
Derivative financial instruments PTESmMTA 31 136,961 -
Bank borrowings IRITEE——F1%
— amount due after one year B HA 7 I8 33 7,105,276 5,490,372
7,293,566 5,519,537
23,617,201 22,226,796
Capital and reserves A& Kt
Share capital A% €5 83,926 83,810
Share premium and reserves N ] 19,270,120 18,193,893
Equity attributable to equity holders RAFERFA A
of the Company FE(LHERS 19,354,046 18,277,703
Equity component of share option —RNEARIEE
reserve of a subsidiary MR s 2 M e 36 13,715 12,862
Minority interests DER RS 4,249,440 3,936,231
Total equity B MEEE 23,617,201 22,226,796

The consolidated financial statements on pages 51 to 183 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 27 March

2009 and are signed on its behalf by:

Cheung Kwok Wing
REISR
DIRECTOR
BE

Chan Wing Kwan

PR K SR

DIRECTOR

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
meEREER

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —EF/\F+-HA=1—HIL FZ

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

INEREREARGRS
Capital Special Property Investment Share option
Share  Share redemption  Goodwill  surplus  Stafutory  Hedging revaluation revaluation Translation  Retained reserve ofa  Minority Total
capital premium  reseve  reseve account  reserve  reserve  reseve  reseve  reseve  profits Total subsidiary interests  equity
]
#% Al FIES h& PEPZ A |

Ba B WERE BEHE BORE AEER WHER EHGR ERGR EXRR REEA o BREGR BRREE EAER
HKS'000  HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKSO000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000  HKS000
Tén fEn TEn TEn TEr TRr TR TRz TEr  TEr TR TR TEn  TEn TR

(Noted) ~ (Noteb) (Notec)
(Hita)  (Miiko) (Hizko)
Balance at 1 January 2007
83,280 44865536 897 (791) 10,594 9,651 - - 10331 390,840 10,967,587 15,398,925 9764 3044232 19012921
Increase infai values of avalable-for-sale WL HERE
invesiments AFEZEN = - - - - - - - 1690 - - 1690 - - 1690
Share of changes nresenve of associates  EIEEEAE)
o) = = = = = = = = - B2 - B2 - - B2
Exchange differences arising on B2 HEH
translation to presentation currency MEAZEHZE - - - - - - - - - 641484 - 641484 - 199015 840499
Fair value gain on propertes NEERERENE
transferred to investment properties CATERE o = = = = o = 6,583 = = = 6,583 - - 6,583
Net incore recognised directly WEFE(ERE
nequity BRAEER) - - - - - - - 658 16930 667,716 - 69129 - 199015 890244
Proft for the year TEREY - - o = = - - - - - 2718321 2778321 - 693833 3472164
Reserves released upon HERENTER
disposal of associates ba-1} = = = = = = = = - (181) - 18 - -8
Investment revaltion resenve: HEREZRE
released on disposal BitER - - - - - - - - (B - - (Ba6Y) - - (864
Total recognised income and KERRIEL,
expenses for the year YRR EE - - = = = = = 6583  (68734) 666585 2778321 3362756 - 892848 4215603
Issue of new shares from exercise of BiERrERENES
share options ki3 50 1929 - - - - - - - - - 1982 - - 1982
Recogniton of equty-settied BRGNS
share based payments - - - - - - - - - - - - 4448 - 4,448
Finaldiidend for the year ended 1
31 December 2006
- - - - - - - - - - (316464) (316.464) - - (316464)
Specialdividend for the year ended
31 December 2006
- - - - - - - - - - (6163%) (51633) - - (516,33%)
Interim dividend for the year ended
31 December 2007
- - - - - - - - - - (251430) (251430 - - (251430
Acqisition of subsidiaries (Note 37) - - - - - - - - - - - - - 268447 263447
Acquisiton of aditional interests in Wﬁﬂﬁ% "]36 § \lgm
Subsiclaries - - - - - - - - - - - - - (162789) (162,789)
Contrloution from minority shareholders D ERE L &Z0E - - - - - - - - - - - - - 104436 104436
Dividend paid to minority shareholders ~ ZRFAERE KRS - - - - - - - - - - - - - (206863) (206,863)
Transfer uponevercise of shareopion R EEEERETER - - - - - - - - - - - - %20) %0 -
Transfer upon lapse of share option REtERESAnER - - - - - - - - - - 430 430 430) - -
Transfers &2 - - - - - - - - - () - - - -
50 19292 - - - nm - - - - (1,106876) (1,083977) 3098 (849) (1,061,728)
Belance at 31 December 2007 WoE5tE
TR t-Bkh 83810 4,505,828 897 (191) 10594 31,728 - 6,583  (68403) 1,067425 12640032 18277703 12862 3936231 22,226,796
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity Zr S #E= S BR
For the year ended 31 December 2008 # %7 —EZE )\ F+ = H=+—HI F/ZF

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

KAARREAARERS
ital Special Property Investment Share option
Share  Share redemption  Goodwil  surplus  Statutory  Hedging revaluation revaluation Translation  Retained reseveofa  Minority Total
capital premium  reseve  reseve account  reserve  reserve  reseve  reseve  reseve  profits Total subsidiary ~interests  equity
-BHE
#x il S h& NBE  AF

Ba RER WERE BERE BARE AEER WAER ENGR ENGR EXRR REMA o BREGR BRREE WRER
HKS'000  HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000  HKS000
TEn FEn THEr TEn TR TAn TEn TEn FEn THEr  TEn  TEr  TEn  TEn  TEn

(Notea) ~ (Noteb) (Note.)
(Bita)  (Hiito) (Hiike)
Balance at 1 January 2008
83810 4505828 897 (791) 10594 31728 - 6583 (58403) 1057425 12640002 18277703 12,862 3936231 22.226,7%

Decrease n fair values of
avaliable-for-sale investments - - - - - - - - [3908%3) - - (390833) = - (39083)
Share of changes in reserve of
associates - - - - - - - - - 2% - 2% - - 2%
Loss on cash flow hedges - - - - - - (144780) - - - - (144780) - (88%) (153678)
Deferred tax recognised in relafion o
change In cash flow hedges - - - - - - 185% - - - - 185% - - 185%
Exchange differences arising on
translation to presentation cumency - - - - - - - - - 602806 - 602806 - 142219 745085
Fair value gain on properties
transferred to investment properties - - - - - - - 4705 - - - 4,706 - - 4706
Net income recognised directy in equty

- - - - - - (126255) 4705 (390833 625,786 - 113408 - 133081 246784
Proft for the year W@%MJ ° = o = - - - - - - 1705850 1,705,850 - 4501 213121
Reserves released upon e~
disposal of an associate ﬁéIZ Tﬁ‘ﬁ - - - - - - - - - (1m3) - (1m3) - - )
Transfer to proft or loss on llil
cash flow hedges = = = = = - 16717 = = = - 18717 = - 18717
Deferred tax on transfer to proft or
loss on cash flow hedges - - - - - - (1746) - - - - (174) - - (174
Impaiment loss on avable-for-sale
investments - - - - - - - - 63188 - - %1% - - W%
Investment revaluation reserve
released on disposal - - - - - - - - 36846 - - 36846 - - 36846
Total recognised income and REEERTL
expenses for the year WERFLEE - - - - - - (I11284) 4705 (100829) 625013 1705850 2123455 - G5B80 2682057
Issue of new shares from RftEERE
exercise of share opfions Gt 130 412 - - - - - - - - - LW - - QW
Share repurchased and cancelled (1014) (162893) 1,014 - - - - - - - (1014) (163907) - - (163907)
Recogntion of equty-settied
share based payments - - - - - - - - - - - - 2816 - 2816
Final dvidend for the year ended
31 December 2007

- - - - - - - - - - (590,183) (590,183) - - (690,183
Interim dividend for the year ended
31 December 2008

- - - - - - - - - - paTauT) (3T - - )
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 37) - - - - - - - - - - - - - 47586 47586
Acquisiton of additional interests 2ME
in subsiclaries - - - - - - - - - - - - - (3927) (B3927)
Contrloution from minority shareholders D ERR L EZUE - - - - - - - - - - - - - 13431 134321
Dividend paid to minority shareholders X FAERE KRS - - - - - - - - - - - - - [378573) (373573)
Transfer upon lapse of share opton REtBREAIMER = o - - - - - - - -1 1983 (1963) - -
Transfers 2 - - - - - B - - - - [5774) - - - -

16 (fo1761) 1,014 - - 5 - - - - (982,265) (1,047,112) 853 (245,593 (1,291,852)

Balance at 31 December 2008

83926 4,384,067 1911 (791) 10504 87502 (111284)  11.288  (150.282) 1,682.438 13,363,627 19354046 13715 4249440 23617.201

Notes: Bt & -

(a) Special surplus account represents the difference between the nominal (@) HARKBREEEARAZETHRMEEEARRD AR
amount of the shares issued by the Company and the nominal amount of —NMN=FREEESHRE 2B R RS BITRAR
the issued share capitals of the subsidiaries which were acquired by the BZZE%E -

Company under the group reorganisation in 1993.

(b) Statutory reserve represents the Enterprise Expansion Fund and General (b) AR TR S T B R AR R 2 A R AN BEABER
Reserve set aside by certain subsidiaries in accordance with the relevant FOEBRBHZ CEBAESN—RERES -
laws and regulations of the People’s Republic of China.

(© The property revaluation reserve of the Group represents the gain on © AEBYESHREHEERREETYERBAZYE -
revaluation of certain properties for own use of the Group as a result iE MR R R R E YR AEE 2 Sihas -

of transfer of those properties for own use from properties, plant and
equipment to investment properties.
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
IIV-F IE@UH:E%%

For the year ended 31 December 2008 # %= —EZE )\ F+ = H=+—HI F/F

2008 2007
- - [ el o3
HK$'000 HK$'000
T AL
OPERATING ACTIVITIES -E
Profit before taxation S aThevl 2,325,502 3,717,184
Adjustments for: B
Share of results of associates NG (369,807) (298,283)
Share of results of jointly controlled entities [E(L LR TR s 3,849 1,070
Amortisation of intangible assets EBERE 750 632
Depreciation of properties, plant and equipment mE  BERRENE 1,589,648 1,169,731
Impairment loss recognised in respect of trade B 5 R E A EURER
and other receivables R REEE 40,474 89,004
Dividends from available-for-sale investments AHHERE RS (22,566) (15,092)
Discount on acaquisition of subsidiaries WEEMB AR i# (11,395) -
Interest expenses and finance charges AEyHREMAREEH 329,369 287,664
Gain on disposal of investment properties MEREME Wi (143,745) -
Loss (gain) on disposal of available-for-sale HEMEHLERE
investments BB (&) 36,346 (85,664)
Gain on fair value change of conversion and AR RERREETE T
redemption option derivative AFEZE - (182,367)
Gain on fair value changes of investment properties & MELN ¥1E 5 Al (5,992) (5,118)
Gain on fair value changes of foreign currency MNERBENATEES
forward contracts b6 (502) (86)
Gain on fair value change of commodity HmEHENLTEES
forward contracts G (2,454) (368)
Release of prepaid lease payments BAREREAE 26,863 14,463
Discount on acquisition of additional interests in WERBLRBIMER 2 ITiE
subsidiaries (33,711) (962)
Interest income FISHA (62,309) (129,682)
Impairment loss on available-for-sale investments ARHERE ZRHAEEE 253,158 -
Imputed interest income on convertible bond AR EHEFISBA (602) (1,282)
Loss on disposal of convertible bond and interestin -~ HE AT EH K —FH
an associate BENA R B 189,697 -
Loss on disposal and write off of properties, HERMENE  BERE
plant and equipment 2B 3,713 10,864
Loss on disposal and deemed disposal of interestin -~ 1% K& {EH & — = A )
an associate EnEE - 23,658
Share based payment expenses MG ATHFES 2,816 4,448
Operating cash flows before movement in Kite& é“‘@jgu 25
working capital RERE 4,149,602 4,599,814
Decreasg (increase) in inventories FERL (Em) 164,443 (112,038)
Decrease (increase) in trade and B 5 REMERERT KB 7
other receivables and prepayments B> () 1,777,481 (1,273,719)
(Decrease) increase in trade and other payables B REMEREZ (Rd) #m (1,394,891) 985,586
(Decrease) increase in bills payable ANESEAC b (265,630) 207,384
Net increase in derivative financial instruments LRI AR FE 454 44,450
Increase in properties held for development FERMEEM (233,135) -
Cash generated from operations RS EIETRIE S 4,198,324 4,471,477
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid E%ﬁliﬁ BHGEH (1,288) (50,816)
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded BEREBHER 46,907 2,225
Other taxes paid HEiEHHE (197,441) (135,691)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES RexXBREROTH 4,046,502 4,287,195
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 425 £ R 2%

For the year ended 31 December 2008 &t —FEZ \#F+_-H=+—HI F/ZF

2008 2007
—EENE ZETLE
NOTE HK$000 HK$'000
(i THET THAT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES RE£HK
Purchase of properties, plant and equipment BEVE BERERE (3,286,469) (3,518,081)
Purchase of investment properties BEREYE (360,302) (1,084,477)
Purchase of available-for-sale investments HEIMHERE (752,707) (616,905)
Deposits paid for acquisition of BEVE  BERSE
properties, plant and equipment i EES (676,673) (993,168)
Capital injection/acquisition of associates 1E /IR T (29,907) (335,712)
Prepaid lease payments made EfBEMAEEDE (61,622) (784,506)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEMB AR 37 (259,351) (324,468)
Consideration paid for acquisition of WeBE B A BB MRS
additional interests in subsidiaries FITR(E (20,216) (449,728)
Purchase of convertible bond BEURRES = (108,000)
Purchase of intangible assets BEEVEE (261) (245)
Proceeds from disposal of HERBMEMSG
investment properties HIE 503,000 -
Proceeds from disposal of HERGRESMEIE
convertible bond 109,333 -
Proceeds from disposal of interest in HE—MBES N nERY
an associate FTS5UR 120,777 6,543
Proceeds from disposal of HEWE  BEKRE
properties, plant and equipment ZFT{S50E 47,729 88,222
Proceeds from disposal of HEARNEREL
available-for-sale investments PS8 146,283 678,393
Interest received BUFIS 62,309 129,682
Dividend received from an associate El—FERE R RRE 349,360 160,631
Dividends received from BRI R ER RS
available-for-sale investments 22,566 15,092
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING REXBFAREFE
ACTVITIES (4,086,151) (7,136,727)
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 4258 £ R 2%

For the year ended 31 December 2008 &t —FEZ \#F+_-H=+—HI F/ZF

2008 2007
ZEIN\E “TE+F
HK$°000 HK$'000
Ti#T THT
FINANCING ACTIVITIES RMEES
New bank borrowings raised ERITEE 8,199,044 4,157,458
Capital contributions from SRR EFIA
minority shareholders 134,321 104,436
Proceeds from exercise of share options B EREREIUE 42,262 19,822
Repayment of bank borrowings ERBIEE (5,852,605) (2,490,470)
Dividend paid on ordinary shares BIREBRRE (927,430) (1,084,229)
Dividend paid to minority shareholders YRFOERE RS (373,573) (206,863)
Interest and other finance charges paid EAMEREMBEER (349,228) (328,371)
Payment on repurchase of shares BER DA (163,907) -
NET CASH FROM FINANCING METBFERSRHE
ACTIVITIES 708,884 171,783
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH ReRALEEEAEM
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (R B8 669,235 (2,677,749)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FENzHeREEEHEER
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 3,494,011 6,094,405
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE Exggye
RATE CHANGES 62,011 77,355
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERZBEE&RESEHEER
AT THE END OF THE YEAR 4,225,257 3,494,011
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCES OF HeRkBeZEERERIN
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances and cash RITERREE 4,225,273 3,494,596
Bank overdrafts BIEX (16) (685)
4,225,257 3,494,011
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B R IR AR I AT

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —EF/\F+-HA=1—HIL FZ

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability and its shares
are listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The
addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section of the annual report.

The functional currency of the Group is Renminbi (“RMB”)
while the consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$”), which the management of
the Company considered is more beneficial for the users
of the consolidated financial statements.

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture
of laminates, copper foil, glass fabric, glass yarn, bleached
kraft paper, printed circuit boards (“PCBs”), chemicals,
liquid crystal displays (“LCDs”) and magnetic products.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments and interpretations (“new HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) which are or have become effective.

HKAS 39 & HKFRS 7 Reclassification of financial
(Amendments) assets

HK(FRIC)* — INT 11 HKFRS 2: Group and treasury
share transactions

HK(FRIC) — INT 12 Service concession
arrangements

HK(IFRIC) — INT 14 HKAS 19 — The limit on a
defined benefit asset,
minimum funding
requirements and their
interaction

The adoption of the new HKFRSs had no material effect
on how the results and financial position of the Group
for the current or prior accounting periods have been
prepared and presented. Accordingly, no prior period
adjustment has been required.
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZE)1F+_-H=+—HILFE

60

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and
revised standards, amendments or interpretations that

have been issued but are not yet effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKAS 1 (Revised)
HKAS 23 (Revised)
HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 32 & 1
(Amendments)

HKAS 39 (Amendment)

HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27

(Amendments)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKFRS 7 (Amendment)

HKFRS 8

HK(FRIC) — INT 9
& HKAS 39
(Amendments)

HK(IFRIC) — INT 13

HK(FRIC) - INT 15

HK(FRIC) - INT 16

HK(FRIC) - INT 17

HK(FRIC) — INT 18

Improvements to HKFRSs !

Presentation of financial
statements 2
Borrowing costs 2

Consolidated and separate
financial statements 8

Puttable financial instruments
and obligations arising on
liquidation 2

Eligible hedged items 8

Cost of an investment in a
subsidiary, jointly controlled
entity or associate 2

Vesting conditions and
cancellations 2

Business combinations 3

Improving disclosures about
financial instruments 2

Operating segments 2

Embedded derivatives 4

Customer loyalty programmes 5

Agreements for the
construction of real estate 2

Hedges of a net investment in
a foreign operation ©

Distribution of non—-cash assets

to owners 3

Transfer of assets from
customers 7
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (continued)

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009
except the amendments to HKFRS 5, effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2009.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009.

4 Effective for annual periods ending on or after 30 June 2009.

5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2008.

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 October
2008.

7 Effective for transfers on or after 1 July 2009.

IFRIC represents the International Financial Reporting
Interpretations Committee.

The adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the
accounting treatment for business combination for which
the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first
annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 July 2009.
HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect the accounting treatment for
changes in parent’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control, which will be accounted
for as equity transactions.

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) anticipate
that the application of other new or revised standards,
amendments or interpretations will have no material
impact on the results or financial position of the Group.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 75 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZE)1F+_-H=+—HILFE
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZE)1F+_-H=+—HILFE

62

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
using the historical cost basis except for investment
properties and certain financial instruments, which are
measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries) made up
to 31 December each year. Control is achieved where
the Company has the power to govern the financial and
operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits
from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to
the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with those used by other members of the
Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and
expenses are eliminated on consolidation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated
subsidiaries are presented separately from the Group’s
equity therein. Minority interests in the net assets consist
of the amount of those interests at the date of the original
business combination and the minority’s share of changes
in equity since the date of the combination. Losses
applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s
interest in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against
the interests of the Group except to the extent that the
minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an
additional investment to cover the losses.

On acquisition of additional interest in subsidiaries,
goodwill arising is calculated as the difference between
the consideration paid for the additional interest and the
carrying amount of the net assets of the subsidiaries
attributable to the additional interest acquired. If the
Group’s additional interest in the net assets of the
subsidiaries exceeds the consideration paid for the
additional interest, the excess is recognised immediately
in the consolidated income statement.

Business combinations

The acquisition of businesses is accounted for using
the purchase method. The cost of the acquisition is
measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the
date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or
assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group
in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus any costs
directly attributable to the business combination. The
acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under
HKFRS 3 “Business combinations” are recognised at their
fair values at the acquisition date.

3.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 75 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZE)1F+_-H=+—HILFE
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64

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset
and initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
cost of the business combination over the Group’s
interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised. If, after
reassessment, the Group’s interest in the net fair value of
the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination,
the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is
initially measured at the minority’s proportion of the net
fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
recognised.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the
power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or jointly
control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity
method, investments in associates are carried in the
consolidated balance sheet at cost as adjusted for post-
acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net assets
of the associates, less any identified impairment loss.
When the Group’s share of losses of an associate equals
or exceeds its interest in that associate (which includes
any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of
the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. An
additional share of losses is provided for and a liability is
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of that associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 425
For the year ended 31 December 2008 &t —FEZ \#F+_-H=+—HI F/ZF

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments in associates (continued)

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate
recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as
goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying
amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment
as part of the investment.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over the cost of acquisition after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the
Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s interest in the relevant associate.

Deemed disposal of interests in associates

Gain or loss on deemed disposal of interests in associates
represents the increase or decrease, respectively in the
Group’s share of the respective associate’s net assets
and adjusted for the release of goodwill and reserves
attributable to such change.

Jointly controlled entities

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment
of a separate entity in which ventures have joint control
over the economic activity of the entity are referred to as
jointly controlled entities.
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66

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Jointly controlled entities (continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of jointly controlled
entities are incorporated in the consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. Under
the equity method, investments in jointly controlled entities
are carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost as
adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s
share of the net assets of the jointly controlled entities,
less any identified impairment loss. When the Group’s
share of losses of a jointly controlled entity equals or
exceeds its interest in that jointly controlled entity (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group’s net investment in the jointly controlled
entity), the Group discontinues recognising its share of
further losses. An additional share of losses is provided
for and a liability is recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of that jointly controlled entity.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over the cost of acquisition after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When a group entity transacts with a jointly controlled
entity of the Group, profits or losses are eliminated to
the extent of the Group’s interest in the jointly controlled
entity.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 1 January 2005

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary for which
the agreement date is before 1 January 2005 represents
the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s
interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of the relevant acquiree at the date of acquisition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Goodwill (continued)

Gooawill arising on acquisitions prior to 1 January 2005
(continued)

For previously capitalised goodwill arising on acquisitions
after 1 January 2001, the Group has discontinued
amortisation from 1 January 2005 onwards, and such
goodwill is tested for impairment annually, and whenever
there is an indication that the cash generating unit to
which the goodwiill relates may be impaired.

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a subsidiary for
which the agreement date is on or after 1 January 2005
represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the
Group’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the relevant subsidiary
at the date of acquisition. Such goodwill is carried at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses.

Capitalised goodwill arising on an acquisition of a
subsidiary is presented separately in the consolidated
balance sheet.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill arising
from an acquisition is allocated to each of the relevant
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of
the acquisition. A cash-generating unit to which goodwiill
has been allocated is tested for impairment annually,
and whenever there is an indication that the unit may
be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a
financial year, the cash-generating unit to which goodwiill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end
of that financial year. When the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount
of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit first,
and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the
basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognised directly in the
consolidated income statement. An impairment loss for
goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Goodwill (continued)

Gooawill arising on acquisitions prior to 1 January 2005
(continued)

On subsequent disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable
amount of goodwill capitalised is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at cost, including any directly attributable expenditure.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are measured at their fair values using the fair value
model. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair
value of investment properties are included in profit or
loss for the period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are
expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in the consolidated
income statement in the year in which the item is
derecognised.

Properties held for development
Properties held for development are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value.

Costs relating to the development of properties,
comprising prepaid lease payments for lands and
development costs, are included in properties held for
development until such time when they are completed.

Annual Report 2008 Kingboard Chemical Holdings Limited
—TT/\FEH BETEE

3.

FESHBEK 2

HE(E)
Ro-EERE—H—AREKERFELS
EE(E)

HpHE—HRBARR - BIEERbe
BERGEEERNHERFAEEREZE
L

REME
REMETFHERDES K, REREE
2 °

R FHERE - REMETIRKATE
BREEMERELRS - RITHERIE
BREMEBERNFEARFERAGE - &
EMEATEEPELZ BB ARLES
HEZEmA e

BREMENHER  HEXARLERZ
REME  REMLETSELRRLE
Mk FIR R o SIRTERZEEMEL
ZEMBEIZEEMSHREFEREZE
EREERZ ZEAE - Lt AIRER
THEFE ZHFEWERA °

FBREME
et R IR AR K A B IR FEME 28
EEDIR °

BRYEEBZER (BRI ANHEE
FREARBERKN)GHAFERDE  BEE
TERERBLE



SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Properties, plant and equipment

Properties, plant and equipment (other than properties,
plant and equipment under construction) at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of
properties, plant and equipment other than the properties,
plant and equipment under construction over their
estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their
estimated residual value, using the straight-line method
(see Note 19 for the depreciation rates per annum of the
items of properties, plant and equipment).

Properties, plant and equipment under construction,
representing properties, plant and equipment in the
course of construction for production or for its own
use purposes, are carried at cost less any recognised
impairment loss. Properties, plant and equipment under
construction is classified to the appropriate category of
properties, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on
the same basis as other property assets, commences
when the assets are ready for their intended use.

An owner-occupied property is transferred to investment
property at fair value when it is evidenced by end of
owner-occupation. The difference between the fair
value and the carrying amount at the date of transfer is
recognised in property revaluation reserve in accordance
with HKAS 16 “Property, plant and equipment”. On the
subsequent sale or retirement of the asset, the relevant
revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to retained
profits.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Properties, plant and equipment (continued)

An item of properties, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of
the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of
the asset (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is
included in the consolidated income statement in the year
in which the item is derecognised.

Leasehold land and buildings under development for
future owner-occupied purpose

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course
of development for production or for administrative
purposes, the leasehold land component is classified as a
prepaid lease payment and amortised over a straight-line
basis over the lease term. During the construction period,
the amortisation charge provided for the leasehold land is
included as part of costs of buildings under construction.
Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any
identified impairment losses. Depreciation of buildings
commences when they are available for use (i.e. when
they are in the location and condition necessary for them
to be capable of operating in the manner intended by
management).

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost comprises direct materials
and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those
overheads that have been incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Cost
is calculated using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price less
all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred
in marketing, selling and distribution.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation
for intangible assets with finite useful lives (excluding
mining right) is provided on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives.

Amortisation for mining right with finite useful life is
amortised using the units of production method over the
total proven reserves of the coal mines.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset are measured at the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset
and are recognised in the consolidated income statement
when the asset is derecognised.

Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an
expense in the period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from
development expenditure is recognised only if it is
anticipated that the development costs incurred on a
clearly-defined project will be recovered through future
commercial activity. The resultant asset is amortised
on a straight-line basis over its useful life, and carried at
cost less subsequent accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated
intangible asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred
from the date when the intangible asset first meets
the recognition criteria. Where no internally generated
intangible asset can be recognised, development
expenditure is charged to profit or loss in the period in
which it is incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Intangible assets (continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
identified and recognised separately from goodwill where
they satisfy the definition of an intangible asset and their
fair values can be measured reliably. The cost of such
intangible assets is their fair value at the acquisition date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Impairment

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are tested for
impairment when there is an indication that an asset may
be impaired (see the accounting policies in respect of
impairment losses (other than goodwiill) below).

Impairment losses (other than goodwill (see the
accounting policies in respect of goodwill))

At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets
to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. In addition,
intangible assets with indefinite useful lives and intangible
assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment
annually, and whenever there is an indication that they
may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of an asset
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are
classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis
over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an
incentive to enter into an operating lease are recognised
as a reduction of rental expense over the lease term on a
straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

The land and building elements of a lease of land and
building are considered separately for the purpose of
lease classification, unless the lease payments cannot
be allocated reliably between the land and building
elements, in which case, the entire contract is treated as
a finance lease and accounted for as properties, plant
and equipment. To the extent the allocation of the lease
payments can be made reliably, leasehold interests in land
are accounted as operating leases, except for those that
are classified and accounted for as investment properties
under fair value model.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates) at the rates of exchange prevailing
on the dates of the transactions. At each balance sheet
date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the balance
sheet date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary items,
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of
non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in
profit or loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
entities are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the balance sheet date, and their income and
expenses are translated at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised as a separate
component of equity (the translation reserve). Such
exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which a foreign operation is disposed of.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets and
liabilities of that foreign operation and retranslated at
the rate of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet
date. Exchange differences arising are recognised in the
translation reserve.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation
before 1 January 2005 is treated as non-monetary foreign
currency items of the acquirer and reported using the
historical cost prevailing at the date of acquisition.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets,
are capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.
Capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
state-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes are charged as an
expense when employees have rendered service entitling
them to the contributions.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in
the consolidated income statement because it excludes
items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax
is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit, and
is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled
or the asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited
to profit or loss, except when it relates to items charged
or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred
tax is also dealt with in equity.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on
the balance sheet when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial
assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or
deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or
financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into (i) financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), (ii)
loans and receivables and (i) available-for-sale financial
assets. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at FVTPL has two subcategories,
including financial assets held for trading and those
designated at FVTPL on initial recognition.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near future; or

° it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial
instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition, financial assets at FVTPL are measured at
fair value, with changes in fair value recognised directly in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial assets.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. At each balance sheet date
subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables
(including convertible bond - loan portion, non—current
deposits, trade and other receivables and bank balances)
are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any identified impairment losses (see
accounting policy on impairment of financial assets
below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that
are either designated or not classified as financial assets
at FVTPL, loans and receivables or held-to-maturity
investments.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are
measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are
recognised in equity, until the financial asset is disposed
of or is determined to be impaired, at which time, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity
is removed from equity and recognised in profit or loss
(see accounting policy on impairment of financial assets
below).

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have
a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured and derivatives that are
linked to and must be settled by delivery of such unquoted
equity instruments, they are measured at cost less any
identified impairment losses at each balance sheet date
subsequent to initial recognition (see accounting policy on
impairment of financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed
for indicators of impairment at each balance sheet date.
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset,
the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets
have been impacted.

For an available-for-sale equity investment, a significant
or prolonged decline in the fair value of that investment
below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of
impairment.

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of
impairment could include significant financial difficulty
of the issuer or counterparty; or it becoming probable
that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-
organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment
on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment
for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s
past experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past
the average credit period of 120 days and observable
changes in National or local economic conditions that
correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount
of impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss when
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows discounted at the original effective interest
rate.

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the
impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the current
market rate of return for a similar financial asset. Such
impairment loss will not be reversed in subsequent
periods.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by
the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount
is reduced through the use of an allowance account.
Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable
is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in
a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment losses was
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the
carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would
have been had the impairment not been recognised.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale equity investments
will not be reversed in profit or loss in subsequent periods.
Any increase in fair value subsequent to impairment loss is
recognised directly in equity.

Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a
group entity are classified according to the substance
of the contractual arrangements entered into and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of the group after deducting
all of its liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are
generally classified into financial liabilities at FVTPL and
other financial liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest
basis.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at FVTPL are financial liabilities held for
trading.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if:

° it has been incurred principally for the purpose of
repurchasing in the near future; or

° it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial
instruments that the Group manages together and
has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.

At each balance sheet date subsequent to initial
recognition, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss are measured at fair value, with changes in fair value
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any interest paid on the financial liabilities.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities including trade and other
payables, bills payable and bank borrowings are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded
at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at each balance sheet
date. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and
effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the
timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the
nature of the hedge relationship.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are
deemed as financial assets held for trading or financial
liabilities held for trading and are classified as current
assets or current liabilities.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts
are treated as separate derivatives when their risks and
characteristics are not closely related to those of the host
contracts and the host contracts are not measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain derivatives as hedges of
the cash flow of floating-rate bank borrowings (i.e. interest
rate swap contracts).

At the inception of the hedging relationship, the Group
documents the relationship between the hedging
instrument and hedged item, along with its risk
management objectives and its strategy for undertaking
various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception
of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group
documents whether the hedging instrument that is used
in a hedging relationship is highly effective in offsetting
changes in cash flows of the hedged item.

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of
derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow
hedges are deferred in equity (hedging reserve). The gain
or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as other gains or losses.

Amounts deferred in equity are recycled in profit or loss in
the periods when the hedged item is recognised in profit
or loss.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group
revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument
expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised, or no longer
qualifies for hedge accounting. Any cumulative gain or
loss deferred in equity at that time remains in equity and
is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately
recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast transaction is
no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss
that was deferred in equity is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial
assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
financial assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised directly
in equity is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled
or expires. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Share-based payment transactions

Share options granted on or before 7 November 2002,
or granted after 7 November 2002 and vested before 1
January 2005

The financial impact of share options granted is not
recorded in the consolidated financial statements until
such time as the options are exercised, and no charge
is recognised in the consolidated income statement in
respect of the value of option granted. Upon the exercise
of the share options, the resulting shares issued are
recorded as additional share capital at the nominal value
of the shares, and the excess of the exercise price per
share over the nominal value of the shares is recorded in
the share premium account. Options which lapse or are
cancelled prior to their exercise date are deleted from the
register of outstanding options.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Share-based payment transactions (continued)
Share options granted on or before 7 November 2002,
or granted after 7 November 2002 and vested before 1
January 2005 (continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to directors and employees of
the Group

The fair value of services received determined by
reference to the fair value of share options granted at the
grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the
vesting period, with a corresponding increase in the share
option reserve.

At each balance sheet date, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to ultimately
vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates during
the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss,
with a corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised,
the amount previously recognised in the share option
reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the
share options are forfeited after vesting date or are still
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
retained profits.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts
receivables for goods sold and services provided in the
normal course of business, net of discounts, return and
sales related taxes.

Service income for drilling services is recognised when
services are provided.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a
time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and
at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies which are described in Note 3, management has
made the following estimation that have significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements. The following are the key assumptions
concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
units to which goodwill has been allocated. The value
in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the
future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order
to calculate the present value. Where the actual future
cash flows are less than expected, an impairment loss
may arise. At 31 December 2008, the carrying amounts
of goodwill arising from acquisition of subsidiaries and
associates were approximately HK$2,005,658,000
(2007: HK$2,005,658,000) and HK$147,087,000 (2007:
HK$152,820,000) respectively. Details of the recoverable
amount calculations of subsidiaries and associates are
disclosed in Notes 21 and 22 respectively.

3.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 4.

UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Income taxes

At 31 December 2008, deferred tax assets of (i)
approximately HK$8,628,000 (2007: HK$9,303,000)
in relation to unused tax losses; (ii) approximately
HK$16,779,000 (2007: Nil) in relation to loss on cash
flow hedge recognised in hedging reserve; and (iii)
approximately HK$13,589,000 (2007: HK$23,090,000)
in relation to write-down of inventories have been
recognised in the Group’s consolidated balance sheet.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised on the tax
losses of HK$92,286,000 (2007: HK$64,334,000) due to
the unpredictability of future profit stream. The realisability
of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on whether
sufficient future assessable profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where
the actual future assessable profits generated are less or
more than expected, a reversal or further recognition of
deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised
in profit and loss for the period in which such a reversal or
recognition takes place.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the group
entities will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank
borrowings, cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to equity holders of the Company, comprising
share capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the
directors of the Company consider the cost of capital
and will balance its overall capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues and share buy-
packs as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption
of existing debt.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. ST A
6a. Categories of financial instruments 6a. LT EER
2008 2007
—ETN\E “RELF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TERL FAT
Financial assets MIBEEE
Fair value through profit or loss BEEEARLTE
(FVTPL) - held for trading SABEZHBEE
— derivative financial —TESMTA
instruments 3,468 2,812
— conversion and redemption — TR R% & FE i 2 4
option derivative PTETE = 205,461
3,468 208,273
Loans and receivables EFRENER (RERE
(including cash and cash RReEEER)
equivalents)
— non—current deposits —JEnBEI® 1,413,450 993,168
— trade and other —B5KEM
receivables JEULER FK 5,176,780 6,102,586
— convertible bond (loan portion) — Al R ES (B E SR - 86,188
- bank balances and cash —iRTTER KRS 4,225,273 3,494,596
10,815,503 10,676,538
Avalilable-for-sale investments At HERE 780,248 564,657
Financial liabilities WiEaE
Fair value through profit or loss HEEE B AFERTA
(FVTPL) — held for trading BRI aE 1,940 1,184
Derivative instruments in HEIEEL e THIER
designated hedge ZOTETE
accounting relationships 136,961 -
Amortised cost B SHA AN
— trade and other payables —E 5 REMEMER 2,943,089 2,759,661
— bills payable —ERRIE 615,362 880,992
— bank borrowings —iRITEE 9,702,271 7,249,712
13,260,722 10,890,365
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6.

90

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments
include equity investments, convertible bond
(loan portion), derivative financial instruments,
conversion and redemption option derivative, non-
current deposits, bank balances and cash, bank
borrowings, trade and other receivables, trade and
other payables and bills payable. Details of the
financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments and the policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign
currency sales and purchases, which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk. Approximately
39.0% (2007: 33.5%) of the Group’s sales
are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currency of the group entity making
the sale, whilst almost 33.8% (2007: 32.7%) of
purchases are denominated in currencies other
than the group entity’s functional currency.

The carrying amount of the Group’s foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and
liabilities at the balance sheet dates are disclosed
in respective notes. During the year, the Group
has entered into certain foreign currency forward
contracts to hedge against part of its exposure to
potential variability of foreign currency risk arising
from changes in foreign exchange exposure. The
management continuously monitors the foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging
foreign currency risk should the need arise.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group mainly exposes to currency of
United States Dollars (“US$”) and Euro. The
following table details the Group’s sensitivity
to a 10% (2007: 5%) increase and decrease in
RMB against the relevant foreign currencies.
10% (2007: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used
when reporting foreign currency risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. As a
result of the volatile financial market in 2008, the
management adjusted the sensitivity rate from 5%
to 10% for the purpose of assessing the foreign
currency risk. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items and adjusts their translation at the
year end for a 10% (2007: 5%) change in foreign
currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
trade and other receivables, bank balances, trade
and other payables, bills payables as well as bank
borrowings. A positive number below indicates an
increase in post-tax profit for the year where RMB
strengthen 10% (2007: 5%) against the relevant
currency. For a 10% (2007: 5%) weakening of
RMB against the relevant currency, there would
be an equal and opposite impact on the post-tax
profit for the year.

6. ®@MIR#®

6b.

MBEREEEERBE(E)

TS AR (&)

SRR (&)

BEEZT
AEEEEEHET(ET]) RE
THEEER - TRALAEEY
AR ERINEFER10%(=F
TEF 5%) WEUREE ° 10%(=
TTLF  5%) RAKEARAE
REE ABEHRINE R TR
RUZLLER - JRRE IR B HSMERE X
ARz A BEFREE - R
TRMENR_ZEN\FRY - 8
JE # SF A SN B 2 B B 5%
HEBH10% - GUREDMBIE M AR
FMLSNESIEMEIEIRR - HF
REZ10%(—FFLF : 5%) &
BERBRE - RRENTERE
Z R EMEWERSR - iRITHER - B
HREMENERR - BNRERR
1IfEE - FEBRRARK N ERER
FHE10%(—FFTLF : 5%) 6 -
AEFRBREBFBAIEM - BA
REABEBAEEKI0%(—EETL
F 1 5% - AIREHAFERBIL
wBABREFHERNTE -

2008 2007

—ZE)\F —EBEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

TET T

us$ ETT (160,988) (49,867)
Euro BT 22,958 8,398

The management consider that the exposure of
the outstanding foreign currency forward contracts
at the balance sheet date as a result of the change
in foreign currency exchange rate is not significant
as the exchange rate of HK$ is pegged against
US$.

BEERR  ANETEREST
Hea - FILSMNEER B 5| B2 R
FBEBHARIBINEERE VAR
WTERK °
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6.

o2

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to floating-rate bank borrowings
(see Note 33 for details of these borrowings).
In relation to these floating-rate borrowings, the
Group aims at keeping certain borrowings at fixed
rates. In order to achieve this result, the Group
entered into interest rate swap contracts to hedge
against its exposure to potential variability of cash
flows arising from changes in floating interest
rates (see Note 31 for details). The management
continuously monitors interest rate fluctuation
and will consider further hedging interest rate risk
should the need arise.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to fixed-rate bank borrowings
(see Note 33 for details of these borrowings). The
management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider repay the fixed-rate bank
borrowings when significant interest rate exposure
is anticipated.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on
financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk
management section of this note. The Group’s
cash flow interest rate risk is mainly related to the
fluctuation of HIBOR arising from the Group’s
Hong Kong dollars denominated borrowings.

The Group’s bank balances have exposure to
cash flow interest rate risk due to the fluctuation
of the prevailing market interest rate on bank
balances. The Group is also exposed to fair value
interest rate risk relates to its fixed-rate short-
term bank deposits. The Directors consider the
Group’s exposure of the short-term bank deposits
to interest rate risk is not significant as interest
bearing bank balances are within short maturity
period.
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for interest bearing bank balances and
bank borrowings as well as interest rate swap
contracts at the balance sheet date. The analyses
are prepared assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the balance sheet date were
outstanding for the whole year. A 100 basis points
(2007: 50 basis points) increase or decrease is
used when reporting interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonable
possible change in interest rates.

The management adjusted the sensitivity rate from
50 basis points to 100 basis points for assessing
interest rate after considering the impact of the
volatile financial market conditions after the third
quarter of 2008.

If interest rate had been 100 basis points (2007:
50 basis points) higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s:

o post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2008 would decrease/increase
by HK$32,353,000 (2007: decrease/
increase by HK$27,339,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group’s exposure to
interest rates on its interest bearing bank
balances and variable-rate borrowings; and

o the debt side hedging reserve would
decrease/increase by HK$102,223,000
(2007: Nil) mainly as a result of the changes
in the fair value of interest rate swap
contracts.

6.

eMTR#)

6b.
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ERBEENARZIE - 100185 F
—TEZALF  50fEFF)ILRAR
SEANEREZEIEA B ERAN X
RkFAE  TREEBRESEMNES
BBEREM AT o

EEEEE_TT/\FE=FKE
BTSRRRB 2 FEE BT
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6.

94

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk
through its investments in listed equity securities.
The management manages this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with different
risk profiles and the Group has a team to monitor
the price risk and will consider hedging the risk
exposure should the need arise.

In addition, the Group was also exposed to
equity price risk arising from convertible bond
at 31 December 2007. The fair values of the
conversion and redemption option derivatives of
the convertible bond were estimated using Black-
Scholes Option Pricing Model and Binomial Model,
respectively. Details of the convertible bond are
set out in Note 24.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to equity price
risk at the reporting date. For sensitivity analysis
purpose, the sensitivity rate is increased from 5%
to 15% in the current year as a result of the volatile
financial market after the third quarter of 2008.

If the prices of the respective available-for-sales
equity listed securities, which have been impaired
at the balance sheet date, had been 15% higher
(2007: 5% higher):

o post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2008 would increase by
approximately HK$31,258,000 (2007: Nil)
as a result of the change in fair value of
these available-for-sale investments; and
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Equity price risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

° no change in investment revaluation
reserve for the years ended 31 December
2007 and 2008 would be resulted.

If the prices of the respective available-for-sales
equity listed securities, which have been impaired
at the balance sheet date, had been 15% lower
(2007: 5% lower):

o post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2008 would decrease by
approximately HK$31,258,000 (2007: Nil)
as a result of the change in fair value of
these available-for-sale investments; and

° no change in investment revaluation
reserve for the years ended 31 December
2007 and 2008 would be resulted.

If the prices of the respective available-for-sales
equity listed securities, which have not been
impaired at the balance sheet date, had been 15%
higher (2007: 5% higher):

° investment revaluation reserve would
increase by approximately HK$82,730,000
(2007: HK$27,217,000) as a result of the
change in fair value of these available-for-
sale investments; and

° no change in post-tax profit for the years
ended 31 December 2007 and 2008 would
be resulted.
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6.

96

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Equity price risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis (continued)

If the prices of the respective available-for-sales
equity listed securities, which have not been
impaired at the balance sheet date, had been 15%
lower (2007: 5% lower):

o post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2008 would decrease by
approximately HK$50,135,000 (2007: Nil)
as a result of the change in fair value of
these available-for-sale investments; and

o investment revaluation reserve would
decrease by approximately HK$32,595,000
(2007: HK$27,217,000) as a result of the
change in fair value of these available-for-
sale investments.

Commodity price risk

The Group was exposed to commodity price risk
from the outstanding commodity forward contracts
at the balance sheet date. The management
consider that the price risks of these derivative
instruments are not significant to the Group.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
the event of the counterparties’ failure to perform
their obligations at 31 December 2008 in relation
to each class of recognised financial assets is
the carrying amount of those assets as stated
in the consolidated balance sheet. In order to
minimise the credit risk, the board of Directors
has delegated the management responsible for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and
other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual trade debt at each
balance sheet date to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the Directors consider
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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6.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

6b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

The credit risk for bank deposits and bank
balances exposed is considered minimal as such
amounts are placed with various banks with
good credit ratings and there is no significant
concentration of credit risk.

The Group has no significant concentration of
credit risk on trade and other receivables with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties
and customers. However, the Group is exposed
to the concentration on geographic segment of
the PRC. At 31 December 2008, approximately
83% (2007: 78%) of the Group’s trade and other
receivables are arising from the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”).

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the
Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of
bank borrowings and ensure compliance with loan
covenants.

The Group relies on bank borrowings as a
significant source of liquidity. As at 31 December
2008, the Group has available unutilised
bank borrowings facilities of approximately
HK$7,460,317,000 (2007: HK$8,968,937,000).

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities and
derivative financial instruments. For non-derivative
financial liabilities, the table has been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows.

For derivative instruments settled on a net basis,
undiscounted net cash (inflows) outflows are
presented.
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6.

98

B IR MR

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. eMITR =)
6b. Financial risk management objectives and 6b. BXEREEEERBEE)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) BEESEE ()
Liquidity and interest risk tables EHE S R RER R
Over Over
3 months 1year Over2
Weighted but not butnot  years but Total
average morethan  morethan  not more undiscounted
effective 1 year 2years than 5 years cash flows
inerestrate Lessthan ZERMLE  —#ME  WEME Over AR Camying
miEFYy 3months EFEE EFEE EFEE  Syears HEEE  amount
ERfE  =f@AR 3 AE I%  @8iF ] IEE(E
% HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS$'000
Bl Ti#x T TR TiEn TR THET TiEn
Asat 31 December 2008 R=EENE
tZR=1-A
Non-derivative financial ~ FAT4817KEE
[iabities
Trade and other payables ~ BELEMEMESR - 2,130,166 812,923 - - - 2043089 2,943,089
Bills payable ERZE - 615,362 - - - - 615362 615362
Bank borrowings RKTRE
- fixed rate ) 6.7 - 8,469 - - - 8,469 7,931
- Variable rate -%8 33 286,206  1,199571 976465 2,167,988 46853 4,677,173 4,527,634
-variablerate hedged by —Z 8 (LAFIE
interest rate swap BEANER)
contracts 34 330580 871442 1,229860 2,908,563 - 5340445 5,166,700
3362404  2,892405 2,206,325 5,076,551 46,853 13,584,538 13,260,722
Derivatives - net settlement 474 1.8 ~#5 55
Commodty forward contracts FmE A4 - (2,634) - - - - (2,634) (2,454)
Foreign curency forward ~ SMEREEA4)
contracts - 12) (465) - - - (837) (502)
Interest rate swap contracts  F|EHEAL) o 9,104 24,000 35,523 78,451 - 147078 138,389
6,398 23,535 35,528 78,451 - 143907 135433
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. eMI Rz
6b. Financial risk management objectives and 6b. BIHEEKRETEBEERBEZE)
policies (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) EEEER(E)
Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued) RS RA AR ()
Over Over
3months 1year Over2
Weighted but not butnot  years but Total
average morethan  morethan ~ notmore undiscounted
effective 1 year 2 years  than 5 years cash flows

nterestrate Lessthan =AML  —EME  WENE Over ¥E  Camying
MEFS  3monhs  BFER  EFERE  ATHE  Syas  RERE  amount
ENHE  =[AR —f E nF HAnE % R
% HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000
Bkt Thr T Thr T Tt ThL Thr

Asat 31 December 2007 W=EELE

T-B=1-H
Non-derivative financial FTEHREE
iabilties
Tradeand other payables ~ EHREMERES - 2322518 437,143 - - - 2759661 2,759,661
Bils payable EREE - 880992 - - - - 880992 880992
Bank borrowings RlEE
~fixed rate s 43 49870 5512 29334 27506 - 105222 101452
- variable rate -%8 47 496550 1285655 1560103 4680308 115155 8137780 7,148,260

3742939 1728310 1,589,437 4707814 115,156 11,883,605 10,890,365

Derivative - net settlement /74 T2 4255

Commoity forward contract &4 = (372) - - - - (372) (368)

Foreign curency forward — SNERHA%

contracts - (16) (37) (63) - - (106) (66)

Interest rate swap contracts & EAL) - (1,186) - - = = (1,186)  (1,174)
(1574) @7) (3) - - (1ee4)  (1628)
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 6. E&mMTHR =)
6¢c. Fair value 6c. A¥E

The fair value of financial assets and financial

BBEERMBEEZATFERZRT
liabilities are determined as follows: S REE:

the fair value of financial assets and
financial liabilities with standard terms and
conditions and traded on active liquid
markets are determined with reference to
quoted market bid prices and ask prices
respectively;

the fair value of other financial assets and
financial liabilities (except for derivatives)
are determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based
on discounted cash flow analysis using
prices or rates from observable current
market transactions as input;

the fair values of conversion and
redemption option derivative are estimated
using Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model
and Binomial Model, respectively; and

the fair value of other derivative financial
instruments are measured at fair value
by reference to the valuation provided by
counterparty financial institutions for these
instruments.

ARG RIS
BAmsEE  MKEE
M BaBEZ A FEDFIZ
Eminide ERENER
BETE

REEERZNEBRN -
BRI REDN - EE
Hib B EENRMEEE
(PTETERRINAFE
FHRARSREDITEAR
K52 5 BB B A
RIERER

5 BIbA 7% — &7 T
AR B - s
ARG R I B3R BT T
AATE R

HAFTE BT AATET)
EEERSTAZRSHE
RN G2 (1A - R
FAEAE -

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts ARABEERE » AR AN 8%
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded REBTTIERERZMEEE NI
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial BEZEEERARNTEES °
statements approximate their fair values.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 75 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZE)1F+_-H=+—HILFE

7. REVENUE 7. Bx8
Revenue represents the net amounts received and LEBEAEENSFEFNBHINEFHE
receivable by the Group from the sale of goods to outside ERORITI - EERIEEHRBERE) RIR
customers, net of discounts, returns and sales related HIRBEZ T R EWR SR F5E DT
taxes and services rendered by the Group, for each year T
and is analysed as follows:
2008 2007
—ESENEF —ETLE
HK$°000 HK$’000
TFHERT T
Sale of laminates & B E R 7,144,369 7,590,476
Sale of PCBs $HE ENRI4R IR 7,869,817 7,601,201
Sale of chemicals HECTESR 7,451,656 3,806,630
Others (Note) At (i) 1,215,559 1,026,805
23,681,401 20,025,112
Note:  Amount included service income which amounted to fieE - BIERREUA26,863,0008 T ( Z T F -
HK$26,863,000 (2007: HK$28,637,000). 28,637,0007T) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 44

For the year ended 31 December 2008 &t —FEZ )\ F+_—H=+—HI F/Z

102

BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL
SEGMENTS

Business segments

For management purposes, the Group is currently
organised into four operating divisions — laminates, PCBs,
chemicals and others. These divisions are the basis on
which the Group reports its primary segment information.

Segment information about these divisions is presented
below:

Laminates

B IR MR

8.

PCBs

EAmER  EIRIRER

RERMES

%1552
EEESE - AEEE HHREALER
PI-TE AT - EDRIRISIR - (L TG RE
f o HEHPIAXEEBREEBHHE
$ 20 -

™

ZEHFIZ D BMEMM T2 :

p=1ll

Chemicals Others Eliminations Consolidated

ftIES Hfto 5| ]

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET TET
Year ended 31 December 2008  HE-ZSN\E
+ZRA=+-HLEE
Segment revenue BNl G
External sales HONHER 744369 7,869,817 7,451,656  1,215559 - 23,681,401
Inter-segment sales DR HES 2,493,791 - 2,012,603 387,644  (4,894,038) -
Total Azt 9,638,160 7,869,817 9,464,259 1,603,203  (4,894,038) 23,681,401
Result E3
Segment result NEEE 1,390,975 586,932 763,756 56,770 - 2,798,433
Impairment loss on available- AREHEREY
for-sale investments REEE - - - - - (258,158)
Loss on disposal of convertible HETHRRES
bond B - - - - - (182,918)
Loss on disposal of interest in k= NG|
an associate s ER - - (6,779) - - (6,779)
Discount on acquisition of WEEH B A RIEIN
additional interests in G WA
subsidiaries 26,800 6,911 - - - 33,711
Discount on acquisition of WEHB AR 2 iTE
subsidiaries - 8,091 3,304 - - 11,395
Unallocated corporate income RARZDAMA 177,311
Unallocated corporate expenses AR Z ARG (289,148)
Finance costs AR (329,369)
Share of results of associates NG E - - 369,807 - - 369,807
Share of results of jointly AR EREE
controlled entities - - - (3,849) - (3,849)
Profit before taxation BB A Al 2,325,502
Income tax expense SRR (194,231)
Profit for the year REFRH 2,131,271

Inter-segment sales are charged by reference to market
prices.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 75 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZ )1 F+_-H=+—HILFE

8. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL 8. KERBERSS )
SEGMENTS (continued)
Business segments (continued) EERDI(4Z)
Laminates PCBs Chemicals Others Consolidated
EEE RIS tIER Rt &8
HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET
Year ended 31 December 2008 HE_ZE)\&
+ZAZ+-HLEFE
Other information Hip &
Capital additions BARIER 1,096,936 1,134,768 1,352,956 716,004 4,300,664
Depreciation and amortisation HEREH 750,452 514,032 266,061 59,853 1,590,398
Impairment loss recognised in REHREMER
respect of trade and ERHER 2 AEES
other receivables 8,101 18,457 13,916 - 40,474
Gain on disposal of investment HERENE 2 g
properties - - - 143,745 143,745
Release of prepaid lease ENREFERE
payments 6,095 6,906 9,087 4,775 26,363
Loss on disposal and write off & R
of properties, plant and R R&EER
equipment 608 1,055 1,822 228 3,713
Share based payment BB A TS
eXPenses - 2,816 - - 2,816
At 31 December 2008 AZ22N\E+ZA=+-H
Assets BE
Segment assets DHEE 11,310,226 9,852,236 9,562,221 2,628,443 33,353,126
Interests in jointly controlled RAERREBE 7 B
entities - - - 10,435 10,435
Investments in associates NI - - 686,133 - 686,133
Unallocated corporate assets AN AREE 4,191,771
Consolidated total assets HRBENE 38,241,465
Liabilities afk
Segment liabilities PHEE (1,171,358)  (1,182,150) (1,311,940)  (526,149) (4,191,597)
Unallocated corporate o) WANGII=L
liabilties (10,432,667)
Consolidated total liabilties mEARLE (14,624,264)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B iSRRI+
For the year ended 31 December 2008 &t —FEZ \#F+_-H=+—HI F/ZF

8. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL 8. KERBERE =)
SEGMENTS (continued)
Business segments (continued) EBHE (&)

Laminates PCBs  Chemicals Others  Eliminations - Consolidated
BRER  HRgER  CIEM At Eaf e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THT THL TAT THT TEL TAT

Year ended 31 December 2007 HE-ZZ+F
+-A=+—HLEFE
Segment revenue Pl
External sales HIMEER 7,590,476 7,601,201 3,806,630 1,026,805 - 20,025,112
Inter-segment sales DEECHER 2,685,747 - 1,619,058 217527 (4,582,332) -
Total il 10,276,223 7,601,201 5,425,688 1,304,332  (4,582,332) 20,025,112
Result E3
Segment result PR e 2,126,782 578,574 658,061 90,891 - 3,454,308
Loss on disposal and WERFELE—R
deemed disposal of interest BERRER BE
in an assoclate - (23,658) - - - (23,658)
Gain on fair value change of AR B
conversion and redemption fTETAZAYE
option derivative 2Elha = - - - - 18237
Discount on acquisition of WE—RHBARE
additional interest in a Bm e
subsidlary - = - 962 - 962
Unallocated corporateincome kAR ZAEMKA 349,673
Unallocated corporate KRR ART M
EXDENses (256,017)
Finance costs RERA (287,664)
Share of results of associates  [EHECEATIZE = 2182 296,101 - - 298283
Share of results of jointly R LREHEREE
controlled entities - - = (1,070) = (1,070)
Profit before taxation BEATRF 3,717,184
Income tax expense PR (245,030)
Profit for the year KEEEF 3,472,154
Inter-segment sales are charged by reference to market DEEZHERIISEMEAE -

prices.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 75 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZE)1F+_-H=+—HILFE

8. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL 8. KERBERS 2
SEGMENTS (continued)
Business segments (continued) EBHE (&)
Laminates PCBs  Chemicals Others  Consolidated
EHER HRSER  (CIEM At e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Tin Tin TiEn T
Year ended 31 December 2007 HE-TRLE
TZRA=T-BIt5E
Other information HiEs
Capital additions NP 1,515,028 756,006 2,623,316 1233569 6,127,919
Depreciation and amortisation HEREH 492876 440,737 178,045 58,705 1,170,363
Impairment loss recognised in HEHREMEKER
respect of trade and other R REFE

receivables 19,854 39,107 30,043 = 89,004

Loss on disposal and write off of ~ HE RiisEE -

properties, plant and equipment BB kiR G2 EE 896 6,279 3,689 = 10,864
Release of prepaid lease ENREREEE

payments 4,698 3,533 4,734 1,498 14,463
Share based payment expenses  WURGF AT HEL = 4,448 - - 4,448

At 31 December 2007 RZEELE+-A=1—H

Assets BE
Segment assets PHEE 10,827,245 9633504 8205951 2,270,417 80,937,117
Interests in jointly controlled PR TR 7 s
entities - - - 14,284 14,284
Investments in associates REE AR 758 - - 741,128 - 741,128
Unallocated corporate assets APWZARIBE 3,249,457
Consolidated total assets GREERA 34,941,986
Liabilities AE
Segment liabilities PHEE (1,300,323)  (1,409,256) (1,122,152)  (736,652) (4,568,383)
Unallocated corporate liabilities APEZARARE (8,146,807)
Consolidated total liabilties GRERRE

(12,715,190)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 434 B #& &R R MisE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZE)1F+_-H=+—HILFE

8. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL
SEGMENTS (continued)
Geographical segments
The analysis of the Group’s revenue by geographical
market based on geographical location of customers for
each year is as follows:

KERBERE =)
HES

REFEAR > AEERETFAERR

MISHIRKE D 2 EXBEOFTWT ¢

2008 2007

—ET)\F —ETLF

HK$’000 HK$’000

TET FAETT

The PRC R 19,600,756 15,574,595
Other Asian countries B RN 2,719,879 2,735,260
Europe BUM 988,486 1,290,959
America EM 372,280 424,298
23,681,401 20,025,112

An analysis of segment assets and capital additions by
geographical area in which the assets are located has not
been presented as the Group’s assets are substantially
located in the PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 75 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZE)1F+_-H=+—HILFE

9.

10.

OTHER INCOME 9. Htulg A
2008 2007
ZEENE —ETLF
HK$°000 HK$’'000
THET FAET
Other income comprises: HaUWABE :
Rental income He A 90,072 30,341
Gain on fair value changes of REYEANTFEEEH
investment properties W= 5,992 5,118
Net exchange gain P& H a5 =8 46,492 46,708
Interest income on bank deposits  #R{TIFEF E U A 62,309 97,419
Dividends from available-for-sale AHEREZIRE
investments 22,566 15,092
Gain on fair value changes of foreign 4NE:=EiE Z)AFEEE) 2
currency forward contracts WS 318 86
Imputed interest income on AR EFERT A B A
convertible bond 602 1,282
Gain on disposal of investment HEREYEZ W
properties 143,745 -
Gain on disposal of investments HERBIEEEFRE 2 ek
held for trading - 107,296
Gain on disposal of available-for-sale H & r]f# H &% & 7 W as
investments
— listed equity securities — FTIRAES - 81,063
— listed debt security — EERES = 4,601
Interest income on listed debt RIEAIEHEREZ
security classified as available- FHERRE T
for-sale investment T 2 WA - 32,263
Others Hifh 2,526 2,291
374,622 423,555
IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON AVAILABLE-FOR- 10. "HHERBZRERR

SALE INVESTMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2008, impairment
loss on available-for-sale investments of HK$253,158,000
(2007: Nil) was recognised as a result of significant or
prolonged decline in the fair values of certain of the
Group’s listed equity investments below their costs.

REE_ZTN\E+_A=1+—HILFE
A BRAEERERE T EMRAK
EHNAFEBZARBERERAE -
H S HEEREZREESR
253,158,000/8 TC( —ZEZ 4 : J8F) o
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 &t —FEZ \#F+_-H=+—HI F/ZF

11.

108

LOSS ON DISPOSAL OF CONVERTIBLE
BOND AND INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

B IR MR

11.

HETRERFR—HABELF
HZZBR

2008 2007

—EENE T F

HK$°000 HK$ 000

THT FAT

Loss on disposal of convertible bond HEMBIRES 2 BB 182,918 =
Loss on disposal of interest in HE M E A e s

an associate el =] 6,779 -

189,697 =

During the year ended 31 December 2007, the
Group entered into subscription agreements with
G-Prop (Holdings) Limited (“G-Prop”) to subscribe
for (i) 740,518,325 ordinary shares of G-Prop, which
represented 36.51% of the enlarged issued share
capital of G-Prop, at a consideration of approximately
HK$119,964,000 and (ii) a three-year zero coupon
convertible bond (“CB”) with a principal amount of
HK$108,000,000. Details of the acquisition of the CB are
set out in Note 24.

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group
sold its entire holding of 740,518,325 ordinary shares
of G-Prop, to Mass Rise Limited, an independent third
party and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Chinese
Estates Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, at a consideration of
approximately HK$120,777,000.

At the same time, the Group also sold the CB to Get
Nice Securities Limited, an independent third party, at a
consideration of approximately HK$109,333,000.

As a result of the above, the Group recognised a loss of
approximately HK$189,697,000 in total, comprising a loss
on disposal of interest in an associate of approximately
HK$6,779,000 and a loss on disposal of convertible bond
of approximately HK$182,918,000.
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N AEBESECEARAR(EE])
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BE ZEAER D BITIRANE6.51% K (i) B8
CEZ=FHT SR RKRES ([ ATRRE
%) - A$5%8/5108,000,000/ 7T o YeHE
AR ES 2 FFIRER M EE24 -

REBEEZZTN\F+_A=1+—HBLFE
Al - A E AR R(ER9120,777,00078 7T
P58 ©ER/740,518,325 8 L@ AR A0 &=
HEL—HBLE=ARA-EFARA
Al (PRI RFTEIR ETHIZEA B RSB NE
ErEREMBAR) -

[RIEF + ANEEARRE49109,333,00078 7T
HERBRES T BB E=H AR —
I ESFERAR

EREaRE - AEBERE I mixs 2 B8
42EE49189,697,0008 T« HFBEHE—
fEI B & A Al 4 s 2 [E5181496,779,00078 7T &
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 4= & B iR &R M+
For the year ended 31 December 2008 &t —FEZ \#F+_-H=+—HI F/ZF

12. FINANCE COSTS 12. MUERE
2008 2007
—ZENEF ZTTEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FaT FHIT
Interest on bank borrowings wholly ARRERNDEEE
repayable within five years ZEETT%EZ?T 12 300,810 289,932
Interest on bank borrowings not IENAFAZEER
wholly repayable within five years ZIBITEEZFIE 7,005 4,203
Other finance charges Himn&g &R 4,260 3,177
312,075 297,312
Release of hedging reserve i R 2 16,717 -
Fair value changes of interest rate S RS 2 F 2R H A
swap contracts not designated for BHNFEZE
hedging purpose 2,602 (6,636)
331,394 290,676
Less: Interest capitalised B BEAMERE (2,025) (3,012)
329,369 287,664
Borrowing costs capitalised during the year arose on the EWZEZK{U&%WZ’»‘TJF\\*QFEEPF
general borrowing pool and were calculated by applying TRIETNFUEEREERXZE
a capitalisation rate of 6% for 2008 (2007: 5%) to 7Mt:$6%(_7 TLF : 5%)FH -

expenditures on qualifying assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 &t —FEZ \#F+_-H=+—HI F/ZF

B IR MR

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 13. FifeRAX
2008 2007
ZEENE —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAT
The amount comprises: HIEE
Hong Kong Profits Tax BBNED
Charge for the year REREZHIAS 38,009 94,330
Overprovision in previous years B FE R (8,890) (4,558)
29,119 89,772
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions HuprlyA#E R 2 Fi18
Charge for the year REE 7FRIBEL H 140,689 167,258
Overprovision in previous years BT FEREEEE (1,454) (3,544)
139,235 163,714
Deferred taxation (Note 34) EETIE (F17E34)
Charge (credit) for the year AREE T (BE) 24,856 (9,622)
Attributable to a change in tax rate TR S 2 w2 1,021 1,166
25,877 (8,456)
194,231 245,030
On 26 June 2008, the Legislative Council of the Hong RZZEZENFERAZ+T/A -  BEEH
Kong Special Administration Region passed the Revenue TRE EFEEB-ZZETN\FRAKESL
L T

Bill 2008 which reduced corporate profits tax rate from

17.5% to 16.5% effective from the year of assessment
2008/2009. The effect of such decrease has been
reflected in measuring the current tax for the year ended
31 December 2008 and the deferred tax balance has also
been adjusted to reflect the change in tax rate. The Hong
Kong Profits Tax was calculated at 17.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for the year ended 31 December 2007.
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZE)1F+_-H=+—HILFE

13.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the
rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

On 16 March 2007, the PRC promulgated the Law of
the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “New Law”)
by Order No. 63 of the President of the PRC. On 6
December 2007, the State Council of the PRC issued
Implementation Regulations of the New Law. Under the
New Law and Implementation Regulation, the Enterprise
Income Tax rate of certain subsidiaries of the Company
was changed from rates ranging 15% to 33% to 25%
from 1 January 2008 onward. Certain subsidiaries
that previously enjoyed a preferential tax rate prior to 1
January 2008 will gradually transit to the new tax rate over
five years from 1 January 2008. The deferred tax balance
was adjusted during the year ended 31 December 2007
to reflect the tax rates that were expected to apply to the
respective periods when the assets were realised or the
liability was settled.

13.

FRSMBFZ 2)
i BAEE 2 BB T A A SR 2
L ESIE

RZZZTEF=A+"H ' pEEMPE
ARZEFE F &L FE635C+H AR LA
BZMREEENFTE]) - RZTE
tFEF+ZANE - R BB R
Bl o RBHPOERE RGN - B=
LENF-—A—BR  BRARARAFET
M AR 2 SN EFHIRITNT
16% £ 33% & & —/25% - RZEF
NE—A—BRIZEBEHREZETHE
AR HEZEENF—A—HEBRFA
BEREZFHE -BE_ZTZLF =
RA=+—BIFEZRELETHIEEREER
B UARMBEANEREENEETAEEZ
EHRBEA 2K o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 75 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZ )1 F+_-H=+—HILFE

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 13.
Taxation for the year can be reconciled to the profit before

Fr@MBX ()
ARG 2 BB R BRI 2 H AR

taxation as follows:

™

2008 2007
—EENE —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Profit before taxation B F4 B A 2,325,502 3,717,184
Tax charge at the domestic income LAE HFT1S 1% 2 25%
tax rate of 25% (2007: 33%) —TTHF : 33%)
(Note a) FEBIR (FizEa) 581,376 1,226,671
Tax effect of expenses not deductible ~ REJHIFLE A 2 g
for tax purpose 22 119,145 37,684
Tax effect of income not taxable for b S e b
tax purpose 2 (40,871) (107,276)
Tax effect of share of results of DIEBE NP EE Y
associates g & (92,451) (98,433)
Tax effect of share of results of jointly DGR BB ES
controlled entities 2GR 962 353
Overprovision in previous years BT FE R (10,344) (8,102)
Tax effect of tax holiday (Note b) B ER 7 B A5 2R (B RTDb) (120,399) (309,091)
Tax effect of tax losses not RTHERRIBEIRZ
recognised M2 12,515 4,563
Utilisation of tax losses previous FRAFEARERZ
not recognised TRIAEE (5,527) (3,685)
Effect of different tax rates of A B LASNEL fth B EAE R
subsidiaries operating in HE gL B AT
other jurisdictions/areas other than TRFE 2L
the PRC (57,738) (108,080)
Tax exempted profits (Note c) BEUEMN (M sEc) (202,776) (890,770)
Withholding tax (Note d) TEHOEL (MI7Ed) 9,318 -
Decrease in opening deferred tax ERAME DB 2 FH)
asset resulting from RIETIAE R
decrease in applicable tax rate 1,021 1,166
Tax expense for the year REE 2 BB 194,231 245,030
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZ )1 F+_-H=+—HILFE

13.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Notes:

(@)

The domestic income tax rate of 25% (2007: 33%) represents
the PRC Enterprise Income Tax of which the Group’s operations
are substantially based.

Pursuant to relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, certain
subsidiaries of the Company in the PRC are exempted from PRC
Enterprise Income Tax for two years starting from the first profit-
making year in which profits exceed any carried forward tax
losses followed by a 50% reduction in the income tax rate in the
following three years (“Tax Holiday”). The Tax Holiday enjoyed by
these subsidiaries will expire not beyond 2012.

In addition, certain subsidiaries also enjoyed a preferential tax
rate and the preferential tax rate will be gradually increased to the
new tax rate of 25% over five years from 1 January 2008.

Profits arising from certain subsidiaries of the Company in Macau
are exempted from profit tax.

The withholding tax represented the 5% withholding tax paid
in respect of the dividend received from an associate, CNOOC
Kingboard Chemical Limited.

13.

FRBRBASZ ()

BaE

(@) EHASHR25%(— T LF  33%)IEAE
B RE D F AR 2 P B BEASH -

(b) REPEBBEERRER - AARETHE
F A B B AR & (BDE M B A 45
B HBER) B MERNERRHA PR
B B =FREHEERR50% ([ 25
B ZEWBRARAZEZEBABR_-F
—ZFRIEM °

WS - AETAEEREZE THBAT - K
EERESH-FT/\F—A—BRAETNE
S E25%2 B -

(©) ANRFE TR B QR 28N ERR TG
B e

(d) TR A IR — Rl A R) — B AR EE
ETERRRIRE M 25%FEMF
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14. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 14. XEERF
2008 2007
—ETN\F TETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
TET FAIT

Profit for the year has been arrived at AR i F B A B

after charging (crediting): (BN E)ATIEE -
Depreciation of properties, plant and ME - WE KERE

equipment e 1,589,648 1,169,731
Amortisation of intangible assets | EEEHE(BE

(included in administrative costs) AITEAKAS) 750 632

1,590,398 1,170,363

Net exchange gain PE Uk e 558

—included in cost of sales —BEFFAEERAE (47,646) (59,226)

—included in other income —BFrAEMUA (46,492) (46,703)

(94,138) (105,929)

Auditor’s remuneration ZE BN < 9,349 9,264
Cost of inventories sold BEEFERR 17,436,188 13,660,718
Gain on fair value change of Hmz e AR TE

commodity forward FE) 2 Was

contracts (included in cost of sales) (BT AHERAR) (2,454) (368)
Impairment loss recognised in respect  Fh 2 5 & H fih e U BE 7X

of trade and other receivables RBEEE (B

(included in administrative costs) ANITEARA) 40,474 89,004
Loss on disposal of available-for-sale HERHEERE 2R

investments (included in (Bt ATTERAAS)

administrative costs) 36,846 -
Loss on disposal and write off of & RIMEEYE

properties, plant and equipment TR Fe 5% 1 2 518 3,713 10,864
Release of prepaid lease payments TEEEFRIE 2 B 26,863 14,463
Total staff costs, including directors’ B ITAALEE - B

emoluments (see Note 15) =M< (RHEE15) 1,545,454 1,444,868
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15. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 15 EER{EAMS
EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the eleven Ak ERNt—E(—EE+E  +—%)
(2007: eleven) directors were as follows: BEEBHOMT :
Year ended 31 December 2008
BE-SBN\E1A=1-ALEE
Cheung Chan  Cheung  Chang Mok Cham Ho  Cheung  Cheng Tse Cheng
Kok Wing  Kwong Wing Hung, Yin Wailin, Ming Kam ~ Henry WaiCheg,
Wing  Kwan  Kwan Yiu  Chadwick Sang  Stephanie  Fun, Paul Hung Tan Christopher Total
BEE  RWAE  REE OAE EEE MRE  BRE MM AmM  RH g&% A
HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000
Thn TEn TR TEr TEr TEn  TAr TR TEn TR TR TEn
Fees fig = = - - - - - 480 180 180 480 1320
Other emoluments: Efpe :
Sdaesandotherbenefis ~ Z4REMET 2606 229 226 M7 265 2018 703 - - - B TR
Controutons o retfement &Rz
bengfis scheme e 102 8 % % 103 8 ki) - - - - 604
Perfomnance related TSR
ncanfiepayment o) 0B (FF) 17000 9500 9500 9500 8500 850 1625 - 140 0 - B35
Total emoluments Heas 19708 11888 11820 12043 1128 0117 23%8 480 30 250 8 81,299
Year ended 31 December 2007
BE_RRETA-T-AIER
Cheung Chan  Cheng  Chang Mok Cham Ho  Cheing  Cheng Tse Cheng
Kok Wng  Kwong Wing Hung, Y Wailin, Ming Kam Henry  Wai Cheg,
Wing Kiwan Kivan Yiu  Chadwick Sang  Stephane  Fun, Paul Hung Tan  Christopher Total
REx R RRE O OKE EEE O WRE  RRE IR @8R RS S4E A
HKS000  HKS000  HKBOOD  HKSO00  HKSO000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000
Tan  fér T Thr TR T TEr TEr TR TR T TR
Fees e = - = = = = - 180 180 180 20 1,080
Other emoluments: Bie
Saesandotherbenefts  FAREMEH 23 208 226 206 244 208 703 - - - - 14089
Controutions to retfement &Rz
benefts scheme e 102 89 % % 103 8 B = = = = 603
Performance releted =3
nognfve payment (Note) ~~ EBEFEUR(HG:E) 27261 15361 18500 18361 18361 13000 2% 100 0 100 - B4
Total emoluments ieaE 078 1758 1581 15682 15868 15167 2958 580 30 20 A0 11421
Note:  The performance related incentive payment is determined with MisE : THERBBMERFEN2ZEZMEFEZL

reference to the operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics during both years.

ERE  EAARRRLEBRTSEEMET
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZ )1 F+_-H=+—HILFE

15.

DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

No directors of the Company had waived any emoluments
during the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007
and the five highest paid individuals in the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2008 included four (2007: four)
directors of the Company.

The emoluments of the remaining one (2007: one)
individual were as follows:

15.

EEXZRERME ~)

MERRREENEBE_TTN\FR_F
EE+ - A=t+—BHIFFEREEM
e AEERBE_ZZNFE+_A
=t+—BEFERRREHFATAOA(Z
TELF MB)RARARIZES -

BF—BAL(CTELE - —%) 2B
T

2008 2007

ZETNE —ETF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET FAT

Salaries and other benefits e MEMET 2,300 2,300
Contributions to retirement RNENET BT

benefits scheme 99 99
Performance related incentive TERIRERIFRIA

payments 9,500 13,850

11,899 16,249

During both years, no emoluments were paid to or
receivable by the directors or the Group’s five highest
paid individuals, including directors, as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office.

1 ~| 6 Annual Report 2008 Kingboard Chemical Holdings Limited
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16.

The final dividend of HK30 cents per ordinary share has
been proposed by the directors of the Company and is 3078l » HEAFALD RRRNEERRE

subject to approval by the shareholders of the Company FRERAE - TR -

DIVIDENDS 16. BB
2008 2007
ZETNE —TTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Dividends declared and paid FERRIKERE
Interim dividend for 2008 of —TENFHHEREER
HK40 cents (2007: HK30 cents) L BARA0E(L
per ordinary share ZETF : 30Al) 337,247 251,430
Final dividend for 2007 of HK70 cents ~ —ZEZ+ 4 REAR B AL
(2007: Final dividend for 2006 of AR 7O
HK38 cents) per ordinary share BT
ZETRNERARE
387811l) 586,669 316,464
Special dividend for 2006 of HK62 cents —Z = X FHrRIA% S
(2008: No special dividend for 2007) %I BmARe2E 1l
per ordinary share (ZETN\F : =F
TLFREFRBE) - 516,335
Additional dividend paid in respect of  ER#EfEBEHIE GRS
the previous period as a result of WIS TRR LI THR D
new shares issued subsequent M gk im A AR R 2
to the approval of the previous FEINIR B
period’s consolidated
financial statements 3,514 =
927,430 1,084,229
Dividend proposed EERE
Proposed final dividend for 2008 of Em TS \FRH
HK30 cents (2007: HK70 cents) % B RE B AR30E Il
per ordinary share (ZEZF : 7080l) 253,422 586,669

in the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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B IR MR

17. EARNINGS PER SHARE 17. SHEET
The calculations of the basic and diluted earnings per IN/NET - %ﬁ}\ﬁﬂﬁﬁ$&§ﬁ SEERA
share attributable to equity holders of the Company are AL TP EURETE
based on the following data:
2008 2007
—EENE —EEF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Earnings for the purpose of STEEAREEFR
calculating basic and &R 2 287
diluted earnings per share 1,705,850 2,778,321
Number of shares
RGEAR
2008 2007
ZETNE —ETF
Weighted average number of SAEERGRAEN
ordinary shares for the purpose of AR INARE 1 2
calculating basic earnings per share 841,810,349 834,294,662
Add: Effect of dilutive potential hnE ﬂ,@&%%?&ﬁﬁz
ordinary shares relating to —R1TEZ
outstanding share options {Ef‘ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁié 16,995,886 25,207,611
Weighted average number of SEEEERAN
ordinary shares for the purpose of B A pAE S 2K
calculating diluted earnings per share 858,806,235 859,502,273
There is no potential dilutive effect on the share of REBEZZTN\F+_A=1+—HBLFE
results of a non wholly-owned subsidiary, Elec & Eltek W ARERERBMEARKNZES
International Company Limited (“EEIC”) in 2008 in relation ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂ(FEEIQJ)Z?A}’?}E?";&Z@?&%
to the outstanding share options of EEIC as the exercise H%EZ”ﬁE&@jI\H&@E@ miSFIER
—  aaon TRV A
price of the outstanding share options of EEIC was higher = MRS HRED R 5 R
. . WIE - REBZE-_TETLF+-_A=1+—H
than the average market price during the year ended 31 S EER - BEEEEIC B8 SRR
’ JEBE
December 2008. For the year ended 31 December 2007, e = 5
o v B BBEHENE RO ELTE
the effect of dilutive potential shares on share of results * o
of EEIC based on the dilution of its earnings per share for
that year was insignificant.
1 1 8 Annual Report 2008 Kingboard Chemical Holdings Limited
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZE)1F+_-H=+—HILFE

17. EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) sREHN =)
2008 2007
—ET)\F —ETE
Additional information on LRBRGREFZ
adjusted earnings per share: Man&E R -
Basic FHAR HK$2.4995  HK$3.139/87C
Diluted e HK$2.44985%  HK$3.047/87C

Additional information on basic and diluted adjusted
earnings per share figures have also been presented,
based on the profit for the year attributable to equity

ERREEZERBRERAN 2K NE R
TYRAR RIS E ARG ANEE SR
ME/REEFFEEFEWIRR MERII2

holders of the Company add/less any non-recurring

items, which are calculated as follows:

5 AR

2008 2007
—EENE —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#T FiIT
Profit for the year attributable to RAEERFEE ARG
equity holders of the Company INEE R 1,705,850 2,778,321
Non-recurring items: JEEE IR R ¢
Add: Impairment loss on ek AIHEHEREZ
available-for-sale investments B E 253,158 -
Loss on disposal of HE TR ES &
convertible bond and —MEE AR
interest in an associate ez 2 [E518 189,697 -
Loss on disposal and HERGIELE
deemed disposal of — B = A ]
interest in an associate s 2 B8 = 23,658
Less: Discount on acquisition W HEEHTE A RIEESN
of additional interests Wens 2 Mk
in subsidiaries (33,711) (962)
Discount on acquisition of W EE T A A
subsidiaries ZITE (11,395) -
Gain on fair value change of AR B EE
conversion and redemption HOTET A
option derivative N ESEE W = (182,367)
Earnings for the purposes of STEEAR MBS LA
calculating basic and diluted BREF 2 275
adjusted earnings per share 2,103,599 2,618,650

The denominators used are the same as those detailed
above for both basic and diluted earnings per share.

EE A2 S SR E A RES
SREFIZH SR -
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18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 18. KREWMXE
HK$’000
FETT
FAIR VALUE NS
At 1 January 2007 N_EE+F—H—H 40,220
Additions = 1,084,477
Transfer from properties, BBV - BB REE
plant and equipment (Note) (F3E) 68,137
Increase in fair value NF{EEZN 5,118
At 31 December 2007 and R-ZEE+E+=-A=+—H
1 January 2008 ;=TT N\F—H—H 1,197,952
Exchange adjustments bE 5 EE 67,363
Additions INE 360,302
Transfer from properties, BRI - BB RE&E
plant and equipment (Note) (B 5E) 54,811
Increase in fair value ANEEEZN 5,992
Disposals HE (359,255)
At 31 December 2008 RZBEZENF+=—A=+—H1 1,327,165
Note:  The fair values of the properties transferred from properties, plant ek . HEZZZN\FER-ZTLF+-_A=1+—H

and equipment at the dates of transfer for the years ended 31 IEFE %%

December 2008 and 2007 had been arrived at on the basis of
a valuation carried out on that day by Messrs. Chung, Chan &

Associates, independent qualified valuers not connected to the EREERY -

Group.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31
December 2008 and 2007 had been arrived at on the
basis of a valuation carried out on that date by Messrs.
Chung, Chan & Associates, independent qualified
valuers not connected with the Group. Messrs. Chung,
Chan & Associates are members of the Royal Institute

of Chartered Surveyors. The valuation was arrived at by

reference to market evidence of transaction prices for

similar properties.

1 20 Annual Report 2008 Kingboard Chemical Holdings Limited
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18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 18. KBEWMXE »)
All of the Group’s property interests held under operating RNEE ABEE S E R BN RIFLE
leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes MBI BY R - AR ATE
are measured using the fair value model and are classified BRHEE - WHBRKRINEREDE -

and accounted for as investment properties.

The carrying value of investment properties shown above A TR E R E RS ¢
COMprises:
2008 2007
—ESENEF T F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FATT
Property interests situated in ERIHANESHTE
Hong Kong under: RS
Medium~term lease FRERFRAY 3,840 4,047
Property interests situated outside ET AL E LA
Hong Kong under: HEZERER
Medium-term lease H ERFEAY 1,297,600 1,169,375
Long lease REIME L) 25,725 24,530
1,323,325 1,193,905
1,327,165 1,197,952
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19. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. B¥ BRERERH
Properties,
Fumiture, plant and
Leasehold fixtures equipment
Freehold  Buildings  improve- and Trans- under
[and for ments  Plantand equipment  portation construction
XX ownuse 4 machinery G~ equipment EEYE- Total
ERtH BRET  UERE HERER RERRG  EERE RERRE Rt
HKS000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$'000
Tin TEn TEn TEn Tin TR TR Tin
COST S
At 1 January 2007 RZ22+5-A-A 60,707 2,321,755 262,730 9123917 243,203 136371 1,314,034 13,462,717
Exchangeadustments (332 2457 121374 2099 T9183 20,640 9708 180737 1,075,008
Additions HE = 105,026 19458 1,428,526 69,647 18674 2,362,768 4,004,099
Acquired from acquision  MEEFHB A AIMER
of subsiclaries (Note 37)  (Ffz£37) - 3,382 - 44,010 446 811 6,463 55,112
Disposals and write off {HE R = (7,169) (b,158)  (07,150)  (48615)  (21,650) - (289748)
Transferred to investment ~ BEZRENE
properties (Note) (hp) - (61,554) - - - - - (61,554)
Reclassffications EAE = 79925 14071 1,269,817 33,081 (640) (1,386,264) -
At 31 December 2007and  R=FFLE+ZA=1—H
1 January 2008 R=TE)\E-A-H 63164 2,562,739 312,100 12,368,308 318,402 143268 2,477,748 18,245,724
Exchange adjustments ERE (2.426) 76,384 3447 587,381 18,241 6,482 261,216 940,725
Additions RE - - 54,251 681,244 36,418 167,974 2826663 3,765,545
Aoquired from acquisiton ~ UeERR B A RITERR
of subsidaries (Note 37) (Htsxa7) = = = 96,799 41,166 1,28 199,589 338,786
Disposals and write of i E Rl = - (3594) (143799)  (B681)  (12.214) - (168,288)
Trangfened to investment ~ BAZRENE
properties (Note) (D) - (50,106) - - - - - (50,106
Reclassifications EX L - 202,238 28062 3,302,582 108,207 - (3636,089) -
At 31 December 2008 R-ZZ\E+-A=1-H 60,738 2,791,255 394766 16,892,510 507,748 306,742 2,118,627 23,072,386
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19. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19.

(continued)

Leasehold
Freehold  Buildings  improve-

W% - BE R =)

Properties,

Fumniture, plant and
fixtures equipment
and Trans- under

and for ments  Plantand equipment  portation construction
XA ownuse %  machinery B> equpment HRYE. Total
ElELH BRET  UERE BERER ZERRG  ERRE RERRE At
HK$'000  HK$000  HKS'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS'000
Thn Tén TEn TEn Thn Tén TEn TR
DEPRECIATION AND HERAE
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2007 RZETHE-A-A - 254087 75875 2,736,686 77,053 64,601 - 3,208,392
Exchange adjustments AR - 20,260 11662 258,609 9317 5,676 - 30552
Provided for the year AEFEE - 44701 0611 1,045377 41,026 18,016 - 1,169,731
Eiminated on disposals (&R Riie
and write off - (7,040) (6,059)  (1449%)  @1,779)  (11,792) - (190,662)
At 31 December 2007 RZZELE+-A=1-A
and 1 January 2008 k=TE)\E-F-H - 312008 103089 389,680 105617 76,591 - 449985
Exchange adjustments Ex % - 9,288 11,751 184,732 7,015 5,53 - 218321
Provided for the year AEFEE - 56,273 39523 1,408,384 58916 26,552 - 1589648
Eliminated on disposals (RS E s
and write off - - (1584)  (102,664) (6314) (7,284) - (116846)
At 31 December 2008 R-ZZ\E+-R=1-H - 37Tee9 182779 5386132 166234 101,3% - 6,184,108
CARRYING VALUES BafE
At 31 December 2008 REBENET-E=1-H 60738 2413686 241987 11506378 341514 205,348 2118627 16,888,278
At 31 December 2007 RIZELET-A=+-H 63164 220,781 209011 8472623 212,785 66,677 247,748 13752789
Note:  During the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007, the izt : HEZFTENFR-_ZFT+FI+-A=+—H

Group changed the use of certain of its leasehold properties
and rented them out to independent third parties for rental
income. When there was a change in use, upon the transfer from
properties, plant and equipment to investment properties, these
properties were revalued at fair value with a gain on revaluation
of approximately HK$4,705,000 (2007: HK$6,583,000), which
has been credited to the property revaluation reserve.

LEFE - AREERBETHOMERSE - I
HETFBELE=T - NESESKA - HA
BHEE  EtNE  BERRETSEELE
YER - ZEWFERATEER - EffKED
/34,705,000 7T (ZTZ L5 : 6,583,000
7T) - BERFAMEEGEE
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19. PROPERTIES, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19. ™% - BER&RE =)

(continued)
The above items of properties, plant and equipment MEEYE «  BERRZREI - Ltz -
other than those under construction are depreciated on a BEKRZEEE ABEGEER NHEEL
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum: WEHEITEE ¢
Freehold land Nil SKAERELH RE
Buildings for own use Over the remaining HREF BB L AFIFRK
unexpired terms of TR Bk 504F
the leases or fifty years, (A& BE)
whichever is the shorter
Leasehold improvements Over shorter of lease terms THA ISR E TRERFE 4 EA sk
or 10 - 20% 10 — 20% (JAB=
HRLEE)
Plant and machinery 10 - 20% R R e es 10 - 20%
Furniture, fixtures and 10 - 331/3% B REREHE  10-331/3%
equipment
Transportation equipment ~ 10% — 20% BEERE 10% — 20%
20. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 20. WfFIEBERE
All of the Group’s prepaid lease payments are prepaid for ANEE 2 IIEMNEERIEBH AEEAINE
medium term leasehold land outside Hong Kong. &4tz R ERFRATER A -
2008 2007
ZEEN\EF —ETLF
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FTHET FAT
Analysed for reporting purposes as: TERE MWW ¢
Current asset RENEE 32,103 28,029
Non-current asset EMENEE 1,499,021 1,265,127
1,531,124 1,293,156

1 24 Annual Report 2008 Kingboard Chemical Holdings Limited
—TT/\FEH BETEE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 434

For the year ended 31 December 2008 &t —FEZ \#F+_-H=+—HI F/ZF

21.

B IR MR

GOODWILL 21. B8
HK$'000
FAT
CARRYING VALUE FREE
At 1 January 2007 R-_ZEZE+F—H—H 1,717,619
Arising on acquisition of g )= NS liT) =425
subsidiaries (see Note 37) (RHKE37) 238
Arising on acquisition of additional IWHEM B A Al sEIME R A= A
interests in subsidiaries (Note) (P %) 287,901
At 31 December 2007 and RZEZ+F+_A=1+—"HK
31 December 2008 —EENFF+_A=F+—H 2,005,658

Note: Goodwill was calculated as the difference between the
consideration paid for the additional interests and the carrying
amount of the net assets of the subsidiaries attributable to the
additional interests acquired.

Particulars regarding impairment testing on goodwill
arising from acquisition of subsidiaries are disclosed as
follows:

As explained in Note 8, the Group uses business
segments as its primary segment for reporting segment
information. For the purposes of impairment testing,
goodwill has been allocated to the cash generating units
(“CGU”) of laminates and PCBs business segments.
The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to the
CGUs of laminates and PCBs business segments are
approximately HK$288,139,000 (2007: HK$288,139,000)
and HK$1,717,519,000 (2007: HK$1,717,519,000),
respectively.

MisE: EEREIMERMNR BRI BRI MR
LB AREEFE SREERZETH

ERREBHE A AREE 2 BE 2R EA
SEHEREN T

AN FES FTRIRE - AN E DA ZE TS 5 BOAE
7%EE¥B%/MB§MZIE“* o FLRE R
= BAEESE T ERER DR AR
¢&¥%"*BZE§%F$$MFI&%?$$
7 ]) o o BE F 7 4R AR K ED ol 4R BE AR 32
BoBZRSEEBMN 2 EEREED
Bl 47 5 288,139,000 7L ( Z T T+ 4F :
288,139,000 7t ) K& 1,717,519,000 % &
(ZZZT £ :1,717,519,0008 7T ) °
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21.

22.

GOODWILL (continued) 21. mE8 )
The recoverable amounts of the laminates’s and BIRmEAR M ENRIARIEARIE © E A B 2 ]
PCB’s CGUs have been determined from value-in-use WEEERERBESELIET - EHE
calculation. Goodwill is expected to generate cash flow for EEmBHEARESRE - A:TEFERE
indefinite period. To calculate this, cash flow projections B BEnEaEAINKESREIERER#E £
are based on five year periods financial budgets approved L HhFEHTHREE REE - FRHEEBEE
by senior management. The key assumption for the EZ FBREBETAEEFR 2718 X K 18
value-in-use calculations is the budgeted gross margin REDFNE13%KEER(ZEZLF : 10%
at a discount rate of 13% (2007: 10%) and growth rate N7%) X BEREDIBZEMNATRARE
of 5% (2007: 7%), which is determined based on the BENTERREEASET - BT BaE
unit’s past performance and management’s expectations FATEFHEHRARRER - RIS ELS
for the market development and does not exceed the UzrAlEeBEaRNEREE  HEER
average long-term growth rate for the relevant industries. B MNEEHZRE2FEETELIREX
Since the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit B ©
is higher than its carrying amount, the Directors consider
that the carrying amount of goodwill at the balance sheet
date is not significantly impaired.
INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 22, RBEAFZEE
2008 2007
—ETN\F ZETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHTT
Cost of investments in associates i /NG Wl = YN
Unlisted in the PRC AR EIE F 431,089 401,182
Listed in Hong Kong REB LM - 122,668
Share of post-acquisition profits, G ERE mF
net of dividends received (B2 WA E) 193,874 178,315
Share of reserve FE(S 61,170 38,963
686,133 741,128
Fair value of listed investments FHREZ RFE - 718,303

1 26 Annual Report 2008 Kingboard Chemical Holdings Limited

—22)\FEH BELTEE




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 75 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZE)1F+_-H=+—HILFE

22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 22, REBIERTZR/E#)

At 31 December 2008 and 2007, the Group had interests N EZENEFER_EE+F+_A=1+—
in the following associates: H - AEBEHEEG T E S A A

Proportion of
nominal value of

Form of Place of Principle registered capital/
business registration/  place of issued share capital
Name of entity structure incorporation  operation held by the Group Principal activities
rEEFAEEMELR/
ERER EREBER 2R /RUtE FEEERY ERTRIEELAH TEXEK
2008 2007

“BEN\FE —TTtH

CNOOC Kingboard Incorporated PRC PRC 40% 40% Manufacture and
Chemical Limited? LA s ) distribution of
PR EREE L IERAR! methanol
2B R T
ERICTUEM)BRAR  Incorporated PRC PRC 25% 25% Refining of heavy
AL i F oll and distribution
of chemicals
RIRE &7 85
Lt TER
ISR EREBR AR Incorporated PRC PRC 49% - Coal mining and
AL s F distribution of coals
el Y Gk
G-Prop (Holdings) Limited Incorporated Bermuda Hong Kong - 36.51% Property investment
(‘G-Prop”)" AL BRE B and leasing
SEMEBRDA(EE]" MEREREE
* A company with its shares listed on the main board of the Stock * ROREERFIER EMZ AR °
Exchange.
#  These companies were established in the PRC in the form of Sino- # WERRTIARINEESERERAEPBRKL

Foreign Equity Joint Ventures.

During the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group HE_ZTELF+_A=t+—HLFE
entered into subscription agreements with G-Prop REEEPERRBETE - URBESE
to subscribe for (i) 740,518,325 ordinary shares of 740,518,325 E AR - (hEELEAD
G-Prop, which represented 36.51% of the enlarged 1TRZZA36.51% * RIE4) 119,964,000
issued share capital of G-Prop, at a consideration of TC 5 RNV =FZEARRES N8 A
approximately HK$119,964,000 and (ii) a three-year 108,000,000 7T » AI#MRES 2 FFIEH N
zero coupon convertible bond with a principal amount of FizE24 o

HK$108,000,000. Details of the convertible bond are set
out in Note 24.
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZE)1F+_-H=+—HILFE

22,

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
Pursuant to a sale and purchase agreement dated 1
February 2008, the Group sold its entire holding of
740,518,325 ordinary shares of G-Prop, to Mass Rise
Limited, an independent third party and an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of Chinese Estates Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange,
at a consideration of approximately HK$120,777,000 and
resulted in a loss on disposal of interest in an associate of
approximately HK$6,779,000 during the year ended 31
December 2008.

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group
also established an associate, namely |LFE& g
HIREAMR AR, in the PRC with capital injection of
approximately HK$29,907,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group
acquired 25% registered capital of B &t T (BN BRA
7] at a consideration of approximately HK$213,045,000.

In addition, during the year ended 31 December 2007,
Topsearch International Holdings Limited (“Topsearch”),
a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange, issued new ordinary shares to the public
through placement and diluted the equity interest of the
Group in Topsearch from 25.04% to 21.15%. The Group
also disposed of certain shares of Topsearch in the
market and thus Topsearch ceased to be an associate of
the Group and had been accounted for as available-for-
sale investments as at 31 December 2007. The loss on
disposal and deemed disposal of interest in the associate
amounted to approximately HK$23,658,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2007.

1 28 Annual Report 2008 Kingboard Chemical Holdings Limited

—22)\FEH BELTEE

22.

RBREAFRZ®RE &)
BE—HABA-ZZTN\F=-_A—HZE
= ek - ANEE AR (EI120,777,00075
T AT B € E /740,518,325 0% I 3 A% A%
heEHBEL MBIYFEF=F_REAER
DRI (R RATER EMZEAEEEEZ
BEXEREWEBAR) EHHE_TT
NE+—A=+—HILFEHEHE—H
B4 N B2 2 JE5TE 406,779,000/ T

BE_TFTN\F+A=1T-HLF
B - AEE TR F B — R E QR
WS EZEREBRAR - EAESH
29,907,000/ 7T

HE-_ZE+F+=-_A=+—HIFE -
AREBWETEREI(BMN) BR AT
EAR25% + RIE%)AE213,045,000/8 7T °

ot REE2—FT+F+-_A=+—H
LEFE  BIXFAERLTARZEERHE

(IR BRAR([ER ) BRRARER
E BITHTRAR  SAEEREEMHR
R 25.04% 8 E21.15% o AEB IR
MELEETEERG - At 22T
BAREEREAR  RZZTLF+=
A=1T—HBARINERIHEERE - 2E
—EELEF_A=+—HILFEE ' H
ERRELEBRERARESEZBEBOR
23,658,000/8 7T °
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZE)1F+_-H=+—HILFE

22,

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)
Included in the cost of investments in associates is
goodwill of approximately HK$147,087,000 (2007:
HK$152,820,000) arising on acquisition of associates.
The movement of goodwill is set out below:

RBREAFRZ®RE &)

N VNCIPEs &= PN B € NG
S| 2 FE#9147,087,00078 7L ( —FZE £
£ : 152,820,000 7T ) © AL B0
™

HK$'000

FAT

At 1 January 2007 R-ZZEZE+F—H—H =

Arising on acquisition of associates EER =N 152,820
At 31 December 2007 and RZEZ+F+_A=1+—HBK

1 January 2008 —EENF—HA—H 152,820

Eliminated on disposal of an associate  H & — R & A &0 5 8 (5,733)

At 31 December 2008 RZZTZNF+_A=+—H 147,087

The recoverable amounts of the interests in associates
including goodwill have been determined from value-in-
use calculation. To calculate this, cash flow projections
are based on five year periods financial budgets approved
by senior management. The key assumption for the
value-in-use calculations is the budgeted gross margin at
a discount rate of 12% (2007: 10%) and growth rate of
5% (2007: 7%), which is determined based on the unit’s
past performance and management’s expectations for
the market development. Since the recoverable amount
of the associates is higher than its carrying amount, the
directors consider that the carrying value of goodwill at
the balance sheet date is not significantly impaired.

REE R A 2w (BREEE) 2@
BREMEEFEEEE - /TEERE
B RERBRANSSREREMRitE
ZOFHRPHRBESEE - EREEFE
EZEBBRB/AEEMNR 2R I
REDRIH12%(ZFFLF : 10%) M5%
(ZZZF  7%) TR BLBERRA
NRERBHMSRRZMEET - MR
ERmaREEESNEREE BEF
R ReEEARBcREEYENRE
RIRE °
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZE)1F+_-H=+—HILFE

22. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 22, RBERXFZEE®)

The summarised financial information in respect of the RE B E N T 2 S E R a0 T

Group’s associates is set out below:

2008 2007
ZESENEF —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Total assets BELE 3,124,950 2,306,348
Total liabilities BfEERE (1,736,823) (702,738)
Net assets BEFE 1,388,127 1,603,610
Group’s share of net assets of REEEREE A A
associates BEFE 539,046 588,308
Revenue (Notes a & b) &5 (fsTaMb) 2,219,707 2,123,579
Profit for the year (Notes a & b) AER A (HFEakb) 862,899 757,672
Group’s share of results of NE B FE(B 2 A a)
associates for the year (Notes a & b) NEE 7 248 (Mizakb) 369,807 298,283

Notes: P5E

(a) The amounts in 2008 included the revenue and profit of G-Prop (a)
for the period from 1 January 2008 to the date of which G-Prop
ceased to be an associate of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2008.

(b) The amounts in 2007 included the revenue and profit of (o)
Topsearch for the period from 1 January 2007 to the date of
which Topsearch ceased to be an associate of the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2007.
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZE)1F+_-H=+—HILFE

23.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

23. TWHHERSE

Available-for-sale investments comprise: AT EIRE B
2008 2007
ZEE)\FE —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FBT
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong REB LM ZBAES 759,923 544,332
Unlisted equity investments JEETIRAERE 20,325 20,325
Total &=t 780,248 564,657

At the balance sheet date, all listed available-for-
sale investments are stated at fair value. The unlisted
equity investments are stated at cost as their fair values
cannot be measured reliably. Fair values of those listed
investments have been determined by reference to bid
prices quoted in active markets.

The above unlisted investments represent (i) 10% equity
interest in an unlisted private entity established in the PRC
which is engaged in hotel operation; and (ii) 5% equity
interest in an unlisted private entity established in the
PRC which is engaged in property development. They are
measured at cost less impairment at each balance sheet
date because the range of reasonable fair value estimates
is so significant that the Directors are of the opinion that
their fair values cannot be measured reliably.

REER  FAAHEE LHREHER
FEHIER - R TRER] SRt B IE LA
BRERYE - BURRKASIBR - ZF LT
B2 RFETHR 2 E ZOE BT I5 T

RBERE

b3 ETTIRE ()R P BISL 2 FF LT AL
BEBZI0%KE  ZERNFBELE
15 0 RNV BEKZ 2 FETREER
ZE5%MHE - ZEBREVEHER - AR
FEZEEGEEEREAN  BEEERR
REER ST HE R F(E - #E ETIRER
BEEE R AFRRERE
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24,

CONVERTIBLE BOND 24, T[#ERES
2008 2007
—EE)I\F —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#&T F&TT
Unlisted convertible bond JE ETR AR E S

— loan portion —fBEHH = 86,188

— conversion and redemption option — A AR N, B (O] 388 FE
derivative — fair value PTETE-NFE - 205,461
- 291,649

During the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group
subscribed a three-year zero coupon convertible bond
with a principal amount of HK$108,000,000 from G-Prop,
the associate of the Group. The convertible bond can be
converted in whole or in part into new ordinary shares of
G-Prop at any time from the issue date (i.e. 25 October
2007) to the maturity date (i.e. 24 October 2010) at a
conversion price of HK$0.162 per share.

The convertible bond cannot be redeemed by G-Prop
prior to the maturity date and the Group may request
G-Prop to redeem the convertible bond at its face value,
at any time during the period from the day immediately
after the second anniversary of the issue date and
expiring on the maturity date.

The convertible bond comprised two components — (i)
loan portion and (ii) conversion and redemption option.
Since the economic characteristics and risks of the
conversion and redemption option are not closely related
to the host contract, it is separated from the host contract
as conversion and redemption option derivative on initial
recognition.
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24,

25.

B IR MR

CONVERTIBLE BOND (continued) 24. WBEREH =)
On application of HKAS 39, the fair value of the RABB LI ELFEI0WHE - RYIPHER
convertible bond — loan portion was determined based AR ES — EEI D 2 A FEFIZER
on an effective interest rate of 8.35% per annum on FEFKRGIFETE - Al LB CE =2
initial recognition and the fair value of the conversion and BEPTET B2 AFEA S RIIEA 7% — &F
redemption option derivative was determined by using RETHIRREEEERA R BN ELETE -
Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model and Binomial Model,
respectively.
During the year ended 31 December 2007, the gain HE_ZTZ+F+_A=+—RHILtFE -
arising from change in fair value of conversion and AR EEREEETET A AT EE
redemption option derivative amounted to approximately B 7 49 A 182,367,000 0 ( ZFE )\
HK$182,367,000 (2008: Nil). F:RE)
During the year ended 31 December 2008, as a result HE_ZZT/\F+-A=+—HLFE -
of the disposal of the convertible bond by the Group to N & B AR E 4 109,333,000 7 JT [A] —
Get Nice Securities Limited, an independent third party, BMBLE=FRARETEFBRAR N
at a consideration of approximately HK$109,333,000, a ERRRES - AEBERALEERLY
loss on disposal of approximately HK$182,918,000 was 182,918,000/ 7T ©
recognised by the Group.
INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED 25. RIiFZFIEREZES
ENTITIES
2008 2007
—EENE T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THT T
Cost of unlisted investment in HEEHEE
jointly controlled entities JE EHIERERK A 15,953 15,953
Share of post-acquisition losses FE(E UL iE 12 B 18 (23,740) (19,891)
(7,787) (8,938)
Amounts due from jointly FEU L RIS E RS
controlled entities (Note) OB (B3 18,222 18,222
10,435 14,284

Note:  The amounts due from jointly controlled entities are unsecured,
interest-free, with no fixed repayment terms and are not
repayable in the foreseeable future.
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25. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED

ENTITIES (continued)

Included in the cost of investment in jointly controlled
entities is goodwill of approximately HK$10,943,000
(2007: HK$10,943,000) arising on the acquisition of
jointly controlled entities in prior years. The movement of

goodwill is set out below:

B IR MR

25. WHEZRFNERBZES 2

RERZEHERRERABIERAEFER
8 S [R 2 1) B B8 P = A A2 2049 10,943,000
BT (T4 : 10,943,000/ 7T) 2/
& oo pEEEHETINT

HK$°000
FET
CARRYING VALUE BREE
At 1 January 2007, 31 December 2007 R-ZZ+F—HA—H -
and 31 December 2008 TEELF+A=+—HEK
—EEN\F+_HA=+—H 10,943

At 31 December 2008 and 2007, the Group had interests
in the following significant jointly controlled entities:

%:%%J\E&:3§t¢+_ A=1+—
C AEER T EAKRENERES

ﬁé Fndlt
Proportion of
Place of nominal value of
Form of registration/ registered/
business incorporation issued capital
Name of jointly structure and operation held by the Group Proportion of
controlled entity ES/EY HR/RY  AEEFEERMER/ voting power Principal activities
REEHEREE F& REXHH BRTRAEELA FALHI TEXK
2008 2007 2008 2007
SEENF _TTLF ZBENF _TTLE
Guangzhou Express Logistics Incorporated PRC 49%* 49%" 50% 50% Provision of
Limited (‘GZ Express’)f SR i logistic services
BNBENRREERAR R
(TEMEE ]
Concord Modern Technology Incorporated Hong Kong 50% 50% 50% 50% Manufacture and
Limited AR & distrioution of
REMRBERAR op tical discs
HERDHIHR
Full Summit Development Incorporated Hong Kong 50% 50% 50% 50% Manufacture and
Limited AR & distrioution of
HEERER AT op tical discs
HERDEIR

* Under the joint venture agreement of GZ Express, the joint venture
partners have joint control over the entity’s daily operating and

financial decisions.

#  The company was established in the PRC in the form of Sino-Foreign

Equity Joint Venture.
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 # = — ZZ

25. INTERESTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED 25.

EENFF A= —ALEE

RiAZEFHEREZER )

ENTITIES (continued)
The summarised financial information in respect of the PDARERESBE v ANEE v R F iRk
Group’s interests in jointly controlled entities which are w2 B AR an T
accounted for using the equity method is set out below:
2008 2007
ZEE)\FE —EELF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
THET FAT
Total assets BEMAE 67,484 79,183
Total liabilities BERSE (104,944) (108,945)
Net liabilities BEFHE (37,460) (29,762)
Group’s share of net liabilities of AREE B (G EE S
jointly controlled entities B (E T (18,730) (14,881)
Revenue EEERE 54,080 32,430
Loss for the year AFERIE (7,698) (2,140)
Group’s share of loss of jointly F AN EE B (R 2[R
controlled entities for the year TH|E R EE (3,849) (1,070)
26. NON-CURRENT DEPOSITS 26. FRBITE
Non-current deposits represent deposits paid for the ERBICHEMEEME  BMEREZFEA

acquisition of properties, plant and equipment and

investment properties, and the deposits will not be

realised within twelve months from the balance sheet

date. Accordingly, the amounts were included in the non-

current assets. The deposits can only be refundable to

the Group when the suppliers fail to deliver the assets to

the Group within the timeframe as agreed with the Group.
The Directors expected that the assets will be delivered to
the Group within the next two years.

REBREMECXNZAIE - RFF2HES
HRE2EAARTERR - At - %%
REFAFRBEE - Z%FF S HEHER
R REFE BN 52 ) 19 5 FO By ] 10 18 B EE A A
TAKER - HRARE - ERREY - ZF
BERNRRMFARXN TAKHE -
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27.

136

B IR MR

INTANGIBLE ASSETS 27. EEEE
Mining Know-how
right fee Total
PRUERE EXEAEE a5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TF#&T F#&T F#ET
COST 2%
At 1 January 2007 R-EE+F— ﬂ H - 3,236 3,236
Acquired from acquisition Y& —FE M B A
of a subsidiary M &ER 695,847 - 695,847
Exchange adjustments [ i Fi% 28,239 - 28,239
Additions INE - 245 245
Disposals He - 6) 6)
At 31 December 2007 A -ZZE+HF+-—HF=+—H
and 1 January 2008 R=ZFZENF—H—H 724,086 3,475 727,561
Exchange adjustments [ i, 52 44,747 - 44,747
Additions INE - 261 261
At 31 December 2008 HR=-ZEZF/\F+-A=+—H 768,833 3,736 772,569
AMORTISATION ﬁﬁé’
At 1 January 2007 R-ZEEZ+F—H—H = 1,051 1,051
Charge for the year REESH - 632 632
Eliminated on disposals & - 6) 6)
At 31 December 2007 A -ZZ+F+-—F=+—H
and 1 January 2008 k=ZFZENF—H—H = 1,677 1,677
Charge for the year KEELH - 750 750
At 31 December 2008 R _ZTZEN\F+_-_A=+—H - 2,427 2,427
CARRYING VALUES BRMEIE
At 31 December 2008 ~HK=-ZZT)\F+_-_HA=+—H 768,833 1,309 770,142
At 31 December 2007 R=ZTZ+HF+_F=+—H 724,086 1,798 725,884

Mining right has finite useful life of 40 years and is
amortised using the units of production method over the
total proven reserves of the coal mines of approximately
93 million tonnes. No amortisation of mining right was
provided during the years ended 31 December 2008 and
2007 as the coal mining site is still under construction and
no production of coal has been commenced.
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZE)1F+_-H=+—HILFE

27.

28.

29.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 27. WELEE &)
Know-how was acquired from third parties, has finite useful M8 = UhE 2 B M8 E 5 rl A F
life and is amortised on a straight-line basis over 5 years. B WIRERERAFAZE -
The recoverable amount of intangible assets had been I EE 2 A B SRR ERAEBETEE
determined based on the value-in-use calculation. ETE - BeneRAlNESREIERERit
Cash flow projections are based on five year periods HEZ AFHY MBS AEE - FREBE
financial budgets approved by senior management. EEVTERLEATBEEENERZITRER
The key assumption for the value-in-use calculation is BRRERDFAE13%( ZZEZ+F :8%)K%2%
the budgeted gross margin at a discount rate of 13% (ZZEZE+5F : 5%) @ JHIREIEEHIE NIT
(2007: 8%) and growth rate of 2% (2007: 5%) which is EEAERBET AFEUALHREZRER
determined based on the management’s expectation and SU2%(ZEZELF : 5%) B E R
past performance of the industry. The cash flow beyond B - BRNEFEE KB SBE =R EER
the five-year period are extrapolated using a steady 2% HE WEERE REEACZEREE
(2007: 5%) growth rate. Since the recoverable amount of BREEIENIREXRE -
the intangible assets is higher than its carrying amount,
the Directors consider that the carrying value of intangible
assets at the balance sheet date is not significantly
impaired.
INVENTORIES 28. #8H
2008 2007
—EEN\FE ZETF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Raw materials B 1,744,933 1,926,465
Work in progress bkt 594,830 526,894
Finished goods 2URK S 221,571 194,857
2,561,334 2,648,216
OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 20. HMtHKEEE
Trade and other receivables and prepayments B REMEBERRRRBNARE
2008 2007
—ZENEF T F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FERT FA&T
Trade receivables B 5 IR K 3,985,533 4,925,821
Bills receivables e ZE 7 775,582 857,508
Other receivables and prepayments H b rE U BR 2k R FE N I 1,004,784 1,398,690
5,765,899 7,182,019
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29.

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

The Group allows credit periods of up to 120 days,
depending on the products sold, to its trade customers.
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables at
the balance sheet dates:

HtltHEE )
AEBRTESEFZEEHERR120
B GEREENESME - NEER -
B EWESR Y R ST

2008 2007

—EENE —ETF

HK$°000 HK$ 000

THT FAT

0 -90 days 0£90H 2,788,189 3,935,709
91 — 180 days 912180H 1,138,520 939,195
Over 180 days 180H A £ 58,824 50,917
3,985,533 4,925,821

All bills receivables of the Group are aged within 90 days
at the balance sheet dates.

Before accepting any new customers, the Group has
an internal credit grading system to assess the potential
customers’ credit quality and the board of directors
has delegated the management to be responsible for
determination of credit limits and credit approvals for any
customers. Limits and scoring attributed to customers
are reviewed every year. 87% (2007: 87%) of the trade
receivables that neither past due nor impaired have the
best credit scoring attributable under the credit grading
system used by the Group.

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance
are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$512,083,000 (2007: HK$626,320,000) which are
past due at the reporting date for which the Group has
not provided for impairment loss. The Group does not
hold any collateral over these balances. The average age
of these receivables is 134 days (2007: 121 days).
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29.

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables
which are past due but not impaired at the balance sheet

HMMEEE 2
REER - BEEEREY E 5 EKEX
ZERB AT -

dates:
2008 2007
—ETN\F —ETLF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
91 — 120 days 912120H 202,112 276,256
121 - 150 days 121£150H 191,019 239,424
151 — 180 days 151%&180H 60,128 59,723
Over 180 days 180H A £ 58,824 50,917
512,083 626,320

The Group has provided fully for all receivables that are
past due beyond 240 days because historical experience is
such that these receivables are generally not recoverable.
Allowance on trade receivables between 120 and 240
days are made based on estimated irrecoverable amounts
by reference to past default experience and objective
evidences of impairment determined by the difference
between the carrying amount and the present value of
the estimate future cash flow discounted at the original
effective interest rate.

In determining the recoverability of the trade receivables,
the Group monitors any change in the credit quality of
the trade receivables since the credit was granted and up
to the reporting date. The Directors considered that the
Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties and
customers.

BEEEREENEEI2408 A £ 2 FEURERR—
BaEENE - MAEEHZERKERS
HIEL B - BREEN T 1202 240A 2 & 5
FEURBR TR 2 Ml IR EBERRLEHE
AT AR B A ER] C REZE
BB ERIRERAEEARA B RITIR
fmEr BB RER AR 2581 E -

EEEEZRBRUERRZ JIREER - B
FRAREEEEEAREH  AEEER
BRUEARERERZEINES  -EF
R REFPME  AREYEEAEH
FERR  ERHEZEISZHIREFD
i o
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NFEF A=+ —HILFE

29. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued) 29. HMMHESIE =
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts RIBRREHFE ST

2008 2007

ZEE)\FE —ETLF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET T

Balance at beginning of the year FH R 320,615 286,285
Impairment losses recognised TR R BR R 2

on receivables B EE 40,474 89,004

Amounts written off as uncollectible WS AT Y B Z FRI8 (2,683) (54,674)

Balance at end of the year FERER 358,406 320,615

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are

individually impaired trade receivables with an aggregate
balance of HK$358,406,000 (2007: HK$320,615,000)
which have either been placed under liquidation or in

severe financial difficulties. The Group does not hold any

collateral over these balances.

Included in trade and other receivables and prepayments

are the following amounts denominated in a currency

other than the functional currency of the group entities to

which they relate:

RBREFEDFEERNEREZE S ERE
I 4AEERR5358,406,0008 T0( =TT+
£ : 320,615,000 7T) * ZERERBHE
NEANVIEREIE T 25008 - NEEZ
FEAT B A EAE R -

B 5 R EMEWRR M IE N RIABRE T
NEEERBAMR 2B IAINEREHE
LR

2008 2007

—EENF T F

Amount Amount

o] i}

’000 ’000

Fx T

Uss$ ETT 223,465 230,494
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZE)1F+_-H=+—HILFE

29.

30.

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued) 29. HtWEEE 2
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRERSE
Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the RITERRRSBPEAEERE2RER
Group and short-term bank deposits with an original REFB A=A T ZEHEITEF
maturity of three months or less. At 31 December 2008, K RZBENF+=_A=+—H ' B17T
the bank balances and deposits carry interest at the LA N SRR TS E R ENT0.01E
prevailing market interest rate which range from 0.01% to F73BE(ZZZLF - NF0.18EE34
7.83% (2007: 0.18% to 3.4%) per annum. E)tE -
At 31 December 2008 and 2007, the Group had bank RIZEENFR T+ F+-_A=+—
balances and cash that were not freely convertible or H > KEEATAB/RNBRATDEIN
were subject to exchange controls in the PRC amounting P& I TR PR 2 SRITAA SR R IR © 9 Al &Y
to approximately HK$1,723.5 million and HK$1,316.4 #%1,723,500,000 % 7T & 1,316,400,000 /&
million, respectively. T, ©
Included in the bank balances and cash are the following RIS RESAETINEE TR
amounts denominated in currencies other than the ZUREE R AINEHEETHAE 2 5RFE
functional currency of the group entities to which they
relate:
2008 2007
ZEENEF T
Amount Amount
&8 x|
’000 ’000
T T
us$ ET 146,956 115,963
Euro B 5,717 767
Japanese Yen HIEl 1,518 12,786
PROPERTIES HELD FOR DEVELOPMENT 30. FREYE

Properties held for development were situated in the PRC
with medium-term leases and were stated at cost at 31
December 2008.

FERRMECNPBELATRBORFE
R-ZEENF+ - A=+—BEKLT
B o
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31.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31. #fTEeMmIA
2008 2007
—EBENE ZETLE
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
BE af BE BE
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THET THT THT
Interest rate swap contracts F&EEA L)
- derivatives under hedge —RE AR
accounting ZITETA - (136,961) = =
— derivatives not under — WA AR
hedge accounting SRz TET R - (1,428) 1,174 -
Commodity forward contracts EmERAY 2,454 - 368 =
Foreign currency forward contracts ~ YMEZREIA 4 1,014 (512) 1,270 (1,184)
3468  (138,901) 2,812 (1,184)
Analysed for reporting purposes as:  gtEREDITINT -
Current ik 3,468 (1,940) 2,812 (1,184)
Non-current IERE = (136,961) - -
3468  (138,901) 2,812 (1,184)
(@) Interest rate swap contracts under cash (a) ReRBHHETHREHEN

flow hedges

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the
Group used interest rate swap contracts (net
quarterly settlement) to minimise its exposure
to certain cash flow changes of its floating-rate
Hong Kong dollar bank borrowings by swapping
floating interest rates to fixed interest rates. The
terms of these interest rate swap contracts were
negotiated to match with those of the hedged
bank borrowings (i.e. same notional amount of
the derivatives match with principal amounts of
pank borrowings, same currency and interest rate
index). The Directors consider that the interest
rate swap contracts are highly effective hedging
instruments and have designated them as cash
flows hedging instruments for hedge accounting
purpose.
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZE)1F+_-H=+—HILFE

31.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31.

(continued)

(a)

Interest rate swap contracts under cash
flow hedges (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2008, the
hedge was 80% to 118% effective in hedging
cash flow exposure to interest rate movements.
Fair value losses of HK$144,780,000 have been
deferred in equity and are expected to be released
to the consolidated income statement when the
hedged interest expense is charged to profit or
loss quarterly.

During the year ended 31 December 2008,
an amount of approximately HK$16,717,000
transferred from equity into profit or loss was
included in the finance costs in the consolidated
income statement (see Note 12).

Included in bank borrowings as disclosed in note
33 were bank loans of HK$5,166,700,000 (2007:
Nil) which were under cash flow hedges and the
major terms of the interest rate swap contracts
under cash flow hedges at the balance sheet date
are as follows:

4=

177

(a)

$emT R

BEeRBHFETAREREN
(#)
HE-_TZN\F+=-A=+—H
IEFE @ YR AZIHE &
EBROBEeREmMS  HhA
80% E£118% B - A Y EEE
144,780,000 7 7T i 4 7 AR IE -
TEERET R A B BN B A
BRI AR & W am R B o

BEZZTZN\F+-A=T—HIt
FE - —£R84916,717,000% 7T
HEREEEER @ fFAGERE
RARE KA (RHFET12) ©

WEEE - HES3ATIHE 2 RITHE
BERERSREHHRETRITER
5,166,700,0007% 7T ( =TT+ 4F :
RAE)  MZERSHELERET
FIRIBHIE K 2 EBIEFAT ¢

Outstanding
contracts as at Notional Receive
R B K amount Maturity floating Pay fixed
B2 EN AfE FHA PR R FES
HK$°000
TR
31 December 2008 266,700 Within 1 to 2 years HIBOR 3.61%
“EEN\FF-A=1—H —EMER BRRIIAFRFE  S61E
2,800,000 Within 2 to 3 years HIBOR 2.37% t0 3.03%
ME=FR ERBRORERSE  237TEZ3.03E
2,100,000 Within 3 to 4 years HIBOR 2.66% to 4.04%
“ENFR ERRORERSE  266EZ404E

Annual Report 2008 Kingboard Chemical Holdings Limited 1 43

—TE\FER RELIRE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 434 B #& R TR MsE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZ)1F+ _-H=+—HILFE

31. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31. #fT$€MTIT & #
(continued)
(b) Interest rate swap contracts not under cash (b) FEEREEPETHNRERHELN
flow hedges
During the years ended 31 December 2008 and BE_ZZE\FE_ZETt+tF+=
2007, the cash flow hedges for some interest A=+—HIFE - 25 F|EEH
rate swap contracts did not qualify for hedging BRZBREREGHITEHFE
accounting. As a result, a loss in fair value of A& o Bt - ZEANREHELHA
those interest rate swap contracts amounting FEEEX2,602,0008T(ZEZ
to approximately HK$2,602,000 (2007: a +4F : 286,636,000/ 7T ) REL R
gain of HK$6,636,000) was recognised in the —EENFF+_A=t+—HILFE
consolidated income statement for the year ended ZIFA N RIER
31 December 2008.
At the balance sheet date, major terms of NEEH ZETFEBEESREY
these contracts which did not qualify for hedge HIF N EE A SN EBIF
accounting under cash flow hedges are as follows: AT
Outstanding
contracts as at Notional Receive
REAT B & amount Maturity floating Pay fixed
HHzEl HfE 38R FRYCE R P ER
HK$'000
THET
31 December 2008 300,000 Within 1 year HIBOR 3.40% t0 3.74%
“ZZ\F+ZA=t-H —&R BARTAZRHKE 340EZ3T74E
31 December 2007 300,000 Within 1 year HIBOR 2.56%
“ZZHFTZA=t-H —&R BERITAEHRE  2.56F
300,000 Within 1 to 2 years HIBOR 3.40% t0 3.74%
—EMFA BARTAZRKE  340EZ374E
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31. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31. fi&&fT R =)

(continued)

(c) Commodity forward contracts not under () WL R ESIR B RER
hedge accounting =5
During both years, the Group entered into RRAEFEREA - NEER B miE
commodity forward contracts to hedge against HRE %) » DAY AN & B AT SRR
part of the Group’s exposure in copper price HrEoEE  c NSHHE %5
fluctuations. At the respective maturity dates, the S AT AR S {ERFEAE o
contracts are settled net in cash with the issuer. ZERGEEHRREBPZANZE
The major terms of the outstanding contracts at EERT

the balance sheet dates are as follows:

At 31 December 2008 R=ZBEN\F+=-A=+—H

Contract amount

ERER
Currency Quantity Maturity Commodity forward price
= BE Z|E A BmEE
us$ Copper 500 3 March 2009 Sell at US$3,617/metric tonne
ET Metric Tonnes —ETNF=A=H B ANE3,617ETTHE
50072 NAR
At 31 December 2007 R_ZBEFELtHE+—-_A=+—AH

Contract amount

EREHE
Currency Quantity Maturity Commodity forward price
=4 BE E|HH AmEHE
Us$ Copper 100 31 January 2008 Buy at US$7,125/metric tonne
ES Metric Tonnes —EENF—HA=1+—H8 REAME7 125%TEE
1002 WA 5
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31.

146

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 31.

(continued)

(d) Foreign currency forward contracts not
under hedge accounting
During both years, the Group entered into foreign
currency forward contracts to hedge against
part of the Group’s exposure in foreign currency
fluctuations. At the respective maturity dates, the
contracts are settled net in cash with the issuers.
The major terms of the outstanding contracts at
the balance sheet dates are as follows:

At 31 December 2008

TEemMIR )

d)  WHEUEHETEIIRZIMEREH
aK
REEFER  AEBEETINEER
HIBH) - DASTIR AN SR BA S SNE K
BB  RBE2HE - ZF
BHEETAURSIEFREE -
ZERGBHEBHARIMZENZE

RFERAT

R=BENF+=A=+—H

Notional amount Maturity Forward contract rates
HE ES R BHENER

9 contracts to buy US$1,000,000 each Within 1 year US$1 to HK$7.710

N EHIEE1,000,000% 726 4 —FR 1ETTH 7. 7108 7T

9 contracts to buy US$1,000,000 each Within 1 year US$1 to HK$7.695

N EHEE1,000,000% T2 E 4 —FR 12E 7T H,7.695%8 70

9 contracts to sell US$2,000,000 each Within 1 year US$1 to HK$7.710

N &5 52,000,000 T2 &4 —FR 1ETTH7.710%87T

9 contracts to sell US$2,000,000 each Within 1 year US$1 to HK$7.695
Nuth 815 i E2,000,000% T2 &4 —FR 127 4,7.695%8 7T

At 31 December 2007

R-ZFBtHE+-A=+—H

Notional amount Maturity Forward contract rates
HE Z|EA A EHEHNER

9 contracts to buy US$1,000,000 each Within 1 year US$1 to HK$7.732
NABHEE,000,000% T2 &4 —FR 13ETLH.7.73287C

12 contracts to buy US$1,000,000 each Within 1 to 2 years US$1 to HK$7.695

+ =B/ E1,000,000E T2 EH —EMFA 1€ 7054, 7.695%8 7T

9 contracts to sell US$1,000,000 each Within 1 year US$1 to HK$7.732

Nuth &5 HiE1,000,000E T2 &4 —FR 1ETLH7.7327%8 T

12 contracts to sell US$1,000,000 each Within 1 to 2 years US$1 to HK$7.695

+ = &5 H%E1,000,000E T2 A 4 —ZEMER 1E 7T H.7.695%8 7T

The above derivatives were measured at fair value at each
balance sheet date by reference to the valuation provided
by counterparty financial institutions for these instruments
at the balance sheet dates.
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32.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 32.
BILLS PAYABLE

The following is an aged analysis of the trade payables at

the balance sheet dates:

5 5 B H At FE AT AR SR B PR 4 TR 4R

REER  BHENERZ KR DTN

B

2008 2007

—EE)N\F —ETLF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FHET T

0—-90 days 0-90H 1,084,914 1,657,401
91 — 180 days 91 - 180H 498,968 289,407
Over 180 days 180H LA £ 165,795 102,222
1,749,677 2,049,030

AEBMBRNEBRREDSEE BER
9Q0HZA o

All bills payable of the Group are aged within 90 days at
the balance sheet dates.

Included in trade and other payables and bills payable are B 5 REHMENERTRLENREBRE T

the following amounts denominated in currencies other NEEEE A BB AINE B ETE
than the functional currency of the group entities to which W
they relate:
2008 2007
ZBEBNF —TETLF
Amount Amount
& TR
’000 ’000
Frx Tt
us$ T 46,157 98,571
Japanese Yen H 1,305,937 351,606
Macau Pataca SR - 14
Euro BT 36,894 17,358
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—ETNFF A=+ —HIFE
33. BANK BORROWINGS 33. #TEH
2008 2007
—ETN\FE —ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TH#T FAIT
Bank loans RITER 9,030,123 6,811,850
Trust receipt loans ErEIEE R 672,132 437,277
Bank overdrafts RITEX 16 585
9,702,271 7,249,712
Carrying amounts repayable: AERZRAEE :
On demand or within one year FEESRS RN —FNRN 2,596,995 1,759,340
More than one year but not more —F LA BN BBRF
than two years 2,145,242 1,465,643
More than two years but not more M LA _ BN BB =4
than three years 2,504,083 1,228,075
More than three years but not more = FE P HETBEIUE
than four years 2,187,835 2,272,279
More than four years but not more WA BT HBIBEAE
than five years 222,759 438,941
More than five years FFEAE 45,357 85,434
7,105,276 5,490,372
Total aEr 9,702,271 7,249,712
The bank borrowings are unsecured and bear interest at
market rates.

RITEEREIER - WIRTISHERGTE

o
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33. BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 33. #MITEE =)
Included in the above bank borrowings are the fixed-rate FHSRITREEREAR TIMEER S E
bank borrowings which are repayable as follows: BHRITEE
2008 2007
—ETN\F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FTHET FAT
Fixed-rate bank borrowings repayable: 7B/ 3| EAfE(EE
Z;E SRITIEE
Within one year —FE R 7,937 48,382
More than one year but not more —F LA HENBBRF
than two years - 26,698
More than two years but not more FELA BN BB =F
than three years - 26,372
7,937 101,452
The fixed-rate bank borrowings carry interest at 6.66% FERRITEEFERAECBE(ZZEZ+

(2007: 4.21% to 5.67%) per annum.

The rest of the bank borrowings are variable- HRTRITEELATEEE  FERNTSE
HBIRITRIZETF ENN0.4EE BB RITRZESR
BIN20E(ZZTZTLF : HHBRITRAZER

BM0AEZFBRITEESRBIN1.02)H

s
=7

rate borrowings which carry interest ranging from
HIBOR+0.4% to HIBOR+2.0% (2007: HIBOR+0.4% to
HIBOR+1.0%) per annum.

The range of effective interest rates (which are also REERTEEZERFER(BEREETL

equal to contracted interest rates) on the Group’s bank FMZE)SEEWMT -

borrowings are as follows:

2008 2007
t- - 7183 —ZETHF

Effective interest rates ERFI%
Fixed-rate borrowings TEEE 6.66%  4.21%105.67%
6.66/2 421EZE5.67E
Variable-rate borrowings ZEEE 2.25% t0 3.85%  3.80% t0 5.40%
2.25EF3.85E 3.80FEZ% 5.40%E
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33.

34.

1 50 Annual Report 2008 Kingboard Chemical Holdings Limited
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BANK BORROWINGS (continued) 33. #ITEE®
Included in bank borrowings are the following amounts SBITHEEAETAEEEE Y A4
denominated in currencies other than the functional ERINEEHE S5
currency of the group entities to which they relate:
2008 2007
—ETN\F —ETF
Amount Amount
&8 i
’000 ’000
T T
Us$ ET 49,071 57,042
Euro BT 515 6,727
Japanese Yen H 70,926 50,700
DEFERRED TAXATION 34. RERA
The followings are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) TRARBRAAR AR RBMAANE TR
recognised and movements thereon during the current ZEEREMBER(BE)ARER 2#
and prior reporting periods: g :
Undistributed
Accelerated Write-down ~ Revaluation profits of
tax Tax of of Hedging an associate
depreciation losses inventories properties instruments —FEEEAR Total
NERKAE  BEEE  FEME MEER IR 2AAREA ait
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
Tk Than ThL T ThTL T ThTL
At1 January 2007 N5 rE-A-A 41,082 (9.678) (14580 - - - 16,824
Exchange adjustments EREE (617) (580 - - - - (1,197)
(Creatt) charge to consolidated income ~ AEESGANERZ
statement for the year (Note 1) ()% (M3E13) 01) 955 9,676) - - - (9622
Effectof changein tax rate (Note 1)~ HEE 87 2 (HizH3) - - 1,166 - - - 1,166
31 December 2007 RoBBLETA=T-BR
and 1 January 2008 “Z3)\&-A-H 39,564 (9,303) (23,090) - - - 7171
Exchange adjustments [ 2,302 (437) - - - - 1,865
Acoisition of subsidiaries WENBAA - - - 9,653 - - 9,853
Charge to consolidated KEEL éu&mﬁz
income statement T (fEE13
for the year (Note 18) 3,306 1112 8,480 2,041 - 9318 24,856
Eifect of change intax rate (Note 18]~ Fi 2812 /2 (Hi3:13) - - 1,02 - - - 102
Creditto equty for the year SAREEER - - - - (18,525) - (18,525)
Released to consolidated RERERGalER
income statement for the year = = = = 1,746 = 1,746
Utiised during the year MEERHE - - - - - (0,318) (9.318)
At 31 December 2008 W=2ENE
TZA=1-8 45171 (8,628) (13,589) 12,494 (16,779) - 18,669
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34.

DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)

For the purposes of balance sheet presentation, certain
deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The
following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

EIEIRIA ()
ETEEHREERABERREEAGER
Z2TFABRMIELEH - LT RZFRLER
HESRRAEMBEREORERELND
#r

2008 2007

—EE)N\FE —ETTLF

HK$’000 HK$’000

F#&T FATT

Deferred tax liabilities FERIEE F 51,329 29,165
Deferred tax assets BT IEEE (32,660) (21,994)

18,669 7,171

Under the New Law of the PRC, a withholding tax is
imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits
earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008
onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided for
in the consolidated financial statements in respect of
temporary differences attributable to profits earned by
the Company’s PRC subsidiaries since 1 January 2008
amounting to HK$1,053,525,000 for the year ended
31 December 2008 as the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.

At 31 December 2008, deferred tax assets of (i)
approximately HK$8,628,000 (2007: HK$9,303,000)
in relation to unused tax losses; (ii) approximately
HK$13,589,000 (2007: HK$23,090,000) in relation
to write-down of inventories and (iii) approximately
HK$16,779,000 (2007: Nil) in relation to loss on cash
flow hedge recognised in hedging reserve have been
recognised in the Group’s consolidated balance sheet.

REFFERE BT N\F—A—H
B AR R R HT B A R B E AT 2
wm A E IR 2R B HNTEINS - BEZT
ENF+ZA=+—HLEFE  ARQFRZ
FEMBARIE-ETNGE— A — Bk
B2 4 | FE 1k 2 Bl = 2 51,058,525,000
BT AEEW AR EZERBERN GRS BB
WL EE - RE RSB EGIEE
R BABRRERBAE
NERA R K RER o

REZZENF+=—A=+—8 ' (JEEXS
PR I8 518 2 IR AE T 18 & = 498,628,0007%;
TL(ZZTZTLF £ 9,303,000/ 7T) ; (i))FE 4
WORTF & 2 R AE T 18 & 4918,589,00078
TL(ZZZ 4 1 23,090,000/87T) ¢ Kdiii)
BHRBEESRELTEEZEEHIBEEED
16,779,000/ L (=TT +F : 8B )ER
REBEGREEEBBERER
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZE)1F+_-H=+—HILFE

34. DEFERRED TAXATION (continued) 34.

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unrecognised
deferred tax assets due to the unpredictability of the
future profit streams arising from tax losses amounting to
approximately HK$92,286,000 (2007: HK$64,334,000).
All tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely. The
Group also has unrecognised deferred tax assets of
approximately HK$6,833,000 (2007: Nil) in relation to loss
on cash flow hedge recognised in hedging reserve due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams.

BIERIA 2)

REER AEBEARBREEFHIEE
E - REA/EETE R E4192,286,00078
TT(ZZTZTLF : 64,334,000/ ) 2 18
BBFTE 4 2 R m AR - 2 EFIEE
BRI EREAE - [N AKERE RS
HEETER RS ML PERAR 2R
TRIE LT I8 & E 496,833,000/ T(=F
THE RE)  RARBEE AR

35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. K&
Number of shares Share capital
REGHE R
2008 2007 2008 2007
b J)K::3 I o3 “EENE e 2
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THET
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each HREE0.108TTL
LRk
Authorised ETE 1,200,000,000  1,200,000,000 120,000 120,000
Issued and fully paid BETRER
At beginning of the year REA) 838,009,046 832,799,046 83,810 83,280
Exercise of share options TPELERE
(see Note 36) (S 13%36) 11,300,000 5,300,000 1,130 530
Shares repurchased and cancelled B kAR (10,138,000) - (1,014) -
At end of the year JinkiAs 839,261,046 838,099,046 83,926 83,810
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35.

36.

FENFF A=+ —AUEE

SHARE CAPITAL (continued) 35. KXz
During the year ended 31 December 2008, the Company BE—_ZENE+_BA=T—HILEE -
repurchased its own shares on the Stock Exchange as RARREFRFTERI AR FAR MDA -
follows:
Number of
ordinary shares Price per share Aggregate
of HK$0.10 each FRRHER consideration
Month of SREE0.10ET Highest Lowest paid
repurchase HE A5 ZEBREE BE RE CHEARE
HK$ HK$ HK$'000
BT BT THT
January —A 281,000 30.50 30.35 8,560
October +A 9,615,500 18.30 8.93 152,613
November +—H 241,500 11.90 9.03 2,734
10,138,000 163,907
The above shares were cancelled upon repurchase. LIRS E R ks o
None of the Company’s subsidiaries purchased, sold or 2 EENFER_ZTEZTLF+ A
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during =t+—HLFE AR EA RS ERE
the years ended 31 December 2008 and 2007. B - HEHBERAQREM EmES -
SHARE OPTIONS 36. kR
(a) Employees’ share option scheme of the (a) AAEREEEERESS

Company

The Company adopted its first share option
scheme on 11 May 1998, and such share option
scheme was terminated upon the adoption of its
second share option scheme (“2002 Scheme”)
on 2 July 2002 for the duration of 10 years. In
view of the recent changes to the Listing Rules,
a new share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
approved by shareholders of the Company at the
extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 23 March 2009. The 2002 Scheme was
accordingly terminated on the same day without
affecting the rights of holders of any options
granted and outstanding under the 2002 Scheme.

RRRR—ANNFREA+—HEK
ME B EETREAREE - HiR%
BRBRESFENR_FT_FA
“HRARME_EARt+F2EE
BRESEI(T —ZZT —F5H8 Dif
ARIE - AT ETRAIZ B
RARBRRER-ZTENEF=R
“tT=BARZARRBRERERA
g LB ARS8l ([ 3%
&) - Z2T S EITE T
REBKIE - =TT = F51 &8
TEADRE RERTEZBER
BAERBAZENLIZZE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZE)1F+_-H=+—HILFE

36.

SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(a)

Employees’ share option scheme of the
Company (continued)

Under the Scheme which is valid for a period of
ten years, the board of directors of the Company
may, at its discretion, grant options to subscribe
for shares in the Company to eligible participants
(“Eligible Participants”) who contribute to the long-
term growth and profitability of the Company.
Eligible Participants include (i) any employee
(whether full time or part time) of the Company,
any of its subsidiaries or any entity in which the
Group holds any equity interests (“Invested Entity”),
including any executive director of the Company,
any of such subsidiaries or any Invested Entity; (ii)
any non-executive directors (including independent
non-executive directors) of the Company, its
subsidiaries or any Invested Entity; (iii) any supplier
of goods or services to any member of the Group
or any Invested Entity; (iv) any customer of the
Group or any Invested Entity; (v) any shareholder
of any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;
and (vi) any person or entity who from time to time
determined by the Board as having contributed
or may contribute to the development and growth
of the Group based on his or its performance
and/or years of service, or is regarded as valuable
resources of the Group based on his/its working
experience, knowledge in the industry and other
relevant factors. The subscription price for the
Company’s shares shall be a price at least equal to
the highest of the nominal value of the Company’s
shares, the average of the closing prices of the
Company’s shares quoted on the Stock Exchange
on the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of an offer of the grant of the options and
the closing price of the Company’s shares quoted
on the Stock Exchange on the date of an offer
of the grant of the options. The options must be
taken up within 28 business days from the date of
grant upon payment of HK$1 and are exercisable
over a period to be determined and notified by
the Directors to each grantee, which period may
commence from the date of acceptance of the
offer of the grant of the options but shall end in
any event not later than ten years from the date of
adoption of the Scheme.
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36.

SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(a)

Employees’ share option scheme of the
Company (continued)

The total number of the Company’s shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to
be granted under the Scheme and any other
schemes of the Group (excluding options lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Scheme
and any other schemes of the Group) must not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the Company’s
shares in issue as at the date of approval of
the Scheme. The limit on the number of the
Company’s shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the Scheme and any other
schemes of the Group must not exceed 30% of
the Company’s shares in issue from time to time.
The total number of the Company’s shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of the options
granted to each grantee (including both exercised
and outstanding options) under the Scheme or
other schemes of the Group in any 12-month
period up to the date of grant must not exceed
1% of the Company’s shares in issue at the date
of grant unless approved by the Company’s
shareholders in general meeting.

In accordance with the terms of the Scheme,
share options of the Company issued vest at the
date of grant.

There was no share options granted under the
Scheme since its adoption. At 31 December 2008,
the number of shares in respect of which options
had been granted and remained outstanding
under the 2002 Scheme was 14,622,000 (2007:
25,922,000), representing 1.74% (2007: 3.09%) of
the shares of the Company in issue on that date.

36.
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AR TROZBEBRE(CT
BIERIEZA 8 R A S B E R H A
FTEIZ IFRRE R 2 B BAIE)
BEATE T Al # AT 2 AR B B A48
8 ARTBBBARRNHLEZ
FTEIBME BT 10% - ARE
Zat 8| R AKBEAE M BIRE
ERBARITERBFTEZESE
FEREEITE M A BT 2 AR AR
MEBRE - NMEEBANR RN
B #ETRM30% - REERLH
HiEEA+ — @A HRE - AREZ
ARl AR E A ERTE
ARAZEBRBRE(BREDITE
R HARITE 2 B BBAE) ITE
MET AT RITZAR B IR 4
g THEAARRINE L BAHE
BITBRMD1% > RIFBADFTME
RIRAEHE - BIFERIT

RBZA B 26K - NRRAEST
ZEEBEENR L AHRE -

BT BB LATR - LA B TR AR
EREZTEEE - R=ZTTN\F
TZA=1+—HB  RE-ZTZT=_F
FFEIE R M M AR T T 2 BB AR
T R 2 B 1D # E 514,622,0000%
(ZZZT L4 : 25922,000 %)
HERARARNE B Z2BETRN
1.74%( =TT+ : 3.09%) °

Annual Report 2008 Kingboard Chemical Holdings Limited 1 55

—TE\FER RELIEE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 434 B #& &R R MisE

For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZE)1F+_-H=+—HILFE

36. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)
(a) Employees’ share option scheme of the

Company (continued)

36.

BB =)
(a)

KAREEELBRETR(HE)

A summary of the movements of the share options TR —EE_FEAEBETZ2EL
under the 2002 Scheme for the year is as follows: BEIR R E R T
Grantedto  Granted to
directors  employees Total
BTES BTEE &t
Balance at 1 January 2007 NZEZELF
—A—HAZ&% 11,233,000 19,989,000 31,222,000
Exercised during the year (Note) AFERTTE (M) (2,803,200) (2,496,800) (5,300,000)
Reclassifications BN E 3,588,000  (3,588,000) =
Balance at 31 December 2007 R_ZTZL4F
and 1 January 2008 +=—A=+—H
=TT NE
—HA—B2&&H% 12,017,800 13,904,200 25,922,000
Exercised during the year (Note) RERTE(KT) (5,803,200)  (5,496,800) (11,300,000)
Balance at 31 December 2008 MR =ZTZT/)\F+_1
=—t+—Bz#&s 6,214,600 8,407,400 14,622,000
Note:  The above share options were granted on 11 October MizE:  EFaBLEERER-ZZE_F+A
2002 at an exercise price of HK$3.74 per share. These +—BRE - TEEATRITAE
options are exercisable during the period from 15 T REBEBRETR-_TT =
October 2002 to 2 July 2012. F+A+HEAE-—E——F A=
H BT -

During the year, options to subscribe for
11,300,000 shares in the Company at HK$3.74
per share were exercised. The weighted average
closing price of the Company’s shares quoted
on the Stock Exchange on the five trading days
immediately before the exercise dates was
HK$20.66.
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36.

SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(b)

Employees’ share option scheme of EEIC
The 2002 Elec & Eltek Employees’ Share Option
Scheme (the “2002 EEIC Scheme”) which was
adopted from 12 November 2002 for the duration
of 5 years, had terminated in November 2007
without affecting the rights of holders of any
options granted and outstanding under the 2002
EEIC Scheme.

EEIC has since 1997, had in place share option
schemes to acknowledge the contributions of
and to motivate employees to contribute to the
EEIC Group. With the expiration of the 2002 EEIC
Scheme, the directors of EEIC wished to have
in place a new share option scheme to replace
the expired 2002 EEIC Scheme for the purpose
of providing an opportunity for employees who
have contributed significantly to the growth and
performance of the EEIC Group to participate
in the equity of EEIC so as to motivate them to
greater dedication, loyalty and higher standards
of performance, and to give recognition to past
contributions and services as well as to align
the interests of employees with the interests of
shareholders.

The 2008 Elec & Eltek Employees’ Share Option
Scheme (the “2008 EEIC Scheme”) was approved
by the shareholders of EEIC at the extraordinary
general meeting of EEIC held on 21 April 2008
and was adopted and took effect from 9 May
2008 upon approval by the shareholders of the
Company.

B IR MR
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For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZE)1F+_-H=+—HILFE

36.

SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(b)

Employees’ share option scheme of EEIC
(continued)

The 2008 EEIC Scheme which shall be administered
by the committee of directors of EEIC as
authorised by EEIC’s directors, is open to full-time
employees and directors of any company within
EEIC and its subsidiaries, the parent group and of
an associated company of EEIC, subject to certain
conditions being satisfied.

The 2008 EEIC Scheme entitles the option holders
to exercise their options and subscribe for new
ordinary shares in EEIC either at an “Exercise
Price”, which equals to the average of the last
dealt prices for an EEIC share for a period of 5
consecutive market days immediately prior to
the relevant date of grant, or at a discount to the
Exercise Price as defined earlier, whereby the
discount shall not exceed 20% of the Exercise
Price.

Options granted at the Exercise Price or discount
to the Exercise Price is exercisable after the first
or second anniversary respectively of the date of
grant and expiring on the fifth anniversary of the
date of grant.

The duration of the 2008 EEIC Scheme is 10
years and the total number of shares in EEIC
that may be issued shall not exceed 10% of the
total number of EEIC shares in issue as at the
adoption date or subject to certain conditions
being satisfied, 15% of the total issued shares of
EEIC excluding treasury shares from time to time.
The total number of EEIC shares issued and to be
issued upon the exercise of the options granted
to each participant (including both exercised and
outstanding options) in any 12-month period must
not exceed 1% of the total number of EEIC shares
in issue from time to time.

Share options may be accepted within 30 days
after the relevant date of grant accompanied
by payment of S$1.00 (or its equivalent) as
consideration by the participants, but the grant of
share options do not confer rights on the option
holders to any dividend entitlement or to vote at
any shareholders’ meeting.
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36.

SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

Employees’ share option scheme of EEIC
(continued)

There was no share options granted under the
2008 EEIC Scheme since its adoption. However,
there are outstanding share options under the
2002 EEIC Scheme and the summary of the
movements of the outstanding share options
under the 2002 EEIC Scheme for the year is as

(b)

B IR MR

36.

BigpsiE o)

(b)

EEIClEE BB RET&I(E)

Q:Z@Z@)\iEEIC”rzU%%WLA?K
MEELERERE-_ZTTN\E
EEICd‘iHﬁﬁ o SR1 + IREFH AR
BT~ FEEICEEIRE 2 Bk
BBRE © FR-T T —FEEICFE|
BN AT 2 BB RAE 2 &

follows: BEENT :
Grantedto  Granted to
Directors employees Total
RYES RTEE Fob
Balance at 1 January 2007 RZZTZE+F—HA—B2Z
(Note) iR (Pt ) 3,892,800 8,013,600 11,906,400
Exercised during the year RENITHRE - (780,600) (780,600)
Lapsed during the year GNP R = (438,800) (438,800)
Balance at 31 December 2007 —EELE+-R
and 1 January 2008 =t+—BR=ZENF
—A—HAZz&% 3,892,800 6,794,200 10,687,000
Lapsed during the year A R B - (1,353,200) (1,353,200)
Balance at 31 December 2008 RZ=ZTZE)\E+_1
=t+—Hz#&% 3,892,800 5,441,000 9,333,800
Note: P3E

The interests in share options arise by virtue of

)

(i)

4,055,000 share options accepted by the Directors and
5,745,000 share options accepted by the employees
of the Group on 24 June 2005, which would entitle
the relevant directors and employees to subscribe
for shares in EEIC at an adjusted subscription price
of US$2.033 per share after the 1 for 5 bonus issue
effected by EEIC on 13 October 2005 (“Bonus Issug”).
The share options are exercisable in whole or in part
at the staggered manner within 5 option periods,
commencing on 26 November 2006, 26 November
2007, 26 November 2008, 26 November 2009 and
26 March 2010 respectively and all ending on 24 May
2010; and

150,000 share options accepted by the independent
non-executive directors of EEIC on 29 September
2005, which would entitle the relevant directors to
subscribe for shares in EEIC at an adjusted subscription
price of US$2.375 per share after the Bonus Issue.
The share options are exercisable in whole or in part
at the staggered manner within 5 option periods,
commencing on 5 September 2006, 5 September
2007, 5 September 2008, 5 September 2009 and 5
July 2010 respectively, and all ending on 4 September
2010.
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36. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(b)

Employees’ share option scheme of EEIC
(continued)

There was no share options exercised during
the year ended 31 December 2008. In 2007,
the average of the closing prices of EEIC’s
shares quoted on The Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited on the five trading days
immediately before the various exercise dates was
US$2.68.

The share options were granted on 24 June 2005,
29 September 2005 and 12 December 2006. The
estimated fair value of each share option granted
on those dates was approximately HK$1.58,
HK$1.55 and HK$2.56 per share respectively.

These fair values were calculated using the
Trinomial Lattice Model. The inputs into the model
are as follows:

36.

BigpsiE o)

(b)

EEICIEE B LERETE (&)

HE-_TT/\F+-A=+—AHL
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BEABRECR _-_ZZHENA
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ARZZEEF+A+ZAE
i RZEABRE S HELE
BREZHEFAFES NN EETR
1.58%7T * 1.55/6 7T 2 2.56/8 7T ©

ZENTFETIE=TEENHE - B
ANAFTEZEBWOT :

Share option grant date

BRBRERL AH
12 December 29 September 24 June
2006 2005 2005
ZBERE  ZZERE CZZERIF
ZA+=R RA=tNB AAZ=tEA
Share price at grant date BHBHZRE US$2.74% T US$2.92%7  US$2.53%E 7T
Subscription price REE US$2.40%E T US$2.85" 37T US$2.44* 7T
Expected volatility EHKE 36.6% 21.2% 25.4%
Expected life TR 5 yearsf 5 yearsE 5 yearsf
Risk-free rate 2[R i 1| 3.7% 4.2% 3.7%

The original subscription price of the share options
granted on 29 September 2005 and 24 June 2005
were adjusted to US$2.375 and US$2.033 respectively
as a result of the Bonus Issue.
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36.

SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(b)

(©)

Employees’ share option scheme of EEIC
(continued)

Expected volatility was determined by using the
historical volatility of EEIC’s share price over the
previous five years. The expected life used in
the model has been adjusted, based on the best
estimate of the management, for the effects of non
transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioural
considerations.

The Group recognised the total expense of
approximately HK$2,816,000 for the year ended
31 December 2008 (2007: HK$4,448,000) in
relation to the share options granted by EEIC.

Employees’ share option scheme of Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited (“KLHL”)

The share option scheme of KLHL (the “KLHL
Scheme”) was approved by the shareholders of
KLHL and the shareholders of the Company on
18 May 2007 and 25 June 2007 respectively.
The KLHL Scheme has been taken effect after
obtaining the approval from the Listing Committee
of the Stock Exchange on 6 July 2007.
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36.

SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(©

Employees’ share option scheme of Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited (“KLHL”) (continued)
The KLHL Scheme would be valid for a period
of 10 years. The directors of KLHL may, at its
discretion, grant options to subscribe for shares
in KLHL to eligible participants who contribute to
the long-term growth and profitability of KLHL and
include (i) any employee or proposed employee
(whether full-time or part-time and including any
executive director), consultants or advisers of or to
KLHL, any of its subsidiaries or any entity (“‘KLHL’s
Invested Entity”) in which KLHL and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “KLHL Group”)
hold an equity interest; (ii) any non-executive
directors (including independent non-executive
directors) of KLHL, any of its subsidiaries or any
KLHL'’s Invested Entity; (i) any supplier of goods
or services to any member of the KLHL Group or
any KLHL’s Invested Entity; (iv) any customer of
the KLHL Group or any KLHL’s Invested Entity;
(v) any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support to the
KLHL Group or any KLHL'’s Invested Entity; and
(vi) any shareholder of any member of the KLHL
Group or any KLHL's Invested Entity or any holder
of any securities issued by any member of the
KLHL Group or any KLHL'’s Invested Entity.

The subscription price of KLHL’s share in respect
of any option granted under the KLHL Scheme
must be at least the highest of (i) the closing price
of the shares of KLHL as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of
grant of the option, which must be a business day;
(i) the average closing price of the shares of KLHL
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant of the option; and (iii)
the nominal value of the shares of KLHL.
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36.

SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(©

Employees’ share option scheme of Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited (“KLHL”) (continued)
The option may be accepted by a participant within
28 days from the date of the offer for the grant of
the option upon the payment of a consideration
of HK$1. An option may be exercised at any time
during a period to be determined and notified by
the directors of KLHL to each grantee, and in the
absence of such determination, from the date
upon which the offer for the grant of the option
is accepted but shall end in any event not later
than 10 years from the date of grant of the option
subject to the provisions for early termination
thereof. The directors of KLHL may, at their
absolute discretion, fix any minimum period for
which an option must be held, any performance
targets that must be achieved and any other
conditions that must be fulfilled before the options
can be exercised upon the grant of an option to a
participant.

The total number of shares of KLHL which may
be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the KLHL Scheme and any other
share option scheme of KLHL (excluding, for this
purpose, options lapsed in accordance with the
terms of the KLHL Scheme and any other share
option scheme of KLHL) must not in aggregate
exceed 10% of the total number of shares of
KLHL in issue as at the date of approval of the
KLHL Scheme.

The maximum number of shares of KLHL which
may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the
KLHL Scheme and any other share option scheme
of KLHL must not exceed 30% of the issued share
capital of KLHL from time to time.

36.
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36. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

(c) Employees’ share option scheme of Kingboard
Laminates Holdings Limited (“KLHL”) (continued)
The total number of shares of KLHL issued and
to be issued upon exercise of the options granted
(including both exercised and outstanding options)
to each participant in any 12-month period must
not exceed 1% of the share capital of KLHL then
in issue unless approved by the shareholders of
KLHL and the Company in general meetings.

No share option was granted pursuant to the
KLHL Scheme since its adoption.

37. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES
During the year ended 31 December 2008, the Group
had the following acquisition of subsidiaries:

(@) In January 2008, the Group acquired 75%
equity interest in a company principally engaged
in manufacture and distribution of PCBs,
from an independent third party, for a cash
consideration of approximately HK$134,667,000.
This acquisition has been accounted for by the
purchase method of accounting. The discount
on acquisition of the subsidiary amounting to
approximately HK$8,091,000 was recognised in
the consolidated income statement for the year
ended 31 December 2008.

1 64 Annual Report 2008 Kingboard Chemical Holdings Limited
—TT)\FFH EBECIER

B IR MR

36.

37.

BxiBE )

© BEERERERERAF(EYE
BR)ESEcERES ()
REA+-EAASHARSL2EE
BHrEBEEREBERTER
FRITHEB BB T mE &
TRETFRTZRBEERRHE
8 TERAREEEREHE Y
ABRAZ1% - BIEEREEER
RARAR ZBERABREAGHER
YERIE °

EEEERE B 8 B R
VAR AR I H T 35 (AT B S 8
Pt -

e B PR B 2 )
HE-FTN\FT-A=+—BLFE
ARERETFIHBA

(@) RZZZENF— A AEEE—F
BUE=FWE R ERE

R SEENRIARFEMR 2 A Rl Z 75% A%
# - 32N E KR 134,667,000 %
JC o MIBIWEIZREE @FEAR ©
e B Ff B8 & &) 2 37 5% 498,091,000
BTEREBEE_TTN\F+=A

=t HLEFEZER RERAME

=7
e

=
£



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 45 & B 75 R &R M 5T
For the year ended 31 December 2008 #Z —ZEZE)1F+_-H=+—HILFE

37. ACAQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 37. UWFEMEBAT =)

(a) (continued) @) (#&)
The net assets acquired in the acquisition, and the WEEFTEBAZ BEFENMRTESEX Y
discount arising on acquisition, are as follows: WraEn T
Acquiree’s
carrying amount
before combination
and fair value
WUWEE T R EBtAT 2
REERAVE
HK$’000
T
Net assets acquired: BAEEFHE :
Properties, plant and equipment ME - BE N&EE 209,348
Prepaid lease payments TEHEERIE 3,704
Trade and other receivables B 5 R H b E AR
and prepayments TEfI IR 189,973
Inventories 78 43,169
Bank balances and cash RITHEBRRIRE 27,411
Trade and other payables B 5 R EA TR (209,013)
Bank borrowings RITEE (74,248)
190,344
Minority interests VYRR ER (47,586)
Discount on acquisition of a subsidiary WEE—REMNE AR 2 T8 (8,091)
Total consideration satisfied by cash MRSz BR(E 134,667
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WGREEAE 2 IR RS -
Cash consideration paid BEfNRERE (134,667)
Bank balances and cash acquired BARTHEBEES 27,411
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents W —EB AR ZIRE &
in respect of the acquisition R FEIEB TR
of a subsidiary (107,256)
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37. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 37. UWiBIEB AT (&)

(o) In January 2008, the Group acquired 100% equity (b) RZZZNF—F K&EER—F
interest in a company, of which the principal B E=FWE—RAR(ZAA
activity of its subsidiary is engaged in manufacture ZMBAREZRZRERSHT
and distribution of industrial raw materials, from an EEMR) 2 100% % - BERE
independent third party for a cash consideration of #)7/51,941,00078 7T © 1t I8 UK BB 17
approximately HK$1,941,000. This acquisition has BEeAAR - HEKEEE
been accounted for by the purchase method of ERE -
accounting. No goodwill was arisen as a result of
the acquisition.

The net assets acquired in the acquisition are as HIBWEEFTEE A 2 BEFEWT ©
follows:
Acquiree’s
carrying amount
before combination
and fair value
WS R EBtATZ
IREERAVE
HK$’000
T
Net assets acquired: BAEEFRE:
Properties, plant and equipment ME - BEREE 110,633
Prepaid lease payments TENHEERIE 64,019
Non-current deposits EmEET® 52
Inventories FE 858
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E A BRI
and prepayments TERRIR 7,720
Bank balances and cash RITHEBERE 1,327
Trade and other payables B 5 & EH AR ARK (182,668)
Total consideration satisfied by cash IR T2 R E 1,941
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WERE £ 2 IR & 5 5E
Cash consideration paid BfRERE (1,941)
Bank balances and cash acquired BARTTEGR MRS 1,327
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents  WWE—REB AT ZHE &
in respect of the acquisition e FEHEB RTFRE
of a subsidiary (614)
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37. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 37. UWiBIEB AT (&)

(c) In June 2008, the Group acquired 100% equity (© R-ZZZENFNA  KEER—F
interest in a company principally engaged in BUE=FWHE—BEENERE
manufacture and distribution of electronic raw EDtEETFREMEZ AR Z100%
materials, from an independent third party, fe#E - 3RS E44540,620,0007%8
for a cash consideration of approximately JC o WIEWEBIREE @A -
HK$40,620,000. This acquisition has been AU RS A A TG o
accounted for by the purchase method of
accounting. No goodwill was arisen as a result of
the acquisition.

The net assets acquired in the acquisition are as AW EEFTEE A 2 BEFEIT
follows:
Acquiree’s
carrying amount
before combination
and fair value
W B F R E BT Z
IREERAVE
HK$’000
T
Net assets acquired: BAEEFRE:
Properties, plant and equipment ME - BEREE 13,428
Inventories FE 18,987
Trade and other receivables B 5 R EMERER R
and prepayments FEfI IR 67,815
Bank balances and cash RITER LIRS 61,514
Trade and other payables 2 5 R HAb R BRFK (121,124)
Total consideration satisfied by cash RS BRE 40,620
Net cash inflow arising on acquisition: WEEEL ISR AR -
Cash consideration paid BEMESRE (40,620)
Bank balances and cash acquired BARTEBR LIRS 61,514
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents WEE—FEHBARIZIRE &
in respect of the acquisition ReFEIBERAFE
of a subsidiary 20,894
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37. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 37. UWiBIEB AT (&)

(d) In July 2008, the Group acquired 100% equity  (d) R-ZEZENFLA  AEBER—BBILE
interest in a company, of which its subsidiaries =ZHBE—RAR(ZARZHBAREE
are principally engaged in manufacture and REEERDHEHFE) Z100%&# - ;e
distribution of methanol, from an independent KB#)/5183,699,000/8 7T * E[RIMAIAEE
third party for a cash consideration of 12 49183,699,000/8 7T 2 B X © M IBY R
approximately HK$183,699,000 together REBEEEAR o WEMB AR 2T
with the assignment of the loans to the Group #13,304,000/8 T ERHBE_ET)\F1+ =
amounting to HK$183,699,000. This acquisition A=T—HILFEZEGERERARER
has been accounted for by the purchase method
of accounting. The discount on acquisition
of subsidiaries amounting to approximately
HK$3,304,000 was recognised in the consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31
December 2008.

The net assets acquired in the acquisition, and the WEEFTEE A 2 BEFERFTEA ZHT:EID
discount on acquisition, are as follows: N
Acquiree’s
carrying amount
before combination
and fair value
WB AR EGRTZ
REERATE
HK$’000
FAIT
Net assets acquired: BAEEFRE:
Properties, plant and equipment ME - BE MR 5,377
Prepaid lease payments TENEEIE 65,680
Trade and other receivables B 5 R H b ERER R
and prepayments TR EIR 115,403
Bank balances and cash RITEER LIRS 11,324
Trade and other payables 5 REMEMIRR (928)
Loans from a former shareholder FIEN=E:N (183,699)
Deferred tax liabilities EIEFIE A E (9,853)
3,304
Assignment of loans from a former () 7N 65 B g
shareholder to the Group AR 2 B 183,699
Discount on acquisition of subsidiaries WM B A |2 PTaE (3,304)
Total consideration satisfied by cash LRSS 2 R (E 183,699
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: UGB EAE 7 IS M FERE -
Cash consideration paid BEfRERE (183,699)
Bank balances and cash acquired BARTHEBRES 11,324
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents ~ WHEHB AR 2R & &
in respect of the acquisition R FEIEB M FRE
of subsidiaries (172,375)
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37. ACAQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 37. UWFEMEBAT =)

During the year ended 31 December 2007, the Group HE-_TT+HF+-A=1+—HILFE"

had the following acquisition of subsidiaries. REEDWHE THIHE AT -

(e) In July 2007, the Group acquired 60% equity (e NRZZEZLELH - NEHA—F
interest in a company principally engaged in mining BYE=HFWE—RRR(ZAF
of coal, from an independent third party, for a cash FERERFER) Z60%[%E
consideration of approximately HK$365,764,000. I & R B4 A365,764,0007% TT ©
This transaction has been reflected as purchases HWEXSRMAEEEELEBE -
of assets and liabilities rather than as a business MICIEERE FHF o
combination.

The net assets acquired in the transaction are as WIERSEAZEEFENT :
follows:
HK$’000
FAT
Net assets acquired: BABEFHE :
Properties, plant and equipment Y - E NEE 17,959
Prepaid lease payments TENHEERIE 3,549
Intangible asset — mining right B E — RIERE 695,847
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E bR AR
and prepayments TERRR 24,024
Bank balances and cash IRITEEBR RS 61,576
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAE IR (24,117)
Bank borrowings RITEE (169,232)
609,606
Minority interests DB R e (243,842)
Total consideration satisfied by cash DIRE T2 R E 365,764

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition of ~ FE:BEE — B AR 2 EE
assets and liabilities through purchase of RBERWEBEL Y

a subsidiary: REMHFRE
Cash consideration paid BERERE (365,764)
Bank balances and cash acquired BARITHESB MRS 61,576

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents U E — BB A Rl

in respect of the acquisition of assets BEEENMBEZ
and liabilities through purchase of Re KA EMEEB R FE
a subsidiary (304,188)
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37. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 37. UxBBMIEBLAE) #)
G} In April 2007, the Group acquired 51% equity ) REZTTLFNMA  AEER—F

interest in a company principally engaged in
manufacture of plastic components, from an
independent third party, for a cash consideration
of approximately HK$20,643,000. This acquisition
has been accounted for by the purchase method
of accounting. The amount of goodwill arising
as a result of the acquisition was approximately

HK$238,000.

The net assets acquired in the acquisition, and the

goodwill arising, are as follows:

BYE=FWE—RRAR(ZAF
FERFRIEBRITH) Z51%MK
T 38 & (B4 520,643,000
T o WWIEIKEE A B @ 5HAS R ©
W B BT E A 2 7 B 40 238,000 75

JG ©

WEEFTBACEEFEMTESZ
2T

Acquiree’s
carrying amount
before combination
and fair value

B E R E BRI Z
REERATE
HK$’000
FAT
Net assets acquired: BABEFE
Properties, plant and equipment M BENEEE 37,153
Prepaid lease payments TENHEERKIEA 2,076
Inventories FE 140
Trade and other receivables B 5 R H b EER R
and prepayments TR RIR 1,212
Bank balances and cash IRITEBRIIRE 363
Trade and other payables E 5 R EABEERK (934)
40,010
Minority interests DERR e (19,605)
Goodwill on acquisition IWREFTEE 2 8 238
Total consideration satisfied by cash MRSz BRE 20,643
Net cash outflow arising on acquisition: WHEEA IR & m L F5E ¢
Cash consideration paid ENESRE (20,643)
Bank balances and cash acquired BASRITESR LIRS 363
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents  WEEREB AR ZIRE K&
in respect of the acquisition of subsidiary BeEEEERLFE (20,280)

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of
subsidiaries is attributable to the anticipated
profitability of the distribution of the Group’s

products from the combination.
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37.

38.

B PR MR

ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 37. UtRBMIB AT =)
The subsidiaries acquired in 2008 contributed revenue of RZZZNFWE 2 EAR A WER
approximately HK$373,573,000 (2007: HK$23,186,000) HE—EEN\E+-F=+—0 | SHEY
and profit of approximately HK$8,360,000 (2007: 7N E2 B 4 22 B B 49 5373,573,0000% 7T
HK$2,169,000) to the Group during the period from dates (ZZEZT 4 : 23,186,00078 7T ) K ¥ A
of acquisition to 31 December 2008. & B4 F 8 BL 498,360,000 T(ZE T+
& : 2,169,000/ 7T) °
If the acquisition in respect of items (a) to (d) had MEEBAEUBR-_ZETNE—HA
been completed on 1 January 2008, total group’s —B %K $¢f‘§lﬁ@ XK R
revenue for the year would have been approximately 23,859,314,000/8 L ( ZEFE+F : @ $
HK$23,859,314,000 (2007: HK$20,027,934,000 in (e) X MHIEME * 4 £20,027,934,000 /&
respect of items (e) and (f)), and profit for the year would TT) NG B i R 49 A 2,135,560,0007
have been approximately HK$2,135,560,000 (2007: T(ZETLF  BFBE)ROEMS - 895
HK$3,471,749,000 in respect of item (e) and (f)). The pro 3,471,749,0008 70 ) ° #EEZERHEH A
forma information is for illustrative purposes only and is ZH  WARRMBRERE (@) 2 (d)EREER
not necessarily an indication of revenue and results of —EENF— A —HTKRNE () )EUY
operations of the Group that actually have been achieved BRZZETtF—A—HEKBASEE
had the acquisition been completed on 1 January 2008 in PRAJER 7 B MK L ELE TR E
respect of items (a) to (d) and 1 January 2007 in respect BRI 7 T8 -
of items (e) and (f), nor is intended to be a projection of
future results.
COMMITMENTS 38. #&kiE
2008 2007
—EENE —EEF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FTHET FAT
Capital expenditure contracted for HUEBEBDE  BER
but not provided in the REMEFTL
consolidated financial statements BARRERE B TSR E
in respect of acquisition EHB Bz EAT
of properties, plant and equipment 625,174 943,580
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39.

40.

172

B IR MR

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 39. ﬁ?&ﬁ%
During the year ended 31 December 2008, the HE-ZZN\FT+-_A=T—HILFE -
Company’s subsidiary, Kaiping Elec & Eltek No.3 AN/ EJZWJ% RAFFERAMZEEFE
Company Limited (“KPEE#3”) is involved in potential =ABMR AR ([KPEE#3]) BB HE — &
lawsuits, claims and proceedings with one of its PRC B 534,017,000/ 7T (HER AR
customers amounting to approximately HK$34,017,000 30,000,0007T) Z B « BRREEE
(equivalent to RMB30 million), arising from some negative F o EHRR&EXEFE S AKPEE43HE
feedback from the end users of the assembled products ZEHRGEBRIREHRZERZBEE - |
using PCBs supplied by KPEE#3. At the same time, the B AEERERRBE - UEAHE A
Group is now recovering the long overdue accounts 2 FEUWBR 5K 491,134,000 L (HHER AR
receivables of approximately HK$1,134,000 (equivalent to #4,000,0007T) °
RMB1 million) from the same customer.
Based on the legal advice obtained by the Group, the BEAREBMEZEZEER EFRAE
Directors are of the opinion that the aforementioned FHEERBZ FHEE  BEFRDBELEG
claim has no merit and the potential lawsuit will not have S 2N &= E B AS AR S 3 K B K A B2 o
a material adverse effect on the financial position of the
Group.
OPERATING LEASES 40. EEHEY
2008 2007
—ETN\F T LF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHT
The Group as lessee: RS B A
Lease payments charged to FRBEERE WS ETINR
the consolidated income statement Z AR
during the year
— for premises — 18,960 15,738
— for plant and machinery — BB Mt gs 20 722
18,980 16,460

Under the leases entered into by the Group, all lease
payments are fixed and predetermined.
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40. OPERATING LEASES (continued) 40. EBEHEH =)
At the balance sheet date, the Group’s future lease REEH  AEBREBETUREE 2 CEHA
payments under non-cancellable operating leases are AR B BN ZHAONZBER TR
payable as follows: i -
Premises Plant and machinery
ES B R
2008 2007 2008 2007

“RENE  —TTLHE  ZBEN\E  _—TTLF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FER TET TiET TAT

Within one year R—ER 9,124 7,565 30 20
After one year but not later than R—FRER
five years RER 10,454 6,287 25 30
After five years RAER 27,366 26,315 51 66
46,944 40,167 106 116
2008 2007
—ET)\F ZETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET T
The Group as lessor: BAASE LA :
Rental income credited to the RERFT ALGLEWERR
consolidated income statement ZHEEWA - EHBR
during the year, net of outgoing 3 $5#915,979,0007 7T
amount of approximately ZETLF
HK$15,979,000 (2007: HK$157,000) 157,000/ 7T) 74,093 30,184
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40.

41.

174

OPERATING LEASES (continued)

The Group’s investment properties are rented to
outside parties for periods up to seven years at fixed
predetermined amounts. At the balance sheet date,
the Group had contracted with tenants to receive the
following future minimum lease payments:

40.

#wEHEN )

AEEZ RENFEHRARET 2 E B
SMFHIAAL  BHRRALEF - W
A AEECRBFIIAL  ARE
R 2 SR T -

2008 2007

ZEE)\FE —EELF

HK$’000 HK$ 000

F#&T T

Within one year R—FR 48,403 45,281
After one year but not later R—FEERAFR

than five years 26,873 37,885

After five years REFE 1,565 2,420

76,841 85,586

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME 41. SEFTEFIEHE

The Group participates in both a defined contribution
scheme which was registered under the Occupational
Retirement Scheme Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”)
and a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) which was established under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Ordinance in December 2000. The assets
of the schemes are held separately from those of the
Group and are invested in funds under the control of
independent trustees. Employees who were members of
the ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment of the MPF
Scheme are members of both the ORSO Scheme and
the MPF Scheme, whereas all new employees joining the
Group on or after December 2000 are required to join the
MPF Scheme.

Employees of subsidiaries in the PRC are members of the
state-sponsored pension scheme operated by the PRC
government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a
certain percentage of their payroll to the pension scheme
to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the pension scheme is to make the required
contributions.

Payments to the ORSO Scheme, the MPF Scheme and
the state-sponsored pension schemes of approximately
HK$71,794,000 (2007: HK$53,896,000) are charged to
the consolidated income statement.
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42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42. ZEATEEMELTFE

OF THE COMPANY
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 AAREENB AN _ZEENFR_ZT
December 2008 and 2007 are as follows: SHFFTA=T—AZFBET
Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid Effective equity
registration share capital/ interest held
and operation registered capital by the Group
Name of subsidiary By BRTRAR AEFHEZ Principal activities
HEARER BRREXMY & /ERER BRRE TEXH
2008 2007
ZEE\E —TTLF
% %
Fogang Kingboard Industry Ltd. PRC RMB878,100,000 47.60+ 46.47+  Manufacture and distribution
RAREERERAR e AR#878,100,0007C of copper fo
SUER A
Guangzhou Chung Shun PRC US$44,595,000 7477 74,77 Manufacture and distribution
Century Fiore Glass Co., Ltd., mE 44,595,000 T of glass yam
BN EEEREERAT HERDERRY
Jamplan (BVI) Limited British Virgin US$1,000 100* 100 Investment holding
Islands* 1,000%7T RERR
EBRNHE:
King Board (Panyu) Chemical Co., Ltd. ~ PRC' HK$100,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
BE(EBILIERAR e ! 100,000,000/57C of chemicals
BERAHICIER
Kingboard (Fogang) Insulated PRC! US$7,615,000 74.77 7477  Manufacture and distribution
Material Company Limited I 7,615,000% 70 of bleached kraft paper
B () G HER AR BERA HRERRA
Kingboard (Fogang) Laminates PRC! US$29,466,000 74.77 7477 Manufacture and distribution
Co. Limited FE | 29,466,000% 7T of laminates
R (fe) BRRERA RERHHEEARR
Kingboard (Fogang) Paper PRC! US$17,936,546 4.1 7477  Manufacture and distribution
Laminates Co. Ltd. R | 17,936,546 T of laminates
B (M) BEARERAR BER 7 HERER
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42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42. ZEATRIEEMEATFRE =)
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid Effective equity
registration share capital/ interest held
and operation registered capital by the Group
Name of subsidiary By BRTRAR AEEEEZ Principal activities
WEARER BIREXMY B/ EfER ERRE TEEH
2008 2007
ZEIN\F _TTHE
% %
Kingboard (Hebei) Cokechem PRC RMB96,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Co. Limited M AK96,000,0007 of coke
BEOTIE) & CRRA BERDHER
Kingboard (Hebei) Chemical PRC RMB357,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Co. Limited e AR%357,000,00070 of chemicals
BEOTE N ITERAR RERDHCIER
Kingboard Natural Gas Chemical PRC! US$18,500,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
(Chong Qing) Limited FE | 18,500,000 7T of methanol
BEAARICI(ER) BER7 HTE
BRAT
Heng Yang Kingboard Chemical PRC! HK$30,000,000 100 100 Manufacture and distribution
Co., Ltd. FE | 30,000,000787T of caustic soda
HERE L TERAR RERD HER
Kingboard (Lianzhou) Fibre PRC US$13,700,000 14.77 74.77  Manufacture and distribution
Glass Co. Limited FE | 13,700,000 7T of glass fabric
BECEM) R AERAR RERD HRBA S
Kingboard (Lianzhou) Copper PRC! US$64,000,000 47.60+ 46.47+  Manufacture and distribution
Foil Limited I | 64,000,000 7T of copper foi
REEN)REERAT BUER 7 HA
Kingboard (Panyu Nansha) PRC RMB250,000,000 74.77 74.77  Manufacture and distribution
Petrochemical Company Limited M AE#250,000,0007C of chemicals
BHE(EBmY) AL ERAR] RERDHICIER
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42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42.
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

FLAFERMBLFFER )

Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid Effective equity
registration share capital/ interest held
and operation registered capital by the Group
Name of subsidiary S,/ BRTRAR AEEEEZ Principal activities
WEARER BRREXMY B/ EfER BnRE TEXHK
2008 2007
ZEIN\FE “ETtE
% %
Kingboard Copper Foil Holdings Bermuda* US$72,250,000 47.60+ 46.47+  Investment holding
Limited @ BRE* 72,250,000%7C RERR
Kingboard Investments Limited Hong Kong* HK$8,000 100 100 Investment holding
BERARRAT BA 8,000/ RERR
Kingboard Laminates Holdings Cayman Islands * HK$300,000,000 14.77 7477 Investment holding
Limited & FREHE* 300,000,000 7T RERR
BERERERERAR ¢
Kingboard Laminates (Jiangmen) PRC! HK$189,491,052 4.1 7477 Manufacture and distribution
Co., Ltd. g ! 189,491,052/ 75 of laminates
IFEERERERAR RERDHEEARR
Kingboard (Jiangsu) PRC! US$28,000,000 74.77 7477 Manufacture and distribution
Chemical Co., Ltd. M 28,000,000% ¢ of chemicals
BE(IH N IERAR BERA I IER
Kingboard Laminates (Kunshan) PRC! US$32,010,000 74.77 7477  Manufacture and distribution
Co., Ltd. e ! 32,010,000% T of laminates
BERER(EIL)ERAHF BER 7 HERER
Kingboard Laminates (Shaoguan) PRC" RMB?7,490,000 14.77 7477 Manufacture and distribution
Co. Ltd. g ARHE7,490,0007 of laminates

RERER(RE)ERAR
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42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42. ZEATRIEEMEATFRE =)
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid Effective equity
registration share capital/ interest held
and operation registered capital by the Group
Name of subsidiary By BRTRAR AEEEEZ Principal activities
HEBARER BIREXMY B/ EfER ERRE TEEH
2008 2007
ZEIN\F _TTHE
% %
Kunshan Yattao Chemical Co., Ltd. PRC! US$12,500,000 74.77 7477 Manufacture and distribution
EIRECIARAR e 12,500,000%7C of laminates
BER A HERER
Techwise Circuits Company Limited Hong Kong * HK$4,000,000 90 90  Investment holding
HERBBRAR NN 4,000,000/ RERR
Techwise Shirai (Fogang) Circuits PRC! HK$150,000,000 63 63  Manufacture and distribution
Limited e ! 150,000,00077C of PCBs
HEBH(BR)ERERAF BUER 7 HENRIS5E R
Express Electronics (Suzhou) PRC 1S$20,200,000 75 - Manufacture and distribution
Company Limited R | 20,200,000 70 of PCBs
AEET(EM)ERAR BUE R SHENRISR5E 1R
Elec & Eltek International Bermuda/ HK$ 122,467,240 100 100 Investment holding
Holdings Limited Hong Kong 122,467,240 REARR
KNz ERREERRAF BRE/EA
Elec & Eltek Display Technology PRC? US$14,700,000 98 98  Manufacture and distribution
(Guangzhou) Company Limited FE 2 14,700,000% T of LCDs
kMZE (BN ErEER A RERD HRABETR
Avatex (Guangzhou) Communication PRC?2 US$5,400,000 89.67 89.67  Manufacture of magnetic
Company Limited i 2 5,400,000E 7T products
FER(EM)BAERAR SETEER
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42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42. ZEATRIEEMEATFRE =)

OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid Effective equity
registration share capital/ interest held
and operation registered capital by the Group
Name of subsidiary By BRTRAR AEEEEZ Principal activities
HEBARER BIREXMY B/ EfER ERRE TEEH
2008 2007
ZEIN\F _TTHE
% %
Elec & Eltek International Singapore * 1US$98,656,000°3 71.55 7077 Investment holding
Company Limited @ HTns ¢ 98,656,000 ° REER
KHRESERRAR e
Kai Ping Elec & Eltek PRC? US$27,850,000 67.97 67.23  Manufacture and
Company Limited i 2 27,850,000% ¢ distribution of PCBs
RATKFZESFERAR BUER 7 HENRIS5E R
Kaiping Elec & Eltek No.2 PRC? US$21,670,000 67.97 6723  Manufacture and
Company Limited FE] 2 21,670,000 70 distrioution of PCBs
ATRNZEEFE_ARAA BUE R SHENRI R38R
Kaiping Elec & Eltek No.3 PRC?2 US$86,960,000 67.97 6723  Manufacture and
Company Limited e 2 86,960,000% T distribution of PCBs
AT RHZEEFE=ERAA BUE R 7 SHENRI 58 1R
Kaiping Elec & Eltek No.5 PRC? US$30,075,100 67.97 67.23  Manufacture and
Company Limited mE 2 30,075,100% T distribution of PCBs
RATKFZEEFENERAA BUER 7 HENRISEE R
Elec & Eltek (Guangzhou) PRC2 US$70,596,000 70.12 69.35  Manufacture and
Electronic Company Limited e 70,596,000 7T distribution of PCBs

fEHRE(RM ETARAF

BEER D HEIRIHR
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42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42. ZEATRIEEMEATFRE =)
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid Effective equity
registration share capital/ interest held
and operation registered capital by the Group
Name of subsidiary By BRTRAR AEEEEZ Principal activities
WEARER BIREXMY B/ EfER ERRE TEEH
2008 2007
ZEIN\F _TTHE
% %
Guangzhou Elec & Eltek Microvia PRC?2 US$24,800,000 70.12 69.35  Manufacture and distribution
Technology Limited R 2 24,800,000 7T of PCBs
BMEANZE RN R AR AR BUE R 7 SHENRI 58 1R
Guangzhou Elec & Eltek High PRC? US$25,000,000 70.12 69.35  Manufacture and distribution
Density Interconnect Technology mE 2 25,000,000% ¢ of PCBs
No. 1 Company Limited BUER 7 HENRISEE R
BMGKRREREEENRE—
BRAR
Elec & Eltek (Thailand) Limited Thailand Baht780,000,000 71.55 70.77  Manufacture and distribution
R 780,000,000% ¢k of PCBs
BUER 7 HENRISEE R
Pacific Insulating Material Thailand Baht650,000,000 71.55 70.77  Manufacture and distribution
(Thalland) Limited R 650,000,000%5% of PCB raw materials
BUE R SHENRISR58 TR
RiTH
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42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42.

OF THE COMPANY (continued)

FLAFERMBLFFER )

Place of
incorporation/ Effective equity
registration interest held
and operation registered capital by the Group
Name of subsidiary R A rEEEEL Principal activities
WEARER BRRERDE ERRE TEXEK
2008 2007
ZEIN\F _TTHE
% %
Shenzhen Pacific Insulating PRC? 66.90 66.17  Manufacture and distribution
Material Co., Ltd. i 2 ARE67,491,4587TC of PCB raw materials
AT RGN RERA T BUE R 7 SHENRI 58 1R
R
Kaiping Pacific Insulating Material PRC! 71.55 70.77  Manufacture and distribution
Company Limited HIE of high-end PCB raw

RTATEBEHHARAR

Limited. The Company’s equity interest in all other subsidiaries is

held indirectly through Jamplan (BVI) Limited.

# These are investment holding companies which have no specific

principal place of operations.

+ These companies are non-wholly owned subsidiaries of

Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited.

@ These companies are listed on The Singapore Exchange

Securities Trading Limited.

A This company is listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange

of Hong Kong Limited.

1 These companies are established in the PRC in the form of

Wholly Foreign—owned Enterprises.

2 These companies are established in the PRC in the form of Sino—

Foreign Equity Joint Ventures.

8 Included treasury shares of US$1,356,000.

The Company directly holds the equity interest in Jamplan (BVI)

materials
BER A e mEIRIZER
RIH

ANRA BB ER A Jamplan (BVI) Limited 2 B « KA AR
Firg £t B BB 2 B 2 R AEYS i B Jamplan (BVI) Limited
BERA -

I ERREERAR - WERREZ F B EME
HEARAREREIRIERER AR ZIELEREN B
AT o

I ER AR ERR SEAR AT L o
HARIREBHARIABER AR ER LT

I ERRTIAINEBE CEHAERBKL -

WERARTIARIIE B ERETAERBKIL

BIEETFRG1,356,0005 7T °
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42,

43.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42.
OF THE COMPANY (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company,
principally affected the results or assets of the Group.

To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion

of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of
excessive length.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
the end of the year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 43.
The Group entered into the following significant
transactions with related parties during the year:

FLAFERMBLFFER )

ERFIARAREERREIZZERE
BRENEEZARRBINBLRR - KRR
EEARIEEMMBRARZHIBEEEN
TR °

B R BINFLER T EETEMER

BFREALRS
AEBEGEBEBALTEFRETZIEARAR
S0

2008 2007
—EENE T F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THT FAT
Sales of goods to a minority shareholder A — BB A & 2
of a subsidiary DERRIHEE M 477,381 556,420
Purchase of goods from a minority m—EfB AR Z
shareholder of a subsidiary DEHIRREE R 81,958 123,218
Drilling service provided by —ENE AR ZE
a minority shareholder of a subsidiary RE R IR LIRS 18,148 27,008
Purchase of goods from an associate A — B4 A RIEE & S 417,809 450,296
Sales of goods to an associate m—EEE A RHES M - 66,412

Included in trade and other receivables and prepayments
at 31 December 2008 was an amount due from a
minority shareholder of a subsidiary of approximately
HK$104,804,000 (2007: HK$155,408,000). The Group
allowed credit periods of up to 120 days, depending on
the product sold, to its related parties.
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43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 43. FRAEAEEZZ 2
(continued)
Included in trade and other payables at 31 December NZEENF+=—_B=1+—"H BSKH
2008 was an amount due to an associate of b £F R SR B2 4 P AN — R BeR RIRRIBL A
approximately HK$11,595,000 (2007: Nil). The related 11,595,000 T( =T +F : 8F) - F
party offers credit periods of up to 120 days to the Group. FEALTRAEERH 2 EEHREA120
E| o
Compensation of key management personnel TEEEBEASHE
The remuneration of directors and other members of key FR EBEEREMFEEEAB ZHENM
management during the year was as follows: T
2008 2007
—EEN\FE ZETF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TH#T FAT
Short-term benefits 40 HRAE A 157,666 209,851
Post-employment benefits RIKBRET 1,838 1,735
Share-based payments PARZAD FE A 3R 1,468 2,776
160,972 214,362
The remuneration of directors and key executives is EERFETBRAEZHELTNEES
determined by the remuneration committee having regard ZRERNE IR RMISBAIEETE

to the performance of individuals and market trends.
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Financial Summary

B E

RESULTS ¥i#&
Year ended 31 December
HE+_RA=1t—HLEE
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
—TTPE  ZTTRFE  ZTTNF  ZTTHE  ZEBNE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK'000 HK$'000
THL THT THT TET TERT
Revenue ¥R 7,082,390 13,098,354 16,773,348 20,025,112 23,681,401
Profit before taxation BEADE A 1,257,497 1,788,802 7,596,154 3,717,184 2,325,502
Income tax expense PSR (61,184) (139,970) (240,435) (245,030) (194,231)
Profit for the year REERT 1,196,313 1,648,832 7,355,719 3,472,154 2,131,271
Attributable to: EfR1n%E :
Equity holders of AQNrER
the Company BAA 1,103,845 1,435,809 7,068,015 2,778,321 1,705,850
Minority interests DYRR R 92,468 213,023 287,704 693,833 425,421
1,196,313 1,648,832 7,355,719 3,472,154 2,131,271
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES FER& &
At 31 December
B+=B=+—H
2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
“TIWE  —TERFE  —TERF  —TTtF  ZEENE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK'000 HK$°000
THT THL THT THL Ti#n
Total assets BERE 16,489,146 19,360,822 28,121,051 34,941,986 38,241,465
Total liabilities BEEE (9,345,642)  (9,714,079)  (9,108,130) (12,715,190) (14,624,264)
7,143,504 9,646,743 19,012,921 22,226,796 23,617,201
Equity attributable to equity ARFREFAA
holders of the Company [E(hER 5,505,064 8,232,167 15,958,925 18,277,703 = 19,354,046
Equity component of share —fRNBRAREE
option reserve of BB EE
a subsidiary - 3,047 9,764 12,862 13,715
Minority interests DERER R 1,638,440 1,411,529 3,044,232 3,936,231 4,249,440
7,143,504 0,646,743 19,012,921 22,226,796 23,617,201
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Tel &5  (852) 26056493 Fax EE : (852) 2691 5245

E-mail £ : enquiry@kingboard.com  Web site #811k : http://www.kingboard.com
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